The Right for Aging: Investigating the Interrelations between Negative Aging Stereotypes, Perception of Aging, Older Adults' Cognitive Performance and Impacts of Cognitive and Exercise Interventions

Anne Julien

A Thesis in The Department of Psychology

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Psychology) at Concordia University Montréal, Québec, Canada

February 2023

© Anne Julien, 2023

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Anne Julien

Entitled: The Right for Aging: Investigating the Interrelations between Negative Aging Ster

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor Of Philosophy Psychology

complies with the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final examining committee:

		Chair
	Dr. Andrew Ryder	
		Thesis Supervisor
	Dr. Louis Bherer	
		Thesis Supervisor
	Dr.	
		Thesis Supervisor
	Dr.	
		Examiner
	Chi Karen Li	
	Dr. Natalie Phillips	Examiner
		Examiner
	Dr. Andrew Ryder	Examiner
	-	Examiner
	Dr.	
		External Examiner
	Dr. Isabelle Plante	
Approved by		
Approved by	Dr.	, Graduate Program Director
«Date»		
	Dr.	, Dean

Abstract of the Thesis

The Right for Aging: Investigating the Interrelations between Negative Aging Stereotypes, Perception of Aging, Older Adult's Cognitive Performance and impacts of cognitive and exercise interventions

Anne Julien, for the Doctor in Philosophy (Psychology), Concordia University, 2023.

While research on patterns of cognitive decrements in later life has focused on biological processes, psychosocial processes, such as negative aging stereotypes (NAS), an individual's learned beliefs about the characteristics or attributes of older adults as a group, and self-perception of aging (SPA), the cognitive evaluation of oneself relative to aging, have also been associated with poorer cognitive performance, decreased well-being, and disengagement from healthy behaviours. For example, it is suggested that NAS is negatively related to verbal memory performance in older adults, although little is known about its potential relationship with other cognitive domains. Furthermore, usual methodologies do not align with clinical procedures, creating a gap between research and clinical settings. Additionally, the literature supports satisfaction with aging as a central aspect of subjective well-being in older age but remains understudied despite evidence of internalized ageism among older adults. Importantly, evidence concerning ways to improve NAS and SPA in older adults is lacking. This is problematic, given that psychological processes may be particularly amenable to interventions.

The first manuscript of this thesis explores the relationship between NAS and SPA, and older adults' cognitive performance. More specifically, we measured explicit and implicit NAS and SPA in older adults. We assessed their verbal and visuospatial memory, working memory and processing speed using a clinical framework. Results showed that higher explicit NAS negatively correlated with verbal and visuospatial memory and processing speed. Explicit NAS predicted processing speed and visuospatial memory, while implicit NAS predicted verbal memory.

The second manuscript investigated the effect of aerobic, gross motor abilities, or cognitive training on changing NAS and SPA. Results suggested that a 3-month regimen of either training type led to improvements in SPA independently of better fitness and cognition. On the other hand, NAS remained stable.

Despite best clinical practice, older adults come into the assessment room with beliefs that may adversely related with their cognitive performance beyond verbal memory. However, SPA can be improved through various types of training, which could reach a broader range of older adults with multiple interests and initial abilities.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Louis Bherer, who believed in me when I applied to the Ph.D. in 2012 and invited me to join the team of LESCA laboratory.

I would like to especially thank Dr. Stephane Dandeneau for introducing me to the research world at UQAM, to have helped me to elaborate on my Ph.D. project, and all the friendly evenings with his laboratory. I would also like to thank my master's committee member, Dr. Virginia Penhune, for her invaluable input and support throughout the master's years.

I want to thank my mother, Carole Julien, for her endless support in my academic career, including my master's in Conservatoire de Musique de Montréal and my Ph.D. in psychology. I want to thank my husband, Marc Antoine Lemay, particularly for his moral support and help through the years, which allowed me to complete my program. Finally, I want to thank my son, Mikaël, for reminding me daily what I value the most behind my choices to complete such studies.

Authors' Contributions

AJ completed the literature review and elaborated the project design in collaboration with LB, KP and SD. AJ was involved in participants' recruitment and initial interviews, cognitive testing, and questionnaire administration. AJ scored and entered all cognitive data and questionnaires. AJ conducted all statistical analysis and consulted with NK and LB for data analysis and interpretation. AJ wrote the manuscript. KP, NK, SD and LB reviewed the article "Investigating the Effects of Negative Age Stereotypes on Older Adults' Cognitive Performance." The same authors and NB reviewed the article "Exercising your Perception of Aging: Effects of Physical and Cognitive Training on Older Adults' perception of their Own Aging." LB reviewed the General Introduction and Final Discussions sections.

Table of Contents

Abstract of the Thesis	iii
Acknowledgments	I
Authors' Contributions	II
Chapter 1	
General Introduction	1
Theories Behind Ageism and NAS Internalization	1
The Stereotype embodiment theory (Levy, 2009): How NAS makes its way to self- perception	2
How do NAS and SPA Impact Cognitive Performance?	3
Intervention: Changing Older Adults' NAS and SPA	4
Psychoeducation and intergenerational contact intervention	4
Is increasing active aging to challenge NAS and SPA a win-win intervention?	5
Rationale and Objectives of the Studies	6
Study one: Investigating the effects of negative age stereotypes on older adults' cognit performance (Julien, A., Kaushal, N., Pothier, K., Dandeneau, S., and Bherer, L.)	tive 6
Study two: Exercising your perception of aging: effects of physical and cognitive train on older adults' perception of their own aging (Julien, A, Kaushal, N., Pothier, K., Dandeneau, S., Berryman, N., and Bherer, L.).	1111 1111 1111 1111 11111 111111111111
References	7
Chapter 2	
Abstract	22
Public Significance Statement	22
Investigating the Effects of Negative Age Stereotypes on Older Adult's Cognitive	
Performance	. 23
Method	. 26
Study Design and Participants	. 26
Measures	. 28
Measures of negative aging stereotypes (NAS) and self-perception of aging	. 29
The fraboni scale of ageism (FSA; Fraboni et al., 1990)	. 29
Implicit association test-ageism (IAT; Greenwald, McGhee, & Schwartz, 1998)	. 29
Attitudes toward own aging (ATOA); Subscale of the Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale (Lawton, 1975)	30
Measures of self-perception in cognitive performance	30

Cognitive measures.	30
Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005):	31
Mini-mental state examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975):	31
The brief visuospatial memory test-revised (BVMT-R; Benedict et al., 1996)	31
Selected subtests Wechsler adult intelligence scale fourth edition (WAIS-IV) W et al., 2008	'echsler 32
Transparency and Openness	32
Statistical Methods	32
Results	33
Hypothesis testing	33
Correlations	33
Regressions.	33
Discussion	40
Conclusion	43
Reference	44
Chapter 3	
Abstract	58
Public Significance Statement	58
Exercising your Perception of Aging: Effects of Physical and Cognitive Training on Adults' Perception of their Own Aging	Older 59
Interventions Promoting Better Views of Aging	60
Exercise, implicit priming and psychological interventions combined.	60
Physical interventions only	60
Cognitive training.	61
Method	61
Participants	61
Measures	62
Screening protocol.	62
Mini-mental examination test (MMSE; Folstein, Folstein & McHugh, 1975)	62
Selected subtests of the Wechsler adult intelligence scale fourth Edition (WAIS (Wechsler et al., 2008).	-IV) 62
The Geriatric depression scale (GDS) (Yesavage et al., 1983).	63
Primary outcomes.	63
The fraboni scale of ageism (FSA); Fraboni et al., 1990).	63
Implicit association test-ageism (IAT; Greenwald et al., 1998).	63

Attitudes toward own aging (ATOA, subscale of the Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale, Lawton, 1975)	64
Measures of self-perception in cognitive or physical performance.	64
Secondary outcomes.	65
Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA)(Nasreddine et al., 2005)	65
The brief visuospatial memory test-revised (BVMT-R; Benedict et al., 1996)	65
Cardiorespiratory fitness (V02Peak).	65
Energy cost of walking (ECW)	65
Procedure	66
Interventions	66
Gross motor abilities intervention	66
Aerobic intervention.	66
Cognitive intervention.	67
The Dual-Task paradigm (Lussier et al., 2020)	67
The Stroop task	67
The n-back task	67
Randomization Process	67
The Sample of Participants Analyzed	68
Transparency and Openness	68
Statistical Analysis	68
Results	68
Baseline Data	68
Intervention Effects on the NAS Outcomes	70
Repeated measures analysis of variance.	70
Correlations and regressions	70
Discussion	712
Conclusion	74
Reference	75
Chapter 4	
Integrated Discussion	94
Summary of the Two Research Projects	94
Investigating the Effects of Negative Aging Stereotypes on Older Adults' Cognitive Performance: Methodology, Results, and Future Directions	94
Stereotype threat interventions.	96
The reconstrual intervention.	96

Coping interventions	96
The creation of identity-safe environments	97
Recommendations	97
Exercising your Perception of Aging: Methodology, Results, and Futures Directions	97
Psychological intervention in older age	98
Interventions for improving SPA	98
Limitation	99
Conclusion	100
Reference	100
Supplementary material	114

General Introduction

From the very first moment we live, we are aging. This process is interpreted as growth in earlier developmental stages and elicits praise. However, it comes a day when aging begins to carry a different social meaning of falling back or breaking down (Lindland et al., 2015). Indeed, aging is not only a senescence process but is also embedded in a social context and shaped by social factors (Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018). Older adults face negative aging stereotypes (NAS), which can impact the perception of themselves and their daily functioning. Stereotypes refer to the generalization of characteristics to an entire group while neglecting the heterogeneity of the targeted group. These assumptions and beliefs ignore the multiple and unique courses of the aging process, leading older adults to be treated stereotypically and even colour their expectations about aging. At the root of ageism, NAS fuels power imbalance and discrimination.

As the population of adults aged 60 years and older is growing rapidly, doubling from 1980 and projected to represent around 22% of the worldwide population in 2050 (World Health Organization, 2015), understanding ageism has become a pressing social issue (Levy & Macdonald, 2016). Robert Butler, a pioneer in aging research, was the first to define ageism as "prejudice by one age group against another age group" (Butler, 1969, p. 243). He also suggested that ageism was linked to youth's revulsion for growing old, disease, disability, and fear of powerlessness, uselessness, and death. Butler (1980) had worked to bring scholars' attention to ageism, a work that was pursued by Nelson (2005) when he called upon the field to make more progress in understanding ageism. In the past 20 years, more scholars in multiple countries have documented forms of ageism in their respective countries, and research has expanded significantly (Levy & Macdonald, 2016). In 2016, the World Health Organization was mandated to fight ageism, given the increasingly convincing evidence that ageism is harmful at the individual and societal levels. Ageism has been shown to affect older individuals' well-being, social life, quality of life, health and mental health services received, sexuality, and survival. At the societal level, it has been shown to create division between generations and establish power imbalance, decrementing older adults and preventing them from living their full potential (Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018). It is also estimated to cost up to 63 billion dollars to American society, increasing the prevalence of health conditions such as cardiovascular diseases, chronic respiratory diseases, musculoskeletal disorders and mental disorders (Levy et al., 2020). Unfortunately, ageism is the most condoned and well-institutionalized form of "-ism" and is generally accepted (Angus & Reeve, 2006; Hagestad & Uhlenberg, 2006).

Theories Behind Ageism and NAS Internalization

Ayalon and Tesch-Römer (2018) have suggested three levels of ageism: the macro-level, which relates to societal and cultural values (e.g., political regulations), the meso-level, which focuses on groups, organizations, and social entities (e.g., the domain of education or work), and the micro-level, which focuses on the individual's thoughts, emotions, and behaviours. Only the micro-level will be discussed in this thesis (see Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018, chapter 1, pp. 6-8) for the meso- and macro-level.

Different theoretical approaches from social psychology could explain the occurrence of ageism (Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018). According to the *Terror Management Theory*, older adults are considered a constant reminder of one's finitude, mortality, or vulnerability. Individuals manage the anxiety induced by older adults' presence by sustaining beliefs in cultural worldviews offering literal or symbolic immortality. Individuals adhere to these cultural

worldviews and attempt to increase their self-esteem, providing a buffer against death-related anxiety. This allows the person to maintain relative calmness and serenity despite awareness of their vulnerability and mortality (Greenberg et al., 1986; Greenberg et al., 1997). The *Stereotype Content Model* proposes that people are classified based on levels of warmth and competence. In the case of older adults, individuals are commonly seen as being warm and incompetent, which leads to feelings of pity and sympathy towards them (Cuddy & Fiske, 2002; Fiske et al., 2002). In the *Social Identity Theory*, individuals act as reference group members, which goes beyond behaving based on their characteristics or interpersonal relationships. In this perspective, group membership is at the root of the individual identity composing this group and determines the individual's relationships with members of other groups (Tajfel & Turner, 1979). To achieve a positive self-identity *Theory* may explain ageism since age may be used as a characteristic to label groups (Lev et al., 2018).

In these three theories, the concept of learned associations (old and death, old and warmth, and old as a group) develops through time. This is coherent with the human development tradition in psychological research that emphasizes changes over time, suggesting that ageism originates in childhood, and its outcomes may change over the life course (Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018). The *Social Developmental Perspective* proposes that perceptual, affective, and sociocultural mechanisms are responsible for the development of ageism throughout the life course, and age-based classification is believed to be universal (Montepare & Zebrowitz, 2002).

The Stereotype embodiment theory (Levy, 2009): How NAS makes its way to selfperception. The two articles of this thesis used the *Stereotype Embodiment Theory* (Levy, 2009) as background theory. This theory stipulates that NAS is internalized at a young age and undergoes reinforcement in one's lifetime through the observations of the way older adults are treated in one's social culture. NAS is believed to operate unconsciously, gain salience from selfrelevance, and use physiological, behavioural, and psychological pathways (Levy, 2009). Lifetime exposure to NAS leads to the internalization of ageism and has been shown to damage self-perception of aging (Kotter-Grühn & Hess, 2012). Self-perception of aging (SPA) translates the degree of satisfaction with one's aging and reflects adaptation to age-related changes (Levy, 2009). In the Stereotype Embodiment Theory, Levy (2009) proposes that SPA is a "manifestation of internalized age stereotypes" (Sargent-Cox et al., 2013), as NAS is assimilated and included as an accurate representation of one's identity (Levy, 1996), and proven stronger than actual experiences (Levy, 2003a). Indeed, stereotypes learned in youth create expectations about the future, which may develop into a self-fulfilling prophecy (Bennett & Gaines, 2010; Levy & Leifheit-Limson, 2009). When a person identifies as an older adult, stereotypes can function as a motivational incentive for behaviour (Hoppmann et al., 2007) or as a reference standard to evaluate actual experiences (Freund & Baltes, 2007). It appears that declining aging trajectories also reach a certain consensus cross-culturally. College students across 26 cultures reported perceptions of age-related decline in physical, cognitive, and socioemotional areas of functioning. This included a perceived decline in societal views of aging, physical attractiveness, the ability to perform everyday tasks, and new learning (Löckenhoff et al., 2009).

Longitudinal studies have shown that NAS and negative self-views of aging among older adults were related to poor health, low well-being, and shorter survival times (Levy et al., 2012; Marchiondo et al., 2017; Sargent-Cox et al., 2013; Wurm & Benyamini, 2014; Wurm et al.

2010), decrements in cardiovascular health (Levy et al., 2009), detrimental brain changes such as the accumulation of plaques and tangles, and reduction in the size of the hippocampus (Levy et al., 2016) and exacerbated stress overtime (Levy & Bavishi, 2018; Levy et al., 2016).

How do NAS and SPA Impact Cognitive Performance?

In the context of aging, it was experimentally demonstrated that NAS and more negative SPA would adversely affect the cognitive performance of older adults (Barber et al., 2015; Haslam et al., 2012; Horton et al., 2008; Mazerolle et al., 2016). Research has focused on how negative beliefs about one's membership operate from self-concept to behaviour. Stereotype threat is believed to be a process by which NAS works (Steele & Aronson, 1995). Stereotype threat describes a situation in which there is a negative stereotype about one's group. This person is concerned about being judged and treated negatively according to this stereotype (Spencer et al., 2016) or that poor performance on their part will confirm a negative, self-relevant stereotype (Steele, 2010; Steele & Aronson, 1995; Steele & Aronson, 1997). In response to this threat, people tend to underperform compared to their potential, thereby conforming to the stereotype. This was first illustrated by Steele and Aronson (1995). They demonstrated how African American students performed below their potential on the Scholastic Aptitude Test when stereotypes about their intellectual abilities were emphasized. They found that those not exposed to the threat performed at the same level as the Caucasian students. Subsequently, stereotype threat effects have been studied across various stereotyped social groups, including women, gay men, individuals from low socioeconomic status, and older adults (ed. Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018).

Steele and his colleagues theorized that targets of the threat might often be unaware of the source of the threat (Steele, 2010; Steele, 1997; Steele CM et al., 2002a). In other words, a threat may arise from any situational cue indicating that one is at risk of being judged based on negative stereotypes about their social identity. People tend to be sensitive to signals that their identities may be devalued in each situation (Purdie-Vaughns et al., 2008; Wout et al., 2009), suggesting that cues do not necessarily need to be blatant to trigger stereotype threats (McGlone et al., 2006). It appears that one's group identity, a social context where the stigma is present and self-relevant, and a setting in which a stereotype could be confirmed are enough to pose a risk to the individual's performance (Steele & Aronson, 1995).

In the context of aging, going through a cognitive assessment offers a favourable setting to trigger a threat. A meta-analysis by Lamont et al. (2015) has shown that NAS consistently impairs older persons' performance across various domains such as physical, skill acquisition, driving, cognitive, and memory (d=0.28). More recently, a meta-analysis by Armstrong et al. (2017) reported that stereotypes impact different forms of memory, such as episodic and working memory. The authors were interested in potential moderators of age-based stereotypes, some including types of stereotype manipulation (blatant or subtle). They found that the effect of the age-based stereotype on episodic memory tasks was only significant when blatant manipulations were used. However, subtle manipulations were enough to impact working memory tasks negatively. These findings align with McGlone et al. (2006). They provided evidence that blatant and subtle cues were harmful to performance, although probably through separate mechanisms and simultaneous detrimental effects on performance (Stone & McWhinnie, 2008). In the case of Lamont et al. (2015), the authors categorized NAS into fact-based and stereotypes-based influences. Fact-based seems closer to Armstrong et al. (2017) blatant activation, as it refers to the explicit presentation of factual statements of age-based differences that affect participants'

expectations about performance. For example, a methodology using fact-based manipulation could have a researcher clearly state to older participants that research has reliably shown that memory declines with age.

Stereotype-based manipulation is closer to Armstrong et al. (2017) subtle manipulation. Here, societal stereotype statements are used to decrement one's performance due to more significant ambiguity and uncertainty about applying the NAS to the individual. Participants may get the information that a decline in memory performance in aging is widely assumed in society, or even more subtle, informing an older participant that a younger one is currently completing the same task. Lamont et al. (2015) concluded that regardless of the degree of subtlety, stereotype-based threats produced significantly greater performance decrements than fact-based manipulation. This occurred probably by increasing distracting thoughts that potentially interfered with working memory (Hirsh et al., 2012) and depleted cognitive resources involved in the task (Schmader et al., 2008). However, Hess et al. (2003) reported that neutral priming could negatively impact cognitive performance. This study's older participants were primed with negative, positive, and neutral priming methods before a cognitive test session. Confirming the authors' hypothesis, participants negatively primed showed a decrease in their cognitive abilities in the following word memorization test. Interestingly, neutrally primed individuals also exhibited a more minor but negative effect on their cognitive skills. Hess et al. (2003) suggested the possibility of a threat being operative even without explicit exposure to NAS.

This is coherent with earlier work supporting that instructing participants on stereotypes and manipulating stereotypes is often superfluous to capture a threat in the laboratory (Spencer et al., 1999; Steele & Aronson, 1995). Spencer et al. (2016) mentioned that simply sitting down to undergo a test in a negatively stereotyped domain is enough to trigger a threat, given that the examinee is at risk of confirming the stereotype through poor performance. Especially in the case of aging, cognitive assessment appears to represent a real-world setting requiring no special instructions to trigger a threat since it is commonly vehiculated that older adults decline in their cognitive abilities with the aging process. Under normal testing circumstances, and more so in older adults who value their cognitive abilities, individuals risk seeing their performance impeded.

Mental health professionals assessing older adults' cognition must consider mood, sleep, stress, or motivation as potential factors impacting a patient's performance. These variables contextualize a given performance and offer a better understanding of a patient's cognitive functioning; thus, suitable patient care recommendations can be made. Given the accumulated data supporting that NAS and SPA impact older people's cognitive performance, it could be relevant to include these variables in the neuropsychological battery.

Intervention: Changing Older Adults' NAS and SPA

Psychoeducation and intergenerational contact intervention. These interventions provided promising results in reducing NAS and changing how older adults perceive themselves. The contact hypothesis (Tausch & Hewstone, 2010) promotes social interactions between the stigmatized group and the other groups believing the stereotypes. This intervention has been shown to change the negative attitudes and prejudices toward members of the stigmatized group through decreased anxiety and increased empathy and knowledge regarding this group (Kotter-Grühn, 2015) and more positive changes in attitudes and NAS for older adults. The benefits

appear optimized when used concomitantly with education about aging stereotypes (see Burnes et al., 2019, for a systematic review and meta-analysis).

However, changing views of aging not only involves learning reliable information about developmental aging. Change is not just about "knowing" but also involves "processing" the information. It involves not only being "told" about the inaccuracy of a stereotype but "experiencing" its inexactness through a situation favourable to learning and growth. In the line of aiming at giving back control to older adults and helping this population to crosscheck their assumptions about what they can or cannot do, there is a need to develop interventions that can be accessible at low cost and committed to, with autonomy. What is suggested is not going against what has already been supported in the literature: the benefits of intergenerational contact and psychoeducation. Still, it is meant to supplement or give alternatives to those not having the possibility to access these services, which puts older adults back in a place of depending on others for their health. If being physically active is associated with lower negative affect and stress and better SPA, and if cognitive training was linked to improved perception of daily cognitive performance, these interventions could potentially address the processes of maintaining NAS and lower SPA.

Is increasing active aging to challenge NAS and SPA a win-win intervention? Having older adults engage in physical activity is one of the significant challenges in our contemporary societies (Forberger et al., 2017), and NAS has been identified to interfere significantly with older people's commitment to exercising. Satisfaction levels with one's aging tend to decrease throughout life, coinciding with less attention to the individual's health care (Kim et al., 2014; Levy & Myers, 2004; Wurm et al., 2010; review Dionegi, 2015). Accordingly, developing interventions to fight ageism, decrease NAS and promote positive SPA is increasingly viewed as a critical component of healthy aging (WHO, 2015). Despite evidence of the benefits of NAS reduction and SPA improvements on health, obstacles remain to older adults' commitment to healthy behaviours.

A major misconception about older adults' development is that age-related changes are beyond the individual's control. However, decades of research have shown how lifestyle factors and behaviours account for more variance in health-related and psychological outcomes than genetics (Diehl et al., 2020). Despite this, older adults progress into this developmental stage with poorer health, lower well-being, and shorter survival times (Levy et al., 2014; Wurm et al., 2010), believing that there is nothing they can do to age more positively. This is not to recall the Stereotype Embodiment Theory (Levy, 2009) and consequent self-fulfilling prophecy, the longlasting belief of age-related physical vulnerabilities associated with premature cessation of physical activity for "prevention" purposes. However, a lower rate of exercising in aging is associated with cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome, cancer, musculoskeletal diseases, mental disorders, and even all-cause mortality (Gennuso et al., 2015; Gorman et al., 2014; de Rezende et al., 2014), reinforcing the initial stereotype of old-frail.

Being physically active, adhering to a healthy diet, and engaging in cognitively stimulating activities are within individuals' control and have been shown to be critical for optimizing chances of healthy cognitive and physical aging (Hertzog et al., 2009). Research is still at its premises to investigate the association between NAS, SPA, and physical activity. In a systematic review by Knight et al. (2021), seven studies included implicit priming or psychological interventions targeting SPA embedded in an exercise session. They generally found benefits for SPA improvement, lower depression levels (Beyer et al., 2019), increased perceived benefits and decreased risks of exercising (Emile et al., 2014), and increased time spent in physical activities (Brothers & Diehl, 2017). Klusmann et al. (2012) were the only ones to have conducted a study to explore the implicit impact of exercise as the sole intervention strategy. The authors found improved age satisfaction for older female adults who followed a six-month exercise intervention three times a week compared to a computer-course intervention program group and a passive non-intervention control group.

In recent years, few studies have investigated the potential benefits of cognitive training on SPA. Cognitive training in working memory, planning, and logic, was found to enhance the subjective perception of cognitive functioning and self-efficacy in daily life in healthy older adults (Goghari & Lawlor-Savage, 2018). These findings were coherent with reasoning training resulting in a less self-report functional decline in older adults (Willis et al., 2006). However, cognitive training is a controversial intervention to improve functioning in non-trained domains. For instance, Bures et al. (2016) found that cognitive training did not improve older adults' wellbeing compared to leisure activities. To our knowledge, no study has looked at how cognitive training could directly improve SPA and decrease NAS. As this type of training is becoming increasingly popular in the general population, it appears crucial to document its potential value as an intervention for older adults.

Rationale and Objectives of the Studies

Study one: Investigating the effects of negative age stereotypes on older adults' cognitive performance (Julien, A., Kaushal, N., Pothier, K., Dandeneau, S., and Bherer, L.). NAS activation in the laboratory using blatant or subtle primes is hypothesized as representing a natural environment that older people continually encounter in their interpersonal and institutional milieu. Older adults are believed to undergo everyday NAS primes, which are activated and reinforced, effectively exerting a lasting effect impacting older adults' health and behaviour (Levy, 2009; Levy et al., 2011). This hypothesis brings together stereotype embodiment and stereotype threat theories. However, the unethical nature of intentionally activating NAS in a cognitive assessment is not representative of a realistic clinical setting. Mental health workers know very well the importance of monitoring anxiety levels, regulating emotions and levels of motivation in their patients, and avoiding making comments triggering stress in the examinees.

Furthermore, a realistic clinical milieu also includes normed clinical measures rarely used in research settings, widening the gap between the two areas of activities. This represents a limitation preventing generalizing results from research to clinical settings, not to mention the underlying assumption that clinical measures would be protected from NAS effects. Furthermore, the field has focused primarily on the impact of NAS and verbal memory at the detriment of other forms of memory or cognitive domains, such as processing speed (Horton et al., 2008). Cognitive domains do not work in silos, and exploring a broader range of cognitive functions is necessary to strengthen this generalization from the assessment room to functioning.

The objectives of Study 1 were 1) To investigate the relationship between explicit NAS, implicit NAS, levels of SPA, and older adult's performance on neuropsychological tests employed in clinical settings and 2) to enrich the literature on the relationship of NAS and older adult's performance on visuospatial memory, working memory, and processing speed tasks while controlling for self-perceived competency and value of cognitive performance. The

hypotheses are 1) higher implicit/explicit NAS will negatively correlate with cognitive tests scores, whereas better SPA and better self-perceived competency of cognitive performance will correlate positively with cognitive tests scores; 2) Implicit/explicit NAS should predict cognitive tests scores, including negative effect sizes (1 standard deviation increase in NAS should be linked to a lower cognitive score) whereas SPA should predict cognitive scores with positive effect sizes; 3) Explicit and implicit NAS will explain variance in cognitive scores after controlling for demographic measures (age and education), cognitive abilities known as contributing to the cognitive score and self-relevance (self-perceived competency and the degree of which the individual values cognitive performance).

Study two: Exercising your perception of aging: effects of physical and cognitive training on older adults' perception of their own aging (Julien, A, Kaushal, N., Pothier, K., Dandeneau, S., Berryman, N., and Bherer, L.). Satisfaction with individuals' aging has been a core aspect of subjective well-being in older age (Lawton, 1975; Neugarten et al., 1961). However, developing interventions to reduce NAS and improve SPA received little attention in the scientific world (Kleinspehn-Ammerlahn et al., 2008), despite evidence of internalized ageism. Furthermore, many studies aimed at modifying subjective age, conceptualizing that feeling younger means better SPA. Still, only a few aimed to make older adults feel more positive about their age. Being old, feeling old, or looking old should not be the variables targeted by the interventions. Judging and expecting what you can do or not, with the premise that age defines one's possibilities, should be. Among all, interventions working at changing SPA should be sensitive, not perpetuating NAS: younger=good/older=bad.

Finally, studies that have explored situational variables and circumstances in which older people feel more positive about their age are often correlational. They do not allow for causal or directional conclusions (Kotter-Grühn, 2015). In sum, developing interventions to improve SPA requires more attention in the field of research and methodologies to draw firm conclusions about their effectiveness. Furthermore, investigating different types of training may be relevant for the implementation in the community, as various programs may align with individuals' interests and abilities.

The objectives of study 2 were 1) To study the impact of two types of physical training (gross motor abilities and fitness) and cognitive training on NAS endorsement and SPA and 2) To investigate if an increase in SPA covaries with improvement in cognition is attributed to physical and cognitive training. Hypotheses are that 1) SPA will improve and NAS endorsement will decrease among participants, and 2) SPA should improve as a function of better cognition or fitness.

This project aligns with a general movement for better aging for all. It is taking part in a rich literature that has aimed for decades at demonstrating to the community the ravaging effects of ageism on older adults' health and possibilities in society.

References

Angus, J., & Reeve, P. (2006). Ageism: A Threat to "Aging Well" in the 21st Century. Journal

of Applied Gerontology, 25(2), 137-152. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464805285745

- Armstrong, B., Gallant, S.N., Li, L., Patel, K., & Wong, B.I. (2017). Stereotype threat effects on older adult's episodic and working memory: A meta-analysis. *The Gerontologist.* 57 (suppl_2), S193-S205. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx170
- Ayalon, L., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2018). Contemporary perspectives on ageism. In J.L. Powell & S. Chen (Series Ed.), *International Perspectives on Aging: vol. 19. Introduction to the Section: Ageism-Concept and Origins* (pp. 1-8). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73820-8
- Barber, S. J., Mather, M., & Gatz, M. (2015). How stereotype threat affects healthy older adults' performance on clinical assessments of cognitive decline: The key role of regulatory fit. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 70, 891–900. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbv009.
- Bennett, T., & Gaines, J. (2010). Believing what you hear: The impact of aging stereotypes upon the old. *Educational Gerontology*, 36(5), 435– 445. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601270903212336
- Beyer, A.K., Wolff, J.K., Freiberger, E., & Wurm, S. (2019). Are self-perceptions of aging modifiable? Examination of an exercise program with vs. without a self-perceptions of aging-intervention for older adults. *Psychol Health*, 34(6):661-676. DOI: 10.1080/08870446.2018.1556273.
- Brothers, A., & Diehl, M. (2017). Feasibility and Efficacy of the Aging^{Plus} Program: Changing Views on Aging to Increase Physical Activity. *J Aging Phys Act.*, 25(3):402-411. DOI: 10.1123/japa.2016-0039.

- Bureš, V., Čech, P., Mikulecká, J., Ponce, D., & Kuca, K. (2016). The effect of cognitive training on the subjective perception of well-being in older adults. *PeerJ.* 21;4: e2785.
 DOI: 10.7717/peerj.2785.
- Burnes, D., Sheppard, C., Henderson, C.R., Jr, Wassel, M., Cope, R., Barber, C., & Pillemer, K. (2019). Interventions to reduce ageism against older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Public Health*, *109*(8): e1-e9. DOI: 10.2105/AJPH.2019.305123.

Butler, R. N. (1969). Age-ism: Another form of bigotry. The Gerontologist, 9(4), 243-246.

Butler, R. N. (1980). Ageism: A foreword. Journal of Social Issues, 36(2), 8-11.

- Cuddy, A. J., & Fiske, S. T. (2002). Doddering but dear: Process, content, and function in stereotyping of older persons. In T. Nelson (Ed.), *Ageism: Stereotyping and prejudice against older persons* (pp. 3–26). Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- de Rezende, L.F.M., Rey-Lopez, J.P., Matsudo, V.K.R., do Carmo Luiz, O. (2014). Sedentary behavior and health outcomes among older adults: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health 14*:333. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-333
- Diehl, M., Smyer, M. A., & Mehrotra, C. M. (2020). Optimizing aging: A call for a new narrative. *American Psychologist*, 75(4), 577–589. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000598
- Dionigi, R.A. (2015). Review article: Stereotypes of aging: Their effects on the health of older adults. Journal of geriatrics, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/954027

- Émile, M., Chalabaev, C., Pradier, C., Clément-Guillotin, C., Falzon, C., Colson, S.S., &
 d'Arripe-Longueville. (2014). Effect of supervised and individualized weekly walking on
 exercise stereotypes and quality of life in older sedentary females. *Science and sports, 29*(3), 156-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scispo.2013.01.008
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J., Glick, P., & Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: Competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 878–902.
- Forberger, S., Bammann, K., Bauer, J., Boll, S., Bolte, G., Brand, T., Hein, A., Koppelin, F., Lippke, S., Meyer, J., Pischke, C.R., Voelcker-Rehage, C., & Zeeb, H. (2017). How to tackle key challenges in the promotion of physical activity among older adults (65+): The AEQUIPA Network Approach. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 14, 379. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14040379
- Freund, A. M., & Baltes, P. B. (2007). Toward a theory of successful aging: Selection,
 optimization, and compensation. In R. Fernández-Ballesteros (Ed.), *Geropsychology: European perspectives for an aging world* (pp. 239–254). Hogrefe & Huber Publishers.
- Gennuso, K.P., Matthews, C.E., & Colbert, L.H. (2015). Reliability and validity of 2 self-report measures to assess sedentary behavior in older adults. *J Phys Act Health 12*:727–732.
 DOI:10.1123/jpah.2013-0546
- Goghari, V. M., & Lawlor-Savage, L. (2018). Self-perceived benefits of cognitive training in healthy older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 10, Article 112. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00112

- Gorman, E., Hanson, H.M., Yang, P.H., Khan, K.M., Liu-Ambrose, T., & Ashe, M.C. (2014).
 Accelerometry analysis of physical activity and sedentary behavior in older adults: a systematic review and data analysis. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act 11*:35–49.
 DOI:10.1007/s11556-013- 0132-x
- Greenberg, J., Pyszczynski, T., & Solomon, S. (1986). The causes and consequences of a need for self-esteem: A terror management theory. In R. Baumeister (Ed.), *Public self and private self* (pp. 189–212). New York: Springer.
- Greenberg, J., Solomon, S., & Pyszczynski, T. (1997). Terror management theory of self-esteem and cultural worldviews: Empirical assessments and conceptual refinements. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 29, 61–139.
- Hagestad, G.O., & Uhlenberg. (2006). The social separation of old and young: A root of ageism. *Journal of social issues*, *61* (2), 343-360. DOI: 10.1111/j.15404560.2005.00409.x
- Haslam, C., Morton, T. A., Haslam, S. A., Varnes, L., Graham, R., & Gamaz, L. (2012). "When the age is in, the wit is out": Age-related self-categorization and deficit expectations reduce performance on clinical tests used in dementia assessment. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 778–784. doi:10.1037/a0027754
- Hertzog, C., Kramer, A.F., Wilson, R.S., & Lindenberger, U. (2009). Enrichment effects on adult cognitive development: Can the functional capacity of older adults be preserved and enhanced? *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 9, 1–65.

- Hess, T.M., Auman, C., Colcombe, S.J., & Rahhal, T.A. (2003). The impact of stereotype threat on age differences in memory performance. *The Journal of Gerontology: Series B*, 58 (1), 3-11. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.1.P3
- Hirsh, J. B., Mar, R. A., & Peterson, J. B. (2012, January 16). Psychological entropy: A framework for understanding uncertainty-related anxiety. *Psychological Review*.
 Advance online publication. DOI: 10.1037/a0026767
- Hoppmann, C. A., Gerstorf, D., Smith, J., & Klumb, P. L. (2007). Linking possible selves and behavior: Do domain-specific hopes and fears translate into daily activities in very old age? *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(2), P104–P111. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/62.2.P104
- Horton, S., Baker, J., Pearce, G. W., & Deakin, J. M. (2008). On the malleability of performance: Implications for seniors. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *27*, 446-465. DOI: 10.1177/073464808315291
- Kim, E. S., Moored, K. D., Giasson, H. L., & Smith, J. (2014). Satisfaction with aging and use of preventive health services. *Preventive Medicine*, 69, 176–180. DOI:10.1016/j. ypmed.2014.09.008
- Kite, M. E., Wagner, L. S., & Nelson, T. (2002). Attitudes toward older adults. In T. Nelson (Ed.), *Ageism: Stereotyping and prejudice against older persons* (pp. 129–161).
 Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

- Kleinspehn-Ammerlahn, A., Kotter-Grühn, D., & Smith, J. (2008). Self-perceptions of aging: do subjective age and satisfaction with aging change during old age? *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci.*,63(6), 377-85. DOI: 10.1093/geronb/63.6.p377.
- Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., & Heuser, I. (2012). Views on aging and emotional benefits of physical activity: Effects of an exercise intervention in older women. *Psychology of sport and exercise, 13* (2), 236-242. DOI: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.11.001
- Knight, R.L., Chalabaev, A., McNarry, M.A., Mackintosh, K.A., & Hudson, J. (2022). Do age stereotype-based interventions affect health-related outcomes in older adults? A systematic review and future directions. *Br J Health Psychol. 27*(2):338-373. DOI: 10.1111/bjhp.12548
- Kotter-Grühn, D. (2015). Changing negative views of aging: Implications for interventions and translational research. *Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics*. DOI: 10.1891/01980-8794.35.167
- Kotter-Grühn, D., & Hess, T. (2012). The impact of age stereotypes on self-perception of aging across the adult lifespan. *The journal of gerontology: series B*, 67 (5). 563-571. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr153
- Lamont, R. A., Swift, H. J., & Abrams, D. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of age-based stereotype threat: Negative stereotypes, not facts, do the damage. *Psychology and Aging*, 30, 180–193. DOI:10.1037/a0038586

- Lawton, M. P. (1975). The Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale: A revision. *Journal of Gerontology*, *30*, 85-89.
- Lev, S., Wurm, S., & Ayalon, L. (2018). Origins of ageism at the individual level. In L. Ayalon
 & C. Tesch-Römer (Eds.), *Contemporary perspectives on ageism, 19. International* perspectives on aging (pp. 51–72). Berlin: Springer.
- Levy, B.R (1996). Improving memory in old age through implicit self-stereotyping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *71*, 1092 – 1107.
- Levy, B.R (2003a). Mind matters: Cognitive and physical effects of aging selfstereotypes. *Journal of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 58B, 203 – 211.
- Levy, B.R (2009). Stereotype embodiment: A psychosocial approach to aging. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18, 332–336. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01662.x
- Levy, B. R. & Bavishi, A. (2018). Survival advantage mechanism: Inflammation as a mediator of positive self-perceptions of aging on longevity. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 73, 409–412. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbw035
- Levy, B.R., Chung, P., & Canavan, M. (2011). Impact of explanatory style and age stereotypes on health across the life span. In Fingerman, K.L. Editor, Berg, C.A. Editor, Smith, J. Editor & Antonucci, T.C. Editor. Handbook of Life-Span Development (437-456)

- Levy, B. R., & Leifheit-Limson, E. (2009). The stereotype-matching effect: Greater influence on functioning when age stereotypes correspond to outcomes. *Psychology and Aging*, 24(1), 230–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014563
- Levy, B.R., & Macdonald, J.L (2016). Progress on understanding ageism. *Journal of Social Issues*, 72 (1), 5-25. DOI: 10.1111/josi.12153
- Levy, B. R., Moffat, S., Resnick, S. M., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci. (2016). Buffer against cumulative stress: Positive age self-stereotypes predict lower cortisol across 30 years. *Journal of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29, 141–146.
 DOI:10.1024/1662–9647/a000149
- Levy, B. R. & Myers, L. M. (2004). Preventive health behaviors influenced by self-perceptions of aging. *Preventive Medicine*, *39*, 625–629. DOI:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.029
- Levy, B. R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2009). Age stereotypes held earlier in life predict cardiovascular events in later life. *Psychological Science*, 20, 296–298. DOI:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02298.x
- Levy, B.R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2012). Memory shaped by age stereotypes over time. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 67 (4), 432-436.
 DOI.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr120
- Levy, B. R., Ferrucci, L., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., Troncoso, J., & Resnick, S. M. (2016). A culture-brain link: Negative age stereotypes predict Alzheimer's disease biomarkers. *Psychology and Aging*, 31, 82–88. doi:10.1037/pag0000062

- Lindland, E., Fond, M., Haydon, A., & Kendall-Taylor, N. (2015). Gauging aging: Mapping the gaps between expert and public understandings of aging in America. Washington, DC: FrameWorks Institute.
- Löckenhoff, C.E., De Fruyt, F., Terracciano, A., McCrae, R.R., De Bolle, M., Costa, P.T. Jr.,...Yik, M. (2009). Perceptions of aging across 26 cultures and their culture-level associates. *Psychol Aging*, 24(4),941-54. DOI: 10.1037/a0016901.
- Neugarten, B. L., Havighurst, R. J., & Tobin, S. S. (1961). The measurement of life satisfaction. *Journal of Gerontology*, 16, 134-43. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/16.2.134
- Marchiondo, L. A., Gonzales, E., & Williams, L. J. (2017). Trajectories of perceived workplace age discrimination and long-term associations with mental, self-rated, and occupational health. [Epub ahead of print]. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. DOI:10.1093/geronb/ gbx095
- Mazerolle, M., Régner, I., Barber, S.J., Paccalin, M., Miazola, A-C., Huguet, P., & Rigalleau.
 (2017). Negative aging stereotypes impair performance on brief cognitive tests used to screen for predementia. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 72 (6), 932-936.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw083
- McGlone, M.S., Aronson, J., Kobrynowicz, D. (2006). Stereotype threat and the gender gap in political knowledge. *Psychol. Women Q.* 30(4):392–8

- Montepare, J. M., & Zebrowitz, L. A. (2002). A social-developmental view of ageism. In T.
 Nelson(Ed.), *Ageism: Stereotyping and prejudice against older persons* (pp. 77–125).
 Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Nelson, T.D. (2005). Ageism: Prejudice against our feared future self. *Journal of social issues*, 61 (2). 207-221. doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2005.00402.x
- Purdie-Vaughns V, Steele CM, Davies PG, Ditlmann R, Crosby JR. (2008). Social identity contingencies: how diversity cues signal threat or safety for African Americans in mainstream institutions. J. Personal. Soc.Psychol. 94(4):615–30
- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2012). The relationship between change in self-perceptions of aging and physical functioning in older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 750–760. DOI:10.1037/a0027578
- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2013). Longitudinal change of selfperception of aging and mortality. *Journal of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 69* (2), 168-173. DOI:10.1093/geronb/gbt005
- Schmader, T., Johns., & Forbes. (2008). An integrated process model of stereotypes threat effects on performance. *Psychol. Rev. 115* (2), 336-356. DOI: 10.1037/0033-295X.115.2.336
- Spencer, S.J., Logel, C., & Davies, P.G. (2016). Stereotype threat. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67, 415-437. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235

- Spencer, S.J., Steele, C.M., & Quinn, D.M. (1999). Stereotype threat and women's math performance. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 35(4):4–28
- Steele, C.M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. 69 (5). 797-811. DOI.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.797
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, *52*(6), 613–629.
- Steele CM, Spencer SJ, Aronson J. (2002a). Contending with group image: the psychology of stereotype and social identity threat. *Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 34, 379–440
- Steele, C. M. (2010). Whistling Vivaldi: And other clues to how stereotypes affect us (Issues of our time). New York, NY: Norton
- Stone, J., & McWhinnie, C. (2008). Evidence that blatant versus subtle stereotype threat cues impact performance through dual processes. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 44(2), 445–52
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. In W. G. Austin & S. Worchel (Eds.), The social psychology of intergroup relations (pp. 33–47).Monterey, CA: Brooks Cole.
- Tausch, N., & Hewstone, M. (2010). Intergroup contact and <u>prejudice</u>. In J. F. Dovidio, M. Hewstone, P. Glick, & V. M. Esses (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of <u>prejudice</u>, stereotyping, and <u>discrimination</u> (pp. 544–560). Newburg Park, CA: Sage.*

- Willis, S.L., Tennstedt, S.L., Marsiske, M., Ball, K., Elias, J., Koepke, K.M., Morris, J.N.,
 Rebok, G.W., Unverzagt, F.W., Stoddard, A.M., Wright, E., & ACTIVE Study Group.
 (2006). Long-term effects of cognitive training on everyday functional outcomes in older adults. *JAMA*, 296(23), 2805-14. DOI:10.1001/jama.296.23.2805.
- Wout, D., Shih, MJ., Jackson, J.S., Sellers R.M. (2009). Targets as perceivers: how people determine when they will be negatively stereotyped. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 96(2):349–62
- World Health Organization. (2015a). 10 facts on aging and the life course. http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/ageing/en/
- World Health Organization (2015b). *World report on aging and health*. http://www.who.int/ageing/events/world-report-2015-launch/en.
- Wurm, S., & Benyamini, Y. (2014). Optimism buffers the detrimental effect of negative self-perceptions of ageing on physical and mental health. *Psychology and health, 29* (7).
 DOI:10.1080/08870446.2014.891737
- Wurm, S., Tomasik, M., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2010). On the importance of a positive view on ageing for physical exercise among middle-aged and older adults: Cross-sectional and longitudinal findings. *Psychology and Health, 25,* 25–42.
 DOI:10.1080/08870440802311314

Investigating the Effects of Negative Age Stereotypes on Older Adults' Cognitive Performance

Julien, A^{1,2,5}., Kaushal, N³., Pothier, K^{1,2,4}., Dandeneau, S⁷., and Bherer, L^{1,2,5,6}.

Research Centre, Institut Universitaire de Gériatrie de Montréal, Montréal, Canada¹

PERFORM Centre, Concordia University, Montréal, Canada²

School of Health & Human Sciences, Department of Health Sciences, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN 47405, USA³

Tours University, EA 2114, PAVeA Laboratory, Tours, France⁴

Research Centre, Montreal Heart Institute, Montréal, Canada⁵

Department of Medicine, University of Montréal, Montréal, Canada⁶

Université du Québec à Montréal, Psychology Department, Montréal, Canada⁷

Abstract

Objective: The literature suggests that negative aging stereotypes (NAS) is negatively related to verbal memory performance in older adults. The first objective was to investigate how NAS and self-perception of aging (SPA) are related to older adults' cognitive performance in standardized testing. The second objective examined whether NAS and SPA are related to the performance on visuospatial memory, working memory, and processing speed. The primary hypothesis was that a higher level of NAS would be linked to lower cognitive scores, whereas better SPA would be linked to higher cognitive scores. NAS would predict performance independently from age, education, cognitive abilities, and perception of competency.

Methods: Participants were adults aged 60 to 87 (n=117). Participants completed a cognitive assessment (MoCA, BVMT-R) and measures of implicit (Implicit Association Test-Age) and explicit NAS (Fraboni scale of ageism) and SPA (Attitudes towards own aging) at time one and time two. The battery also included screening tests (MMSE and subtests of the WAIS-IV).

Results: Higher NAS was linked to lower scores in verbal memory, immediate, delayed visuospatial memory, and processing speed. SPA had no relationship with cognitive scores. Hierarchical multiple regression revealed that explicit NAS predicted processing speed after controlling for age, education, cognitive abilities, and perception of competency, and predicted delayed visuospatial memory after accounting for age and education. Implicit NAS predicted verbal memory after accounting for explicit NAS.

Conclusion: Older adults' age-related beliefs about themselves and others significantly influence cognitive performance after accounting for age and cognition-related variables. These findings suggest that NAS should be considered in interpreting cognitive scores.

Keywords: Processing speed, visuospatial memory, negative age stereotypes, clinical neuropsychology, older adults.

Public Significance Statement

Even with the best intentions, warmth, and professionalism, mental health professionals testing older adults' cognition may fail in their clinical interpretation by ignoring the endorsement of patients' negative age stereotypes (NAS). NAS impacts older adults' performance beyond verbal memory and may also decrease visuospatial memory and processing speed. We suggest that NAS should be measured and considered when interpreting older adults' cognitive scores and other psychological states that have been shown to impact cognitive performance, such as anxiety and depressive states.

Investigating the Effects of Negative Age Stereotypes on Older Adult's Cognitive Performance

Physical and cognitive declines in later life can be associated with physiological, sociocultural, and psychosocial factors. Research on patterns of cognitive decrements in later life has tended to focus on biological processes (e.g., Bishop et al., 2010) rather than psychosocial processes such as negative aging stereotypes (NAS) endorsement that may be more amenable to interventions. Stereotyping involves attributing characteristics to a given social group based on a perceived element of truth but spread and generalized to the entire target group with little consideration for individual variabilities. The process of stereotyping offers a structure for supporting biases, discrimination, and power imbalance that older adults experience both at a societal level, in the form of institutionalized ageism, and at the individual level, in the form of the person's thoughts, feelings, and behaviours. Older adults face many NAS: a prevalent one is that as one ages, they should expect cognitive decline that will lead to adverse consequences on daily functioning. Due to the stereotypes that target specific age groups, forgetfulness is often seen as a foreshadowing of dementia. Additionally, reduced processing speed often translates to an individual's decline in comprehension of the world and, therefore, their productivity in society. Consequently, older adults see their life opportunities diminished in many life domains, such as employment (Bowen & Skirbekk, 2013; Roscigno et al., 2007), relationships (Coudin & Alexopoulos, 2010), identity and psychological well-being (Kornadt & Rothermund, 2011), and screening procedures, treatment plan, and healthy lifestyle recommendations (Eymard & Douglas, 2012; Robb et al., 2002). Ageism is believed to cost up to 63 billion dollars to American society (Levy et al., 2020).

Mental health professionals assessing older adults' cognition must consider sleep, stress, motivation, mood, or education variables, as potential factors impacting a patient's performance. These variables offer a context to a given performance and a better understanding of a patient's cognitive functioning; thus, suitable patient care recommendations can be made. Numerous studies have investigated the impact of NAS on cognitive performance. Steele and Aronson (1995) demonstrated that one's group identity, a social context in which a stigma is present and self-relevant, and a setting that can potentially confirm the stereotype could pose a risk to the individual's performance. In aging, having to undergo a cognitive assessment constitutes a similar context of stereotype threat. Only having the administrator say "memory" is enough to activate the NAS and impact performance by motivating the individual to contradict or avoid confirming the stereotype (Rahhal et al., 2001).

Stereotype activation is believed to have roots in internalizing such stereotypes within self-perception. The theory of stereotype embodiment stipulates that stereotypes are internalized at a young age and undergo reinforcement during one's life through observations of how older adults are treated and how age beliefs are expressed in one's social culture. They operate unconsciously, gain salience from self-relevance, and use physiological, behavioural, and psychological pathways (Levy, 2009). Indeed, NAS begin as early as six years old, are internalized during childhood, and are carried throughout adulthood into old age, impacting older adults' behaviour, cognitions, and self-perception (Kwong See & Nicoladis, 2009; Levy, 1996). Self-perception of aging (SPA) translates the degree of satisfaction with one's aging and reflects adaptation to age-related changes (Levy, 2009). In the Embodiment Theory, Levy (2009)

proposes that SPA is a "manifestation of internalized age stereotypes" (Sargent-Cox et al., 2013). Internalized age stereotypes have been associated with decrements in a broad range of domains, such as cardiovascular health (Levy et al., 2009), engagement in beneficial health behaviours (Kim et al., 2014; Levy & Myers, 2004; Wurm et al., 2010), general health and longevity (Levy & Myers, 2005; Marchiondo et al., 2017, Sargent-Cox et al., 2012), detrimental brain changes such as the accumulation of plaques and tangles, and reduction in the size of the hippocampus (Levy et al., 2016) and exacerbated stress overtime (Levy & Bavishi, 2018; Levy et al., 2016). Interestingly, a 38-year longitudinal study has investigated the decremental impact of internalized NAS on memory and has shown that decline was not bound by either time or space (laboratory setting), which suggests stereotypes operate through internalization (Levy et al., 2012). Furthermore, societal stereotypes about older adults' competence in various domains tend to be internalized, which can lead to self-fulfilling prophecies: When people endorse NAS at earlier ages, they tend to experience more negative changes in health relative to people endorsing more positive aging stereotypes (Levy, 2009).

Given NAS's prevalence and consequences, research has focused on how these negative beliefs operate from self-concept to behaviour. A meta-analysis by Lamont et al. (2015) reported that culturally shared beliefs that aging leads inescapably to severe cognitive decline and diseases have typically impaired healthy older adults' performance on cognitive tests. Stereotype threat is believed to be a process by which NAS operate (Steele & Aronson, 1995). Stereotype threat occurs when people fear that poor performance on their part will confirm a negative, self-relevant stereotype (Steele, 2010; Steele & Aronson, 1995; Steele & Aronson, 1997). In response to this threat, people tend to underperform compared to their potential, thereby conforming to the stereotype. This was first illustrated by Steele & Aronson (1995). They demonstrated how African American students performed below their potential on the Scholastic Aptitude Test when stereotypes about their intellectual abilities were emphasized. They found that those not exposed to the threat performed at the same level as the Caucasian students. Subsequently, stereotype threat effects have been studied across various stereotyped social groups, including individuals from low socioeconomic status, women, gay men, and older adults (ed. Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018).

In the context of aging, it was experimentally demonstrated that NAS will adversely affect health outcomes and will curtail the cognitive performance of older adults when compared to non-threatened older adults or those with more positive perceptions of aging (Barber et al., 2015; Haslam et al., 2012; Horton et al., 2008; Mazerolle et al., 2016). Lamont et al. (2015) meta-analysis' results showed that age-based stereotypes consistently impair older person's performance across various domains such as physical, skill acquisition, driving, cognitive, and memory performance (d=0.28). More recently, a meta-analysis by Armstrong et al. (2017) reported that stereotypes impact different forms of memory, such as episodic and working memory. The authors found that the effect was only significant when blatant manipulations (salient cues inducing participants' stigma awareness: e.g., reading an article about the adverse of aging on memory before a memory task) were used with episodic memory tasks. However, subtle manipulations (stigma is not directly communicated to participants, e.g., the older participant is asked to complete a memory task in the same room as a younger adult) were enough to impact working memory tasks negatively. However, it was anecdotally reported that neutral priming could negatively impact cognitive performance. For example, in the Hess et al. (2003) study, older participants were primed with negative, positive, and neutral priming

methods before a cognitive test session. In the following word memorization test, participants who received negative priming showed a decrease in their cognitive abilities. Interestingly, neutrally primed individuals also exhibited smaller but negative effects on their cognitive skills. Hess et al. hypothesized that this relationship in the control group raises the possibility of the threat being operative without direct exposure to NAS. Under normal testing circumstances, and more so for older adults who value their memory abilities, individuals risk seeing their performance impeded.

However, older adults may be only partially aware of their NAS endorsement, which can be an end process of explicit and implicit cognition. Explicit cognition, such as those measured through self-reports, are attitudes or beliefs available to the conscious mind that people will consider in decision-making and behaviour. However, the validity of measures for socially sensitive topics, for which social desirability may distort self-report responses, can be a limitation when used alone. Implicit cognition includes attitudes and beliefs, unavailable to awareness, that may result from early learnings and past experiences and be nevertheless predictive of behaviour (Greenwald et al., 2009; Nosek et al., 2007). Used concomitantly with self-report, implicit measures could provide a better picture of one's NAS endorsement.

In summary, both explicit and implicit NAS may potentially interfere with older adults' performance at cognitive tests. However, these variables have often been studied separately. Their concomitant inclusion could provide a complete portrait of performance by understanding their respective relationship with cognitive scores once controlled for age, education, cognitive abilities, and perception of competency. The present study included the Implicit Association Test-Age (IAT-Age) for the implicit measure of NAS, the Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA) for the explicit measure of NAS (which includes the perception of the in-group and negative aging stereotypes), the Attitude Toward Own Aging subscale (ATOA) from the Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale for the self-perception of aging and a measure of self-perceived competency and value to perform at cognitive tests. The choice of these measures aligns with the theory of stereotype embodiment, which proposes three ageism predictors that have been involved in decreases in older person's health and performance: age discrimination (detrimental treatment of older persons), negative age stereotypes (negative beliefs about older people in general), and negative self-perception of aging (negative beliefs about one's aging) (Levy et al., 2020).

An essential addition to this project was offering a realistic clinical setting that would promote performance and respect clinicians' professional ethics. This included a consideration of the physical milieu, ethical therapeutic relationship, and the use of clinically standardized measures of cognition. Researchers hypothesize that the activation of NAS in the laboratory represents a natural milieu in which older adults continually encounter in their interpersonal and institutional world everyday primes which are activated and reinforced, effectively exerting a lasting effect impacting older adults' health and behaviour (Levy, 2009; Levy et al., 2011). This hypothesis brings together the theories of stereotype embodiment and stereotype threat; however, bluntly or subtly activating NAS does not represent a realistic clinical setting due to the manipulation, which is clinically unethical. Mental health professionals would avoid making comments that may trigger stress in the examinee. It is best practice to monitor anxiety, emotional regulation, and unconstructive behaviours to obtain a performance representative of the examinee's cognitive abilities. Just as Hess et al. (2003) illustrated, real-world testing situations, such as testing in a clinic, may induce a stereotype threat in and of itself without having to stage any particular manipulation (Spencer et al., 2016). A realistic clinical setting also

includes normed clinical measures that research protocols rarely use. This limitation can complicate the generalization of research to clinical settings, not to mention the underlying assumptions that clinical measures could be protected from NAS effects. Another weakness in the field is the attention that verbal memory receives at the expense of other cognitive domains, such as other forms of memory and processing speed (Horton et al., 2008). Enriching findings with a broader range of cognitive functions is necessary to strengthen this generalization from the assessment room to functioning. Altogether, the employment of nonclinical measures, narrow cognitive domains investigated, and clinically unethical behaviours prevent the practical application of this rich literature that has aimed for decades at demonstrating to mental health professionals the importance of including NAS in their interpretation of their patient's cognitive results.

The Present Study

The objectives are 1) To study the relationship between implicit NAS, explicit NAS, levels of SPA, and older adult's performance on neuropsychological tests employed in clinical settings and 2) to enrich the knowledge of the relationship of NAS and older adult's performance on visuospatial memory, working memory, and processing speed tasks while controlling for self-perceived competency and value of cognitive performance. Hypotheses are that 1) higher implicit/explicit NAS will negatively correlate with cognitive tests scores, whereas better SPA and better self-perceived competency of cognitive performance will correlate positively with cognitive tests scores; 2) Implicit/explicit NAS should predict cognitive tests scores, including negative effect sizes (1 standard deviation increase in NAS should be linked to a lower cognitive score) whereas SPA should predict cognitive scores with positive effect sizes; 3) Explicit and implicit NAS will explain variance in cognitive scores after controlling for demographic measures (age and education), cognitive abilities known as contributing to the cognitive score and self-relevance (self-perceived competency and the degree of which the individual values cognitive performance).

Method

Study Design and Participants

This study is a subproject of a major randomized controlled trial study primarily designed to determine the effects of 12-week exercise interventions on health and mobility in aging (Pothier et al., 2021). Sedentary healthy adults (60+) were recruited in the community from Montreal and its surroundings through magazines and newspapers (e.g., Le Bel Age). Participants were screened for signs of dementia (score <26 on the Mini-Mental State Examination (Folstein et al., 1975) or depression (score > 11 on the Geriatric Depression Scale (Yesavage et al., 1982), in addition to demonstrating any physical limitations for exercising as assessed by a geriatrician at pre-testing. In this 1-hour appointment, the following were evaluated: their general physical condition; the presence of chronic diseases; abilities to complete activities of daily living; medication use; cognitive symptoms, and mobility. Measurements of their body weight, height, blood pressure, reflexes, coordination, and proprioception were also completed. Finally, a global evaluation of their frailty was also assessed to validate their inclusion in the study.

Furthermore, participants included had to be non-smokers for the past five years, righthanded, have a moderate consumption of alcohol (\leq two glasses per day), have no history of alcohol or drug abuse, have no current somatic or psychiatric disorder, and have no surgery or other medical intervention which involved a general anesthetic in the past six months, unstable medical problems (unstable cardiorespiratory illness, cardiac troubles, palpitations) in the year preceding the protocol, no abnormal body mass index (<18.5 or >29.9 kg/m2) according to the geriatrician's recommendations, no significant and uncorrected perceptual limitations, no severe tremors or involuntary movements, no history of a severe injury to any upper limb currently affecting mobility, no severe or recurrent epilepsy, no diagnostic or treatment for severe depression in the past five years, not undergoing any hormone therapy treatment and no participation in an intervention study or program over the last year. Participants who met these criteria were considered going through a normal developmental stage. This was an essential part of the sample selection process, as NAS would be less likely to be endorsed in interaction with objective symptoms characterizing abnormal aging.

This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. It was approved by the Concordia University Human Research Ethics Committee and the Research Center of the Institut Universitaire de Geriatrie de Montreal. Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. However, participants were blind to the subproject goals.



Excluded from IAT analysis (*n*=26)

- Missing data for unknown reason (*n*=5)
- Incomplete IAT, insuffisant participation (*n*=1)
- Errors with IAT completion, technical or human errors (*n*=20)
Analysis with IAT (*n*=98)

*Diagnosed Brain tumour after day 1 of pre-test (*n*=1) Abnormal Vo2 Max (*n*=1) Abnormal MoCA/MMSE (*n*=2)

Measures

Participants were invited to a one-hour session in which they completed neuropsychological testing. The Implicit Association Test-Ageism (IAT-Age) was administered after the battery of cognitive measures. Questionnaires were explained after the IAT and were completed at home during the following week without the presence of researchers.

All participants completed measures of neuropsychology battery targeting specific functions (memory, attention, executive functions, abstract verbal reasoning, and processing speed) commonly used in clinical work with older adults. The session took place one week apart from the day they came to the laboratory and met members of the research team to sign the consent form. This process was meant to familiarize participants with the setting in which they would be tested. Administrators were graduate students who received formal training from a neuropsychologist and were prescribed to use the standardized verbatim in administering the tests. Testing was held individually in a comfortable room. Administrators welcomed each participant, presented themselves (name and function in the project), and did a brief introduction before starting by saying that they (the participant) would be completing some pencil/paper exercise for the next hour. Participants were asked to give their best while being told that some questions would appear easy to them and others more difficult, which was normal. All cognitive testing was held in the morning to early afternoon between 8:am and 1:pm. Of importance, test instructions did not explicitly mention that memory would be measured.

This protocol followed recommendations for a favourable testing environment (Sindi et al., 2013): 1) Testing location: The testing environment was known to participants as it was the second day of testing, and they all had to come in for the 1st day of evaluation 2) Time of testing: Older participants perform better between 8:am and 12: pm; 3) Task instruction: We avoided terms such as "memory" or "memorizing" to decrease the emphasis on the memory component of the task while respecting the standardized verbatim of the tests (which do not include these terms). Sindi et al. (2013) also recommend that the age of the clinician or research assistant should be like that of the participants, as a younger adult examiner can lead to a more significant stereotype threat in older adults and consequently to an increase in stress. Although this element is relevant, it is hardly feasible as age is not a variable easily manipulated in a natural clinical setting. For this reason, we did not follow that recommendation, although all the examiners are

trained to conduct assessments limiting external factors that could damage older adults' performance.

Measures of negative aging stereotypes (NAS) and self-perception of aging. An explicit measure of ageism (The Fraboni Scale of Ageism), an implicit measure of ageism (IAT-Age), and a measure of attitudes toward own aging (A subscale of the Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale) were employed. A measure of self-perception in cognitive performance was also included for measuring individual self-relevance and level of importance to perform well at cognitive tasks.

The fraboni scale of ageism (FSA; Fraboni et al., 1990). The FSA construct is derived from Butler's (1978) definition of ageism. It is a validated measure of external ageism designed to assess both cognitive and affective components of ageism. The participants answer 29 questions on a 4-point Likert Scale, going from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Higher scores mean higher ageism. Fraboni et al. (1990) found FSA scores to have adequate internal consistency reliability with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .86 and revealed a lack of influence from social desirability. This questionnaire produces a global score for ageism and three individual scores for levels of prejudice: Discrimination (discriminatory opinions regarding political rights, segregation, and activities of older adults, e.g., "Most old people should not be trusted to take care of infants"), Avoidance (withdrawal from social contact with older persons, e.g., "I sometimes avoid eye contact with old people when I see them") and Antilocution (antagonism and antipathy fuelled by misconceptions, misinformation, or myths about older persons, e.g., "Many old people just live in the past"). Cronbach's coefficient alpha reliabilities of the Antilocution, Avoidance and Discrimination subscales were reported as .76, .77, and .65, respectively. A more recent study by Credé et al. (2003) revealed an alpha reliability estimates of these subscales were .75, .61, and .77, respectively.

Implicit association test-ageism (IAT; Greenwald, McGhee, & Schwartz, 1998). Implicit social cognition, including attitudes and stereotypes, often operates automatically and without awareness to affect judgments and behaviours (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995). The IAT has been largely used to measure automatic attitudes, stereotypes, and identity in various domains, including age (Greenwald & Nosek, 2001). The IAT has often correlated only weakly with self-report measures of the same construct, supporting that IAT assesses processes that are often distinct from the corresponding constructs measured by self-report (Dasgupta & Greenwald, 2001; Greenwald & Farnham, 2000; Greenwald & Nosek, 2001; Lee Hummert et al., 2002). The fundamental assumption of the IAT-Age is that judgments congruent with participants' implicit associations of the older adult's category with an evaluative category, such as unpleasant, will be easier and made more quickly than those that are incongruent, such as young and unpleasant.

In other words, the IAT relies on a response latency indicator obtained in pairing the attitude object (a social group such as old-young) with an evaluative dimension (good-bad). A computerized version was used in which the participant was presented with photographs of young and old adults (at the center of the screen) one at a time and paired each picture as quickly as possible with an evaluative word (pleasant-unpleasant). The speed at which this pairing was completed in the congruent association compared to the incongruent one was interpreted as a measure of the strength of an implicit association (attitude). Greenwald et al. (2009) meta-analysis found an average r = .274 for predicting behavioral, judgment, and physiological measures by IAT measures. This meta-analysis also revealed that age, ethnicity, and weight were

group categories in which the predictive validity of IAT significantly exceeded that of self-report measures. The IAT was believed to be a significant addition to the measures kit in this study since implicit dimensions assessed by the IAT may be more strongly linked to behaviour than the dimension targeted by self-report attitudes scales.

Attitudes toward own aging (ATOA); Subscale of the Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale (Lawton, 1975). The Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale is a multidimensional approach to assessing the psychological state of older people (Lawton, 1975). The subscale assessing the Attitudes Toward Own Aging (ATOA) was used, with items related to the older person's experiences of their aging process. This measure captures the individual's perception of the changes in their life and asks for an evaluation of those changes. Respondents are asked to indicate yes or no to six statements (e.g., "As you get older, you are less useful," "I am as happy now as when I was younger"). Higher scores mean a better perception of own aging. Internal consistency was found to have an alpha of 0.81 for this subscale.

Measures of self-perception in cognitive performance. This questionnaire was adapted from an initially designed version to measure adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs for mathematic performance (Eccles & Wigfield, 1995). All participants completed a questionnaire at home measuring their expectations about their performance at cognitive tests and the extent to which they valued their performance. They answered 10 questions on a 7-point Likert scale. The total score is the product of the 10 questions mean and relates to the degree of motivation to perform well at cognitive testing.

Of interest in our study were the subscales of Value and Competency that are extracted by averaging selected items together. Value is the average of five questions: "Is the amount of effort it will take to do well on the most difficult memory and attentional tasks worthwhile to you?" (1 being Not very worthwhile and 7 Very worthwhile), "How is it important to you to get good results on memory and attentional tasks?" (1 being Not at all important and 7 Very Important), "I feel that it is important being good at completing memory and attentional tasks" (1 being Not at all important and 7 Very Important), "In general I find participating in memory and attentional testing...(1 being Very boring and 7 Very interesting) and "How much do you like doing memory and attentional testing?" (1 being Not very much and 7 Very much). Competency is obtained by averaging five questions: ("If you were to order all the participants in this research project from the worst to the best in memory and attentional tasks, where would you put yourself?" (1 being The worst and 7 The best), "Compared to other participants, how well do you expect to do on memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Much worse than the other participants and 7 being Much better than the other participants), "How good are you at memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Not at all good and 7 Very good)," How have you been doing so far in your life with memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Very poorly and 7 Very well), "How well will you do on the memory and attentional tasks in this research project?" (1 being Very poorly and 7 Very well). Of note, in questions involving a comparison component, participants were aware that "other participants" were aged 60 and over.

Cognitive measures. The clinical tests consisted in two tests routinely used for cognitive screening, and tests in the domains of visuospatial memory, working memory, processing speed and abstract verbal reasoning. They were chosen for their frequent usage in clinical settings and

their specific cognitive domain focus. Participants completed the following neuropsychological tests in the presented order:

Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA) (Nasreddine et al., 2005): This is a cognitive screening test designed to assist health professionals in detecting mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. It contains subtests assessing orientation, memory, executive function/visuospatial ability, language abilities and naming, abstraction, and attention. It also includes a clock-drawing test. The cut-off considered normal is a score of 26/30. The total score is adjusted for low education by adding one point for individuals with 12 years of education and lower. The MoCA has shown a sensitivity of 90% in a clinical population of MCI subjects and a specificity of 87% (Nasreddine et al., 2005).

Mini-mental state examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975): This test measures cognitive function by examining orientation, word recall, language abilities, attention and calculation, and visuospatial memory. The cut-off considered normal is 26. Using this cutoff, the MMSE shown a sensitivity of 18% in a clinical population of MCI subjects and a specificity of 100% (Nasreddine et al., 2005).

The brief visuospatial memory test-revised (BVMT-R; Benedict et al., 1996). This test measures visual learning and memory using a multiple-trial learning paradigm. It requires participants to learn and retain six forms that yield immediate recall, delayed recall, and recognition measures. The participant is shown an 8 X 11-inch plate containing six simple geometric visual designs in a 2 X 3 matrix. The matrix is presented for 10 seconds for three learning trials. After each 10 seconds presentation, the participant is asked to reproduce as many designs as possible on a blank sheet of paper in the location they appeared on display. There is no time limit for recall, and the participant is encouraged to improve their performance at each additional trial. After a 25 minutes delay in which other tests were administered (see list above), the patient is asked to reproduce the design one more time. The participants were not told they should remember the figures. This delayed recall trial is followed by a recognition trial in which the individual is shown 12 designs, each printed on a 3 X 5-inch card, one at a time. The participant is asked to answer "yes" to those designs that were part of the matrix and "no" to those which were never presented. The recognition task includes six targets and six nontargets.

Age was found to moderately correlate (r = .44 to .50) with the results of this test (Benedict et al., 1996). Correlations between age and recognition performance were not significant. On average, age accounted for about 11% of the variance in BVMT-R scores (Benedict, 1997). Gender was not found to influence most aspects of recall and recognition performance (Benedict, 1997). Regarding education, its relationship as a predictor of BVMT-R scores has led to mixed results. Benedict et al. (1996) found that correlations were weak ($r = \langle .20 \rangle$, and the standard T-scores generated for the test only corrected for age. However, education was found to be a significant predictor of BVMT-R scores in subsequent studies (Norman et al., 2011; Wit et al., 2017). Furthermore, Petersen (2004) recommended considering the presence of memory impairment when an individual obtained memory scores that were lower than expected based on age and education without providing clear cut-off scores. In summary, although education was not formally included in Benedict's (1997) norms, education has been found to have a significant role in memory performance. Some studies have found significant results, specifically with the BVMT-R. The reliability coefficient varies from marginal to high,

ranging from .60 for Trial 1 to .84 for Trial 3. The reliability coefficient for the total recall score is .80 (Benedict, 1997).

Selected subtests Wechsler adult intelligence scale fourth edition (WAIS-IV) Wechsler et al., 2008. The WAIS is the most frequently used measure of intelligence for children, adolescents, and adults (Lichtenberger & Kaufman, 2009). The WAIS-IV was normed on 2,200 people aged 16 to 90, from which 600 were adults over 65 (M= 75.68, SD= 7.68). For people 65 years of age and older, reliability coefficients for the WAIS-IV subtests range from r = .78 to r= .98 (Wechsler, 2008). For WAIS-III, there were few differences between younger and older people in most tests assessing verbal abilities, although large differences were found in nonverbal abilities (Strauss et al., 2006). Subtests measuring information processing speed showed the greatest difference with increasing age (Heaton et al., 2003; Ryan et al., 2000).

Digit Span forward/backward. This subtest is part of the Working Memory Index. It requires attentional/short-term memory abilities (forward condition) and the ability to manipulate information mentally (backward condition). Participants are asked to repeat number sequences in the same order as presented. In the backward condition, participants repeat the sequences in reverse order.

Similarities. This is a measure of abstract verbal reasoning and semantic knowledge and one of the subtests composing the verbal comprehension index. The participant is asked to describe how two objects are similar conceptually.

Coding. This subtest is a primary measure of information processing speed and efficiency. It is a complex task requiring multiple cognitive abilities, including concentration, attention, cognitive flexibility, visual scanning, and motor coordination (Joy et al., 2003). The participant is initially shown a key containing the numbers one to nine. Under each number, there is a corresponding geometric symbol. The participant is then shown a series of boxes containing numbers in the top boxes and blank boxes below. After a short practice trial, they are asked to copy the corresponding symbols under each number. Participants are told to go as fast as they can without making mistakes. The raw score is the number of correct items within the prescribed time limit (120 seconds).

Transparency and Openness

We have reported the process by which we determined our sample and described all data exclusions, manipulations, and measures in this study. Our analysis only included participants that met inclusion criteria and were free from any exclusion criteria. Deidentified data and analysis can be made available upon request. Stimulus materials and protocols are copyright protected and cannot be provided.

Statistical Methods

Analyses were conducted with SPSS version 20. Normality was investigated by the evaluation of the Q-Q plots and histograms. Outliers was calculated with the interquartile range rule using a the 2.2 factor as suggested by Hoaglin and Iglewicz (1987). Two participants who did not meet these upper or lower limits were excluded from the analysis. Missing values representing 1.65% of the data were replaced by the median.

The primary hypotheses were investigated by conducting a series of linear regressions to test if determinants of aging, which included explicit NAS, implicit NAS, and attitudes towards own aging, would predict each cognition score. Next, value and competency were tested to verify if they predicted cognition scores. The regression models placed the determinants of aging, value, and competency as independent variables. The dependent variables were MMSE and MoCA scores, MoCA memory subtest, BVMT-R Immediate, Delayed, and Recognition conditions, coding, similarities, and digit span forward/backward.

The second hypothesis used hierarchical linear regressions with centered variables to further investigate significant interactions. Eight models were conducted with each cognitive test under investigation as the dependent variable (MoCA, MoCA memory, BVMT-R immediate, delayed, and recognition, and coding). In step one of each model, we included theoretically and statistically significant predictors (demographics, cognitive abilities and value, and competency); in step two, we included the NAS predictor; and in step 3, we included a mean-centered term to test the interaction between NAS and the three factors Age, ATOA and Competency (Table 1). We used MoCA scores adjusted for education ≥ 12 . For analysis involving IAT, we modified all the variables in the model in z scores since the IAT provides a standardized score.

Results

Recruitment yielded 117 participants (32 men, 85 women, 85% born in Canada, 15% born in Europe, the United States, the Caribbean, the Middle East, Asia, Africa and South America) for the analysis. The sample's age ranged from 60 to 87 years (M=70.16, SD=5.82), and the education ranged from seven to 27 years (M=16, SD=3.63). The data was collected at the Perform Centre (Concordia University) and the Centre de recherche de l'Institut Universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal between 2016 and 2018.

Hypothesis testing

Correlations. To test the first hypothesis, we conducted correlations between FSA, IAT, ATOA, Competence, Value and cognitive scores. Demographic variables were also included to prepare the regression models. The bivariate matrix showed that FSA negatively correlated with MoCA memory (r= -.187, p=.044), BVMTR Immediate (r= -.190, p=.040) and Delayed recall (r= -.219, p=.017), as well as with coding (r= -.280, p=.002). The IAT-Age negatively correlated with MoCA (r= -.209, p=.039) and MoCA memory (r= -.231, p=.022). Age negatively correlated with MMSE (r= -.209, p=.023), BVMTR immediate (r= -.229, p=.013), Delayed (r= -.244, p=.008) and Coding (r= -.226, p=.014), whereas education had a significant positive correlation with BVMT-R Delayed (r=.208, p=.025) and Similarities (r=.524, p=.000).

The ATOA did not correlate with BVMT-R Immediate, Delayed and Recognitions, Coding, Digit Span Total, and Similarities.

Regressions. To test the second hypothesis, simple linear regressions were conducted with FSA, IAT, Competency, Value, and demographics as predictors. The analyses revealed that FSA predicted MoCA memory (β =-.187, p=.044), BVMT-R scores in both Immediate (β =-.19, p=.040) and Delayed (β =-.219, p=.017) modalities and Coding (β =-.280, p=.002). IAT predicted MoCA (β =-.209, p=.039) and MoCA memory (β =-.231, p=.022). Competency predicted Coding scores (β =.213, p=.021), whereas Value (β =.331, p=.000) predicted BVMT-R Recognition score. Age was found to predict BVMT-R Immediate (β =-.229, p=.013), Delayed

(β =-.244, p=.008), and Coding (β =-.226, p=.014) scores, whereas education predicted BVMT-R Delayed (β =.208, p=.025) and Similarities (β =.524, p=.000) scores.

To test the third hypothesis, models of hierarchical multiple regression were conducted. The analyses revealed that FSA scores still significantly predicted Coding scores (R^2 =.209, F=.033, β =-.19, p=.000) after accounting for age, education, and individual scores at BVMT-R Immediate, Digit Span Total, and Competency. FSA score predicted coding independently from Age and Competency. FSA predicted BVMTR-Delayed (R^2 =.142, F=.032, β =-.19, p=.001) after accounting for age and education and independently from age. Similar results were obtained independently from ATOA (R^2 =.169, F=.021, β =-.20, p=.000). However, FSA was no longer found to significantly change the F value once Coding was included in these two models. Furthermore, FSA did not significantly predict scores in the BVMT-R Immediate modality, with age still explaining mainly the variance in the model (R^2 =.097, F=.009, β =-.19, p=.009). IAT significantly predicted MoCA memory after accounting for FSA (R^2 =.082, F=.025, β =-.225, p=.017). Lastly, Value was found to significantly explain variance in BVMT-R Recognition once BVMT-R Delayed recall has been accounted for (R^2 =.161, F=.000, β =.33, p=.001).

Characteristics	
Age	70.16 (5.82)
Education	16 (3.63)
Female (%) Born in Canada (%)	72.65 85

Table 1. Demographic N=117

Table 2. Cognitive measures results

Measures	<i>n</i> =117	mean	standard deviation
MMSE		28.39	1.24
MoCA Standard			
Memory		3.68	1.31
Total		26.39	2.37
BVMT-R			
immediate recall		15,81	7.33
delayed recall		6.62	2.89
WAIS-IV			
Digit span forward		9.24	2.12
Digit span backward		7.55	2.27

Digit span total	16.79	3.99
Similarities	23.09	5.6
Coding	59.33	13.11

MMSE= mini-mental state examination; MoCA Standard= Montreal cognitive assessment adjusted for education; BVMT-R=Brief visuospatial memory test-revised; WAIS-IV=Wechsler adult intelligence scale 4th edition

Table 3. Negative aging stereotypes measures

Measures	n=	mean	standard deviation
FSA	117	54.09	8.96
ATOA	117	4.4	1.62
IAT-Age (z score)	98	.73	.47
Motivation cognition total	117	5.35	.68
Motivation physical total	117	5.37	.92

FSA=Fraboni scale of ageism; ATOA=Attitudes towards own aging; IAT-Age=Implicit association test-Age

Table 4

Hierarchical multiple regressions models

Independent Variables	Dependent variable	β	t	p-value	
Model 1					
Step 1					
Age	Coding	20	-2.22	.028*	
Education		.89	1.028	.306	
Digit Span Total		.16	2.024	.080	
BVMT-R Immediate	:	.11	1.164	.247	
Competency		.19	2.102	.038*	
Step 1 R^2	.176				
Step 1 F variation	4.739				
Step 1 F variation sig.	.001*				
Step 1 Model	.001*				
Step 2					
FSA		19	-2.175	5 .032*	
Step 2 R^2	.209				
Step 2 F variation	4.643				

Step 2 F variation sig.	.033*		
Step 2 Model	.000*		
Step 3			
FSA X Age		035	406 .685
Step 3 F variation	.165		
Step 3 F variation sig.	.685		
Step 3 Model	.000*		
Total R^2	.210		
n	117		
Model 2			
Step 1			
Age	BVMT-R Delayed	23	-2.609 .010*
		22	2 510 012*
Education	107	.22	2.518 .013*
Step I K ²	.10/		
Step 1 F variation	6.796		
Step 1 F variation sig.	.002*		
Step 1 Model	.002*		
Step 2			
FSA		19	-2.083 .039*
Step 2 R^2	.142		
Step 2 F variation	4.691		
Step 2 F variation sig.	.032*		
Step 2 Model	.001*		
Step 3			
FSA X Age		.58	.656 .513
Step 3 F variation	.430		
Step 3 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.513		
Step 3 Model	.001*		
Total R^2	.145		

п	117				
Model 3					
Step 1					
Age	BVMT-R Delayed	-1.9	-2.140	.035*	
Education		.19	2.217	.029*	
Coding		.213	2.307	.023*	
Step 1 R^2	.163				
Step 1 F variation	7.332				
Step 1 F variation sig	000*				
Step 1 Model	.000*				
Step 2					
FSA		130	-1.438	.153	
Step 2 R^2	.180				
Step 2 F variation	2.352				
Step 2 F variation sig	128				
Step 2 Model	.000*				
Step 3					
FSA X Age		.067	.771	.442	
Step 3 F variation	.594				
Step 3 F variation sig	442				
Step 3 Model	.000*				
Total R^2	.185				
n	117				
Model 4					
Step 1					
Age	BVMT-R im	mediate	219	-2.416 .017*	
Education			.125	1.395 .166	
Step 1 R^2	.067				
Step 1 F variation	4.088				

Step 1 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.019*		
Step 1 Model	.019*		
Step 2			
FSA		153	-1.683 .095
Step 2 R^2	.093		
Step 2 F variation	3.227		
Step 2 F variation sig.	.075		
Step 2 Model	.011*		
Step 3			
FSA X Age		.094	1.041 .30
Step 3 F variation	1.083		
Step 3 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.30		
Step 3 Model	.017*		
Total R^2	.102		
n	117		

Model 5

Step 1

Age	BVMT-R Immediate	190	-2.063 .041*
Education		.105	1.167 .246
Coding		.152	1.589 .115
Step 1 R^2	.097		
Step 1 F variation	4.061		
Step 1 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.009*		
Step 1 Model	.009*		
Step 2			
FSA		114	-1.214 .227
Step 2 R^2	.112		
Step 2 F variation	1.802		
Step 2 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.182		
Step 2 Model	.010*		
Step 3			
FSA X Age		.100	1.118 .266
Step 3 F variation	1.250		
Step 3 <i>F</i> variation sig.	.266		
Step 3 Model	.012*		
Total R^2	.121		

п		117			
Model	6				
Step 1					
	BVMT-R Delayed	BVMT-R Recognition	.35	4.213	.000*
Step 1	R^2	.133			
Step 1	F variation	17.597			
Step 1	F variation sig.	.000*			
Step 1	Model	.002*			
Step 2					
	Value		.31	3.779	.000*
Step 2	F variation	14.281			
Step 2	F variation sig.	.000*			
Step 2	Model	.000*			
Total <i>F</i>	R^2	.229			
n		117			

Model 7

Step 1 ZBVMT-R delayed ZMoC	CA memory	.190	1.824	.71
ZDS total		.009	.086	.93
ZCoding		.202	1.979	.05*
ZSimilarities		127	-1.205	.23
Step 1 R^2	.103			
Step 1 <i>F</i> variation Step 1 <i>F</i> variation sig.	2.666 .037*			
Step 1 Model	.037*			
Step 2 IAT		212	-2.187	.031*
Step 2 F variation	4.781			

Step 2 F variation sig.	.031*		
Step 2 Model	.011*		
Total R^2	.147		
п	98		
Model 8			
Step 1Z FSAZMore	CA memory	17	-1.732 .79
Step 1 R^2	.032		
Step 1 <i>F</i> variation Step 1 <i>F</i> variation sig.	3.157 .079		
Step 1 Model	.079		
Step 2 IAT		23	-2.285 .17*
Step 2 <i>F</i> variation Step 2 <i>F</i> variation sig.	5.222 .025*		
Step 2 Model	.017*		
Total R^2	.082		
п	98		

Note: β is the standardized coefficient; Z Fraboni and ZMoCA memory are in standardized scores. Abbreviations: Ageism, Fraboni Scale of Ageism; BVMT-R, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised

Discussion

The first objective of the present study was to investigate how implicit and explicit NAS (IAT, FSA) endorsement and self-perception of aging (ATOA) relate to older adults' performance on neuropsychological tests used in clinical settings. We used an optimal setting for recommendations of a favourable testing environment (Sindi et al. (2013) for evaluating older adults' cognition. The second objective was to enrich our knowledge about the relationship between NAS and visuospatial memory, working memory, and processing speed while controlling for self-perceived competency and value. Hypotheses were that 1) higher implicit/explicit NAS would negatively correlate with cognitive tests scores, whereas better self-perception of aging and better self-perceived competency of cognitive performance would correlate positively with cognitive tests scores, 2) Implicit/explicit NAS would predict cognitive tests scores, including negative effect sizes, whereas self-perception of aging would predict

cognitive scores with positive effect sizes 3) Explicit NAS would explain variance in cognitive scores after controlling for demographic measures (age and education), cognitive abilities known as contributing to the cognitive score and self-relevance (value and competency).

Confirming the first hypothesis, higher levels of explicit NAS (FAS) were linked to lower scores on the memory subtest of the MoCA, BVMT-R immediate and delayed recall, and Coding. Higher levels of implicit NAS (IAT) were linked to lower MoCA scores and the memory subtest of the MoCA. However, self-perception of aging (ATOA) did not correlate with cognitive scores. In line with the second and third hypotheses, explicit NAS predicted BVMT-R delayed recall and Coding after controlling for age, education, and other cognitive predictors underlying the cognitive domain of interest. However, once processing speed was included in the model, explicit NAS no longer significantly predicted visuospatial memory. This is coherent with Tam and Schmitter-Edgecombe (2013), who showed that processing speed was a unique predictor of BVMT-R learning and memory performance compared to executive functions after controlling for age and visuoconstructive abilities. Explicit NAS predicted BVMT-R delayed recall and Coding scores independently from age and self-perception of aging. However, explicit NAS had no relationship with BVMT-R recognition, digit span, and similarities scores.

Finally, implicit NAS (IAT) predicted scores at MoCA and MoCA Memory. For the latter, this prediction was found to be significant once controlled for visuospatial memory (BVMT-R delayed), auditory attention and working memory (Digit Span), processing speed (Coding) and abstract verbal reasoning (Similarities). Interestingly, a different model suggests that implicit NAS predicts scores at MoCA memory when controlling for explicit NAS. Regarding self-relevance, only perceived competency predicted scores at Coding and Value predicted scores at BVMT-R Recognition independently from BVMT-R delayed recall score. It has been suggested that the recognition condition of a visual memory task relies on motivational processes or impairment in disengaging-engaging attention (Iachini et al., 2009). Qualitatively, participants generally found it highly valuable to perform well at cognitive tests while at the same time expecting to perform poorly at them.

The effect sizes obtained from the multiple regressions suggest a small relationship between the determinants of aging and cognitive scores. In the literature, effect sizes reported are drawn from designs exploring the effect of stereotype threat, which involved stereotypes activation with participants. These studies yielded a small effect size in the domain of episodic memory (d=0.25) and working memory (d=0.37) (Armstrong et al., 2017). This raised further questions on the necessity to trigger a stereotype deliberately in the room to see an older person being impaired.

In contradiction with our hypothesis, self-perception of aging (ATOA) did not show any relationship with the dependent variables. In the literature, the interaction between explicit NAS, self-perception, and self-relevance is not entirely understood and led to different results. Yet, it has been generally demonstrated that older adults seem to be more susceptible to the effects of stereotypes on memory when they value memory abilities (Hess et al., 2003), along with higher education (Hess et al., 2009) and stigma consciousness (Hess et al., 2009; Kang & Chasteen, 2009). However, in our study, explicit NAS, which reveals one's stigma awareness, was found to transcend all these other contributors. Our results likely support the idea that these boundaries are not distinct, as what you think of your group may be internalized and activated in situations where the stereotype is present. This could also mean that self-perception could protect health a

long way by promoting healthy behaviors. Still, when older adults face a stereotype relevant to the group, self-perception is no longer protective of performance.

Spencer et al. (2016) propose that stereotype threat arises from any situational cue indicating that an individual is at risk of being judged negatively, considering a stereotype regarding one of their social identities. Consequent to earlier findings on stress induced by testing (Sindi et al., 2013), a neuropsychological testing room aiming at testing older adults' cognition is likely to represent such a setting with situational cues inherent to the testing process, even in a testing condition favouring older adults. Furthermore, people tend to be highly sensitive to signals indicating that one of their social identities is at risk of being devalued (Purdie-Vaughns et al., 2008; Wout et al., 2009), and therefore cues do not need to be blatant to trigger stereotype threat in targeted groups. Both blatant and subtle cues can harm performance (Lamont et al., 2015). Targeted groups aware of a given stereotype, regardless of whether they believe it, are likely to become highly skilled at reading situations they encounter to determine whether the stereotype may be applied to them in that setting, which in return will impact their performance (Spencer et al., 2016). This may explain our results, as explicit NAS showed that participants were aware of their in-group stigma and that awareness was sufficient to impair performance regardless of how positive they perceived themselves or how optimistic they were about their cognitive performance.

Taken broadly, the results from this study are coherent with the literature on NAS and memory performance in older adults (see Armstrong et al., 2016; Horton et al., 2008; Lamont et al., 2015; Meisner, 2012; Westerhof et al., 2014 for review and meta-analysis). However, most of these studies included nonclinical verbal memory tasks, for which it is well established that they are sensitive to NAS activation. To our knowledge, few studies have looked at visuospatial memory abilities and used a clinically normed test. Our results on visuospatial memory have mixed consistency with findings from Meneghetti et al. (2015), who found that age was the best predictor of performance in spatial recall tasks compared to their perceived stereotype threat measure. Our results suggest that explicit NAS endorsement predicted visuospatial performance beyond age. This is coherent with Meneghetti et al.'s findings (2015) that perceived stereotype threat influenced performance when the spatial task involved recalling information that was the same format and perspective as in the encoding phase (e.g., studying a map and drawing the map from memory), which are the conditions of the BVMT-R test.

To our knowledge, no studies have looked at the relationship between NAS and processing speed abilities as directly measured by clinical tests. It is assumed that older adults observe a slowing down in information processing due to their age. However, stereotype threat is believed to negatively impact controlled processing due to heightened physiological response, increased task monitoring, and attempts to suppress negative emotion (Schmader et al., 2008). Our preliminary results on processing speed are consistent with this. Processing speed, possibly mediated by NAS, should be the focus of future studies as slower processing may be a major underlying contributor to decrements in working memory, memory, and learning. Future studies could focus on why NAS was negatively related to delayed memory and not immediate recall or recognition of the same test. It is possible that holding NAS interfered with the process of free retrieval of learned material. Maybe impairments in the delayed recall were due to the frame of the test itself: participants are not notified in advance of the delayed recall that will take place 25 minutes later, and it is possible that being asked to reproduce the material learned previously challenged the participants in their NAS and increased situational anxiety. In addition, due to the

correlational nature of this study, future projects could consider adding a cognitive baseline measure to exclude a potential relationship between NAS endorsement and undetected cognitive decline.

In this study, participants were offered a testing environment promoting older adults' cognitive performance and following guidelines for optimal cognitive testing in older adults. In our methodology, we included different levels of NAS within the same protocol, including explicit, implicit, self-perception, and self-relevance measures. Having these different levels of NAS was an important addition to the literature, as it allowed us to investigate how this group of older adults' performance has been impacted. Indeed, these findings demonstrate that explicit NAS can have a detrimental role on specific cognitive tests and suggest that older adults undergoing a neuropsychological assessment come in with a set of beliefs regarding older adults, in general, that could impair their performance. Importantly, these beliefs appear to interact with cognitive performance, independently of how old they are, how they perceive their aging, and beyond self-relevance, measured here by value and perceived competency. This is coherent with the literature, which has demonstrated that older adults do not have to endorse the stereotype to see their performance impaired necessarily, but that they must recognize that they belong to the stereotyped group and be mindful of the stigma attached to the social group (Spencer et al., 2016).

Conclusion

Patients undergo neuropsychological evaluations to understand better how their brain's health interacts with their thinking skills, emotional regulation, and behaviour. It is a multicomponent evaluation in which, beyond the strict cognitive test scores, neuropsychologists need to consider variables that have been shown to interfere with performance on cognitive tasks, such as undetected temporary state of depression and anxiety, lack of motivation, and acute stress during testing that could lead to false-positive deficits, especially in the presence of mild cognitive complaints (Sachdev et al. (2013). Contextualizing test scores brings more clarity to their interpretation, allowing for the proper care and preventing unnecessary stress for the patient, reducing financial costs for the system, and mitigating risks of side effects from inappropriate therapies (Le Couteur et al., 2013). Our results support findings from previous work that social components such as stereotypes should be considered in interpreting older adults' cognitive scores. We also suggest that we consider older examinees in a systemic way when tested, as they may present with a positive self-view of aging, great collaboration, and motivation, but that more negative perceptions of older adults, in general, could interfere negatively with their cognitive performance.

Funding

This study was funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR, Grant# 136859) and a grant from the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC Grant# RGPIN-2015-05588).

Reference

- Armstrong, B., Gallant, S.N., Li, L., Patel, K., & Wong, B.I. (2017). Stereotype threat effects on older adult's episodic and working memory: A meta-analysis. *The Gerontologist*. 57 (suppl 2), S193-S205. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx170
- Ayalon, L., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2018). Contemporary perspectives on ageism. International Perspectives on Aging 19. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73820-8
- Barber, S. J., Mather, M., & Gatz, M. (2015). How stereotype threat affects healthy older adults' performance on clinical assessments of cognitive decline: The key role of regulatory fit. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 70, 891–900. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbv009.
- Benedict, R. H. B., Schretlen, D., Groninger, L., Dobraski, M., & Shpritz, B. (1996). Revision of the brief visuospatial memory test: Studies of normal performance, reliability, and validity. *Psychological Assessment*, 8(2), 145–153. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.8.2.145
- Benedict, R.H.B. (1997). Brief visuospatial memory test-revised. Odessa, Fla.: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Bishop, N.A., Lu, T., & Yanker, B. (2010). Neural mechanisms of ageing and cognitive decline. *Nature*, *464*, 529-535. DOI: 10.1038/nature08983

- Bowen, C.E, & Skirbekk, V. (2013). National stereotypes of older people's competence are related to older adults' participation in paid and volunteer work. *The journal of gerontology: Series B, 68* (6), 974-983. Doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbt101
- Credé, M., Rupp, D. E., & Vodanovich, S. J. (April 2003). Ageism: Group differences and construct validity. Paper presented at the 18th annual conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Orlando, FL.
- Coudin, G., & Alexopoulos, T. (2010). "Help me! I'm old!" How negative aging stereotypes create dependency among older adults. *Aging Mental Health. 14* (5), 516-523. DOI: 10.1080/13607861003713182
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (1995). In the mind of the actor: The structure of adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 21*, 215–225. doi:10.1177/0146167295213003
- Eymar A.S., & Douglas, D.H. (2012). Ageism among health care providers and interventions to improve their attitudes toward older adults: an integrative review. *Journal of* gerontological nursing. 38 (5): 26-35.
- Fiske S. T., Cuddy A. J. C., & Glick P. (2007). Universal dimensions of social cognition:
 Warmth and competence *Trends in Cognitive Science*, *11*,77-83.
 doi:10.1016/j.tics.2006.11.005

- Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E., & Mchugh P.R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.*, *12*(3):189.
- Fraboni, M., Saltstone, R., & Hughes, S. (1990). The Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA): An attempt at a more precise measure of ageism. Canadian Journal on Aging, 9, 56-66.
- Greenwald, A. G., and Nosek, B. A. (2001). Health of the Implicit Association Test at age 3. *Zeitschnji fur Experimentelle Psychologie, 48*.
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*, A–21
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., & Schwartz, J. L. K. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: The implicit association test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 1464-1480
- Greenwald, A.G., Poehlman, T.A., Uhlmann, E.L & Banaji, M.R (2009). Understanding and using the implicit association test: III. Meta-analysis of predictive validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97 (1), 17–41 DOI: 10.1037/a0015575
- Haslam, C., Morton, T. A., Haslam, S. A., Varnes, L., Graham, R., & Gamaz, L. (2012). "When the age is in, the wit is out": Age-related self-categorization and deficit expectations reduce performance on clinical tests used in dementia assessment. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 778–784. doi:10.1037/a0027754

- Hess, T.M., Auman, C., Colcombe, S.J., & Rahhal, T.A. (2003). The impact of stereotype threat on age differences in memory performance. *The Journal of Gerontology: Series B*, 58 (1), 3-11. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.1.P3
- Hess, T.M., Hinson, J.T., & Hodges, E.A. (2009). Moderators of and mechanisms underlying stereotype threat effects on older adults' memory performance. *Exp Aging Res.* 35 (2), 153-177. DOI: 10.1080/03610730802716413
- Heaton, R.K., Taylor, M.J &Manly, J.J (2003). Demographic effects and use of demographically corrected norms with the WAIS-III and WMS-III. In D. Tulsky, R.K. Saklofske, G. Heaton, G. Chelune, R.A Ivnik, R.A. Bornstein, A. Prifitera, & M. Ledbetter (Eds), *Clinical interpretation of the WAIS-III and WMS-III* (pp. 183-210). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Hirsh, J. B., Mar, R. A., & Peterson, J. B. (2012, January 16). Psychological entropy: A framework for understanding uncertainty-related anxiety. *Psychological Review*.
 Advance online publication. DOI: 10.1037/a0026767
- Horton, S., Baker, J., Pearce, G. W., & Deakin, J. M. (2008). On the malleability of performance: Implications for seniors. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *27*, 446-465. Doi: 10.1177/073464808315291
- Iachini, T., Iavarone, A., Senese, V.P., Ruotolo, F., & Ruggiero, G. (2009). Visuospatial memory in healthy elderly, AD and MCI: A review. *Current Aging Science*. *2*, 43-59.

- Joy, S., Kaplan, E., & Fein, D. (2003). Digit symbol-incidental learning in the WAIS-III: Construct validity and clinical significance. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*. 17, 182-194
- Kang, S.K., & Chasteen, A.L. (2009). The moderating role of age-group identification and perceived threat stereotype threat among older adults. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*. 69 (3). https://doi.org/10.2190/AG.69.3.c
- Kim, E. S., Moored, K. D., Giasson, H. L., & Smith, J. (2014). Satisfaction with aging and use of preventive health services. *Preventive Medicine*, 69, 176–180. doi:10.1016/j. ypmed.2014.09.008
- Kornadt, A.E., & Rothermund, K. (2011). Context of aging: assessing evaluative age stereotypes in different life domains. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences* and Social Sciences, 66(5), 547–556.
- Kornadt, A.E., & Rothermund, K. (2012). Internalization of Age Stereotypes Into the Self-Concept via Future Self-Views: A General Model and Domain-Specific Differences. *Psychology and Aging*, 27 (1), 164-172. DOI: 10.1037/a0025110
- Kwong See, S. T, & Nicoladis, E. (2009). Impact of contact on the development of children's positive stereotyping about aging language competence. *Educational Gerontology*, *36*, 52 66. Doi:10.1080/0360127 0903018352
- Lamont, R. A., Swift, H. J., & Abrams, D. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of age-based stereotype threat: Negative stereotypes, not facts, do the damage. *Psychology and Aging*, 30, 180–193. Doi:10.1037/a0038586

- Lawton, M.P. (1975). The philadelphia geriatric center morale scale: A revision. *Journal of Gerontology*. 30 (1), 85-89. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/30.1.85
- Le Couteur, D. G., Doust, J., Creasey, H., & Brayne, C. (2013). Political drive to screen for predementia: not evidence based and ignores the harms of diagnosis. *BMJ*, 347, f5125. doi:org/10.1136/bmj.f5125
- Levy, B. (1996). Improving memory in old age through implicit self-stereotyping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *71*, 1092 – 1107.
- Levy, B. (2003a). Mind matters: Cognitive and physical effects of aging selfstereotypes. *Journal of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, *58B*, 203 – 211.
- Levy, B. R. & Bavishi, A. (2018). Survival advantage mechanism: Inflammation as a mediator of positive self-perceptions of aging on longevity. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 73, 409–412. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbw035
- Levy, B.R., Chung, P., & Canavan, M. (2011). Impact of explanatory style and age stereotypes on health across the life span. In Fingerman, K.L. Editor, Berg, C.A. Editor, Smith, J. Editor & Antonucci, T.C. Editor. Handbook of Life-Span Development (437-456)
- Levy, B. R., Moffat, S., Resnick, S. M., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci. (2016). Buffer against cumulative stress: Positive age self-stereotypes predict lower cortisol across 30 years. *Journal of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29, 141–146. doi:10.1024/1662–9647/a000149

- Levy, B. R. & Myers, L. M. (2004). Preventive health behaviors influenced by self-perceptions of aging. *Preventive Medicine*, *39*, 625–629. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.029
- Levy, B. R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2009). Age stereotypes held earlier in life predict cardiovascular events in later life. *Psychological Science*, 20, 296–298. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02298.x
- Levy, B.R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2012). Memory shaped by age stereotypes over time. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 67 (4), 432-436.
 DOI.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr120
- Levy, B. (2009). Stereotype embodiment: A psychosocial approach to aging. *Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18,* 332–336. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01662.x
- Levy, B. R., Ferrucci, L., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., Troncoso, J., & Resnick, S. M. (2016). A culture-brain link: Negative age stereotypes predict Alzheimer's disease biomarkers. *Psychology and Aging*, 31, 82–88. doi:10.1037/pag0000062
- Levy, B. R., & Myers, L. M. (2005). Relationship between respiratory mortality and selfperceptions of aging. *Psychology & Health*, 20, 553–564. doi:10.1080/14768320500066381

- Levy, B.R., Slade, M.D., Chang, E-S., Kannoth, S., & Wang, S-Y. (2020). Ageism amplifies cost and prevalence of health conditions. *The Gerontologist*, 60 (1), 174-181. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny131
- Lichtenberger, E.O., & Kaufman, A.S. (2009). Introduction and overview. In Kaufman, A.L. Editor & Kaufman, N. Editor (Essentials of Psychological assessment series Editors). *Essentials of WAIS-IV Assessment* (p.19).
- Nasreddine, Z.S., Phillips, N.A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., Cummings, J.L., & Chertkow, H. (2005). The montreal cognitive assessment, MoCA: A brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 53 (4), 695-699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x
- Norman, M.A., Moore, D.J., Taylor, M., Franklin Jr. D., Cysique, L., Ake, Lazaretto, D., Vaida, F., Heaton, R.K., & the HNRC Group (2011). Demographically corrected norms for african americans and caucasians on the hopkins verbal learning test-revised, brief visuospatial memory test-revised, stroop color and word test, and wisconsin card sorting test 64-card version. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, *33*(7): 793–804. doi:10.1080/13803395.2011.559157.
- Nosek, B.A., Greenwald, A.G., & Banaji, M.R. (2007). The implicit association test at age 7: A methodological and conceptual review. *Automatic processes in social thinking and behavior*. 265-292
- Marchiondo, L. A., Gonzales, E., & Williams, L. J. (2017). Trajectories of perceived workplace age discrimination and long-term associations with mental, self-rated, and occupational

health. [Epub ahead of print]. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. doi:10.1093/geronb/ gbx095

- Mazerolle, M., Régner, I., Barber, S.J., Paccalin, M., Miazola, A-C., Huguet, P., & Rigalleau.
 (2017). Negative aging stereotypes impair performance on brief cognitive tests used to screen for predementia. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 72 (6), 932-936.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw083
- Meneghetti, C., Muffato, V., Suitner, C., De Beni, R., & Borella E. (2015). Map learning in young and older adults: The influence of perceived stereotype threat. *Learning and Individual Differences*. 42. 77-82
- Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *256*, 183–194.
- Pothier, K., Vrinceanu, T., Intzandt, B., Bosquet, L., Karelis, A.D., Lussier, Minh Vu, T.T., Nigam, A., Li, K.Z.H., Berryman, N., & Bherer, L. (2021). A comparison of physical exercise and cognitive training interventions to improve determinants of functional mobility in healthy older adults. *Experimental Gerontology*. 149:111331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2021.111331
- Purdie-Vaughns V, Steele CM, Davies PG, Ditlmann R, Crosby JR. (2008). Social identity contingencies: how diversity cues signal threat or safety for african americans in mainstream institutions. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 94(4):615–30

- Rahhal, T.A., Hasher, L., & Colcombe, S.J. (2001). Instructional manipulation and age differences in memory: Now you see them, now you don't. *Psychology and Aging*, *16* (4), 697-706. Doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.16.4.697.
- R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 256, 183–194.
- Rob, C., Chen, H., & Haley, W.E. (2002). Ageism in mental health and health care: A critical review. *Journal of clinical gerontology*. 8, 1-12
- Roscigno, V.J., Mong, S., Byron, R., & Tester, G. (2007). Age discrimination, social closure and employment. *Social forces*. *86* (1): 313-334
- Ryan, J.J., Sattler, J.M. & Lopez, S.J. (2000). Age effects on wechsler adult intelligence scale-III subtests. Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 15, 311-317.
- Sachdev P.S., Lipnicki D.M., Crawford J., Reppermund S., Kochan N.A., Trollor, J.N., Wen,
 W., Draper, B., Slavin, M.J., Kang, K., Lux, O., Mather, K.A., Brodaty, H & Sydney
 Memory, Ageing Study Team. (2013). Factors predicting reversion from mild cognitive
 impairment to normal cognitive functioning: A population-based study. *PLOS ONE*. 8(3):
 e59649. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059649
- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2012). The relationship between change in self-perceptions of aging and physical functioning in older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 750–760. doi:10.1037/a0027578

- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2013). Longitudinal change of selfperception of aging and mortality. *Journal of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 69* (2), 168-173. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbt005
- Sattler, J. M., & Ryan, J. J. (2009). Assessment with the WAIS-IV. Jerome M Sattler Publisher.
- Schmader, T., Johns., & Forbes. (2008). An integrated process model of stereotypes threat effects on performance. *Psychol. Rev. 115* (2), 336-356. Doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.115.2.336
- Spencer, S.J., Logel, C., & Davies, P.G. (2016). Stereotype threat. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67, 415-437. Doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235
- Steele, C. M. (2010). Whistling Vivaldi: And other clues to how stereotypes affect us (Issues of our time). New York, NY: Norton.
- Steele, C.M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69 (5). 797-811. DOI.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.797
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, 52(6), 613–629.
- Strauss, E., Sherman, E.M.S., & Spreen, O. (2006). General cognitive functioning, neuropsychological batteries, and assessment of premorbid intelligence-wechsler adult intelligence scale III. A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests (p.289).

- Sindi, S., Fiocco, A.J., Juster, R-P., Pruessner, J. & Lupien, S.J. (2013). When we test, do we stress? Impact of the testing environment on cortisol secretion and memory performance in older adults. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38 (8), 1388-1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.004
- Tam J.W., & Schmitter-Edgecombe M. (2013). The role of processing speed in the brief visuospatial memory-test-revised. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 27 (6), 962-972. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2013.797500
- Wit, L.D., Kirton, J.W., O'Shea, D.M., Szymkowicz, S.M., McLaren, M.E. & Dotson, V.M. (2017). Effects of body mass index and education on verbal and nonverbal memory. *Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn.*, 24(3): 256–263. DOI: 10.1080/13825585.2016.1194366
- Westerhof, G. J., Miche, M., Brothers, A. F., Barrett, A. E., Diehl, M., Montepare, J.M., Wurm,
 S. (2014). The Influence of subjective aging on health and longevity: A meta-analysis of longitudinal data. *Psychology and Aging*, *29*, 793-802. DOI: 10.1037/a0038016
- Wout D, Shih MJ, Jackson JS, Sellers RM. (2009). Targets as perceivers: how people determine when they will be negatively stereotyped. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 96(2):349–62
- Wurm, S., Tomasik, M., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2010). On the importance of a positive view on ageing for physical exercise among middle-aged and older adults: Cross-sectional and longitudinal findings. *Psychology and Health, 25,* 25–42. doi:10.1080/08870440802311314

Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of psychiatric research*. 17 (1), 37-49.

Exercising your Perception of Aging: Effects of Physical and Cognitive Training on Older Adults' Perception of their Own Aging

Julien, $A^{1,2,5}$, Pothier, $K^{1,2,4}$., Kaushal, $N^{1,2,3,5}$., Berryman, $N^{1,8}$., Dandeneau, S^7 ., and Bherer, $L^{1,2,5,6}$

Research Centre, Institut Universitaire de Gériatrie de Montréal, Montréal, Canada¹

PERFORM Centre, Concordia University, Montréal, Canada²

School of Health & Human Sciences, Department of Health Sciences, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN 47405, USA³

Tours University, EA 2114, PAVeA Laboratory, Tours, France⁴

Research Centre, Montreal Heart Institute, Montréal, Canada⁵

Department of Medicine, University of Montréal, Montréal, Canada⁶

Université du Québec à Montréal, Psychology Department, Montréal, Canada⁷

Département des Sciences de l'Activité Physique, Faculté des Sciences, Université du Québec à Montréal, Montréal, Canada⁸

Abstract

Objective: Satisfaction with one's aging has been suggested as a central aspect of subjective well-being in older age for decades but remains understudied despite evidence of internalized ageism among older adults. The first objective of this study was to investigate the impact of three interventions (two types of physical training or cognitive training) on negative aging stereotypes (NAS) endorsement and self-perception of aging (SPA). The second objective was to study whether there is a link between changes in cognition or fitness and SPA and NAS. The central hypothesis is that SPA will improve, and NAS endorsement will decrease in all three groups. SPA and NAS improvement should be linked to better cognition and fitness.

Methods: Sixty-one adults (M_{age} =70.42, SD=5.03; $M_{education}$ =17.02, SD=4.0) were randomly assigned to aerobic, gross motor abilities, or cognitive training for three months. NAS (Fraboni scale of ageism, Implicit Association Test-Age), SPA (Attitudes towards own aging), fitness (Vo2Max; Energy cost walking), and cognitive tests (MoCA, BVMT-R) were administered pre-and post-intervention.

Findings: SPA significantly improved from baseline to post-intervention phase, independently of training type. SPA improved independently from changes in cognition and fitness. NAS remained stable from pre- to post-test in all groups.

Conclusion: Despite unchanged NAS endorsement, SPA improved through various types of training. Offering different types of exercise could reach a broader range of older adults with various interests and initial abilities.

Keywords: Self-perception of aging, negative aging stereotypes, physical training, cognitive training, older adults, cognition.

Public Significance Statement

From childhood, people have learned that with aging comes decrements and losses. A field in research has worked for decades to change these beliefs that are central to ageism and power imbalance in society. Interventions need to be developed to change the perception of aging so that, as a society, we benefit from the contribution of all individuals. Physical and cognitive interventions may be fun, accessible, and low-cost ways to challenge core ageist stereotypes vehiculating that age is inevitably associated with cognitive and physical decrements.

Exercising your Perception of Aging: Effects of Physical and Cognitive Training on Older Adults' Perception of their Own Aging

Ageism is prevalent in many functional domains, including work, relationships, and health, in which age discrimination and prejudice can have significant consequences. Older adults are less likely to be promoted in the workplace (Wood et al., 2008), physicians are more reluctant when they consider treatment options for their older patients (Robb et al., 2002), and older adults are more likely to be treated in ways that promote dependence (Baltes & Wahl, 1992) and be talked down to using patronizing speech (Hummert & Ryan, 1996). While older age may come with physical or cognitive difficulties, it is not inevitably a time of illness, frailty, and poor cognition. Aging is a variable process among individuals, which follows many different courses. Unfortunately, within-group variability is not socially recognized, and adults in later life are often targeted by negative aging stereotypes (NAS). They are seen as this homogeneous group characterized by a declining life course. This negative societal perception of aging, found in most cultures worldwide, is mainly driven by age stereotypes (Kotter-Grühn, 2015). Stereotypes refer to an individual's set of learned beliefs about the characteristics or attributes of a group (Judd & Park, 1993). Stereotypical construction results from the neglect of differences between individuals and over-generalizing group characteristics, leading to discrimination and ageism (Ayalon & Tesch-Römer, 2018). NAS is believed to contribute to negative selfperception of aging (SPA) in older adults (Levy et al., 2002), which corresponds to the cognitive evaluation of oneself relative to aging. Beyond biological mechanisms, psychological processes more amenable to interventions, such as NAS and SPA, have been suggested to play a significant role in the decrements in later life.

According to the Stereotype Embodiment Theory, lifetime exposure to NAS leads to the internalization of ageism, damaging self-perception of aging (SPA) (Levy et al., 2002). SPA refers to individuals' experiences and beliefs about their age process. A damaging aspect of stereotypes is when the targeted individuals begin to assimilate and include them as an accurate representation of themselves (Levy, 1996). These implicit stereotypes, embedded in each person's perspective of the world, are widespread and proven stronger than actual experiences (Levy, 2003). Moreover, when one cannot directly experience older age, stereotypes forged in youth create expectations about the future, which may develop into a self-fulfilling prophecy (Bennett & Gaines, 2010; Levy & Leifheit-Limson, 2009). When a person starts to identify as an older adult, their experiences are tainted by these stereotypes. They can act as a motivational incentive for behaviour (Hoppmann et al., 2007) or as a reference standard to evaluate actual experiences (Freund, 2007).

Longitudinal studies have shown that NAS and negative SPA among older adults were related to poor health, low well-being, and shorter survival times (Levy et al., 2012; Wurm & Benyamini, 2014; Wurm et al., 2007). Moreover, satisfaction levels with one's aging tend to decrease throughout life, coinciding with less attention to the individual's health care (Wurm et al., 2010). Having older adults consistently engage in behaviours promoting health, such as physical activity, is one of the most crucial contemporary challenges (Forberger et al., 2017). Many older adults feel reluctant to exercise and are one of the population's least active segments, failing to reach adequate physical activity levels worldwide (Hallal et al., 2012). This is unfortunate, as being physically active is linked to lower negative affect and stress, decreased pain levels, and physical symptoms. Altogether, these benefits have been linked to a better SPA.

However, NAS has been identified as a significant obstacle to older adults' commitment to physical activity (Chalabaev & Sarrazin, 2020).

Interventions Promoting Better Views of Aging

Exercise, implicit priming and psychological interventions combined. In a systematic review, Knight et al. (2021) investigated the effects of age stereotype-based interventions on older adults' health. Five of the eight studies reported improvements in physical function or activity. Methodologies included implicit priming or psychological intervention embedded into an exercise session (information targeting SPA). For example, Brothers and Diehl (2017) found they could increase physical activity by challenging negative views of aging. By increasing awareness of age-related changes, NAS, and age-related expectations, participants doubled their weekly minutes of physical activity from baseline. Beyer et al. (2019) provided information targeting SPA embedded into an exercise session. Compared to an exercise-only control group, participants who received the supplementary psychological intervention reported lower depression levels and a more positive SPA. In a different study, participants received a personalized three-month walking program associated with counter-stereotypical information about the benefits of physical activity for older adults (Emile et al., 2014). These participants significantly improved their perception of the benefits of exercise. The perceived activity risks in older women have also been reduced compared to a passive control group.

Physical interventions only. Klusmann et al. (2012) were the only research group in this review by Knight et al., (2021) to explore the implicit impact of exercise as the sole intervention strategy. The authors found an improvement in age satisfaction for older female adults who followed a six-month exercise intervention three times a week compared to a computer-course intervention program group and a passive non-intervention control group.

Most of the studies included in the review by Knight et al. (2021) appear to have focused on the stereotype embodiment theory by Levy (2009) and aimed at changing long-lasting beliefs about aging through psychoeducation combined with exercise. However, all individuals may not have access to psychoeducation services in the community, which puts them back in a position of dependence on others to optimize their health. From the perspective of helping individuals to challenge their assumptions about aging and improving their SPA, there is a need to develop types of intervention that can be accessed with more autonomy. In line with Klusmann et al. (2012), older adults may improve their SPA through exercise only. Physical activities are an implementable and low-cost intervention that continues to show benefits for older adults' global health (Harridge & Lazarus, 2017), cognition (Erickson et al., 2019), and well-being (Aguiñaga et al., 2020). However, little is known about the impact of exercising on SPA.

Furthermore, given the heterogeneity of older people's abilities and interests, developing more personalized programs and measuring the effectiveness of different exercise types could reach more individuals. The value of various forms of physical activity in health promotion has been universally acknowledged for decades (Edwards et al., 2005). Designs in the field of exercise science and psychology often involve studying different types of training exercises such as balance, aerobics, strength, coordination, and group sports (Levin et al., 2017), not to mention the inclusion of variables such as duration or levels of intensity. Research on the relative impact of exercising on SPA is at its premises; however, given the accumulated knowledge in the field

of exercising and psychology, it could be relevant to refine the designs and be more specific in the targeted physical abilities trained that are thought to improve SPA.

Cognitive training. Cognitive training is a controversial intervention to improve cognitive functioning in non-trained domains (Gobet & Sala, 2022). Nevertheless, few studies have looked at whether cognitive training could have an impact on self-perception. Goghari and Lawlor-Savage (2018) found that individualized cognitive training in working memory, logic, and planning may enhance the subjective perception of cognitive functioning and self-efficacy in daily life in healthy older adults. These findings were coherent with a previous study that found that reasoning training resulted in a less self-reported functional decline in older adults (Willis et al., 2006). However, Bures et al. (2016) found that cognitive training did not improve older adults' well-being compared to leisure time activities. To our knowledge, no study has looked at how cognitive training could directly improve SPA and decrease NAS.

Satisfaction with individual aging has been a central aspect of subjective well-being in older age for decades (Lawton, 1975; Neugarten et al., 1961). However, despite evidence of internalized ageism among older adults, it remains a domain that received little attention in the scientific community (Kleinspehn-Ammerlahn et al., 2008). Furthermore, many studies aimed at modifying subjective age, conceptualizing that feeling younger improves SPA, but only a few aimed at making older adults feel more positive about their aging process. As Kotter-Grühn (2015) pointed out, interventions aiming at changing SPA should be sensitive not to perpetuate NAS, or they may end up in a paradox: aiming at gaining a more positive SPA by subjectively feeling younger. Being old, feeling old, or looking old, is not what is wrong, but disengaging prematurely or avoiding activities, with the premise that age defines what one can do, is.

Furthermore, studies that aimed at identifying situational variables and circumstances in which older adults may feel more positive about their age are often correlational and do not allow for causal or directional conclusions (Kotter-Grühn, 2015). Globally, in this field of research, targeting interventions to improve SPA requires more attention and specific methodologies to draw firm conclusions. Investigating different types of training may be relevant when it comes to implementation in the community and considering older adults' interests and individual characteristics.

The present study investigates the impact of lifestyle interventions designed to improve cognition and fitness, which could also improve SPA and decrease NAS endorsement.

The objectives are 1) To study the impact of two types of physical training (fitness and gross motor abilities) and cognitive training on NAS endorsement and SPA and 2) To study if the improvement in SPA covaries with improvements in cognition and fitness. Hypotheses are that 1) SPA will improve and NAS endorsement will decrease regardless of the intervention, and 2) SPA should improve as a function of better cognition or fitness.

Method

Participants

Sixty-one right-handed adults participated in this study. Inclusion criteria were adults 60 years and older, male and female, fluent in French or English, sedentary, in good health and mobility, and without any contraindications to performing physical activities. Exclusion criteria

were: smoking within the past five years, more than two alcohol units per day, a history of alcohol or drug abuse, current somatic or psychiatric disorder, surgery or other medical intervention involving a general anesthetic in the past six months, unstable medical problems (cardiorespiratory illness, cardiac troubles, palpitations) in the year preceding the protocol, a body mass index <18.5 or >29.9 kg/m2, significant and uncorrected sensory impairments, severe tremors or involuntary movements, a history of a severe injury to any upper limb currently affecting mobility, severe or recurrent epilepsy, a diagnostic or treatment for severe depression in the past five years, undergoing any hormone therapy treatment, thyroid or pituitary disease, neurological disease, early signs of dementia (Mini-Mental State Examination, MMSE <26), depressive symptoms (Geriatric Depression Scale, GDS \geq 11), and participation in an intervention study or program over the last year.

This study was a subproject of a major randomized controlled trial primarily designed to determine the effects of 12-week exercise interventions on health and mobility in aging (Pothier et al., 2021). All participants provided written informed consent for this project, although they were unaware of the objective of this sub-project.

Measures

Screening protocol. All participants completed the following tests for the screening procedure during the pre-intervention session in this sequence:

Mini-mental examination test (MMSE; Folstein, Folstein & McHugh, 1975). This test is commonly used for cognitive screening in research and clinical settings. It measures cognitive function, including orientation, word recall, language abilities, attention, and visuospatial memory. A score of 27 and above is considered normal.

Selected subtests of the Wechsler adult intelligence scale fourth Edition (WAIS-IV) (Wechsler et al., 2008). This test is the most frequently used measure of intelligence for children, adolescents, and adults (Kaufman & Lichtenberger, 2006). The WAIS-IV was normed on 2,200 people aged 16 to 90, from which 600 were adults over 65 (M= 75.68, SD= 7.68). For people 65 years of age and older, reliability coefficients for the WAIS-IV subtests range from r = .78 to r = .98 (Wechsler, 2008).

Digit Span forward/backward. This subtest is part of the Working Memory Index. It requires attentional and short-term memory abilities and the ability to manipulate information mentally. Participants are asked to repeat a series of numbers in the same order as presented and in reverse order.

Similarities. This subtest is part of the Verbal Comprehension Index. It measures abstract verbal reasoning and semantic knowledge by describing how two objects or concepts are similar.

Coding. This subtest measures information processing speed and efficiency and is part of the Processing Speed Index. It is a complex task requiring multiple cognitive abilities, including attention, cognitive flexibility, visual scanning, and motor coordination (Joy et al., 2003; Sattler & Ryan, 2009). The participant is initially shown a key containing the numbers 1 to 9. Under each number, there is a corresponding geometric symbol. The participant is then shown a series of boxes containing numbers in the top boxes and blank boxes below. After a short practice trial, they are asked to copy the corresponding symbols under each number. Participants are told to go

as fast as they can without making mistakes. The raw score is the number of correct items within the prescribed time limit (120 seconds).

The Geriatric depression scale (GDS) (Yesavage et al., 1983). The GDS Long Form (30 items) has been tested and used extensively with the older population. Participants respond by answering yes or no about how they felt over the past week. Scores of 0-9 are considered normal, depending on age, education, and complaints; 10-19 corresponds to mild depressive symptoms and 20-30 to severe depressive symptoms. The GDS was found to have a 92% sensitivity and an 89% specificity when evaluated against diagnostic criteria in both clinical and research settings. A validation study (Sheikh & Yesavage, 1986) compared the Long and Short Forms of the GDS for the self-rating of symptoms of depression. It showed that both successfully differentiated depressed from non-depressed adults with a high correlation (r = .84, p < .001).

Primary outcomes. Participants completed measures of NAS, SPA, and perceived competency to perform cognitive and physical tests. Questionnaires were completed at home after the testing session.

The fraboni scale of ageism (FSA); Fraboni et al., 1990). This measure was used to assess participants' explicit NAS endorsement of older adults in general. The FSA construct is derived from Butler's (1978) definition of ageism. It is a validated measure of external ageism designed to assess both cognitive and affective components of ageism. The participants answer 29 questions on a 4-point Likert Scale, going from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," with higher scores meaning higher ageism. It produces a global score for ageism and three individual scores for levels of prejudice: Discrimination (biased opinions regarding political rights, segregation, and activities of older adults, e.g., " It is best that old people live where they won't bother anyone"; Most old people are interesting, individualistic people"), Avoidance (withdrawal from social contact with older persons, e.g., "Feeling depressed around old people is probably a common thing"; Old people can be very creative"), and Antilocution (antagonism and antipathy fuelled by misconceptions, misinformation, or myths about older persons, e.g., "Many old people complain more than other people do," "Most old people should not be allowed to renew their driver's licenses"). Cronbach's coefficient alpha reliabilities of the Antilocution, Avoidance and Discrimination subscales were reported as .76, .77, and .65, respectively. A more recent study by Credé et al. (2003) revealed an alpha reliability estimates of these subscales were .75, .61, and .77, respectively. The global internal-consistency reliability coefficient is .86 and showed a lack of influence from social desirability (Fraboni et al., 1990).

Implicit association test-ageism (IAT; Greenwald et al., 1998). This measure assessed participants' implicit NAS endorsement of older adults in general. Implicit social cognition, such as attitudes and stereotypes, often operates automatically and without awareness to affect judgments and behaviours (Greenwald & Banaji, 1995). The IAT has been largely used to measure automatic attitudes, stereotypes, and identity in various domains, including age (Greenwald & Nosek, 2001). The IAT is weakly associated with self-report measures of the same construct, which suggests that the IAT assesses processes that are often distinct from the corresponding constructs measured by self-report (Dasgupta & Greenwald, 2001; Greenwald & Farnham, 2000; Greenwald & Nosek, 2001; Lee Hummert et al., 2002). The fundamental assumption of the IAT-Age is that judgments congruent with participants' implicit associations of the older adult's category with an evaluative category, such as old and unpleasant, will be easier and made more quickly than those that are incongruent, such as young and unpleasant. A
computerized version was used in which the participant was presented with photographs of young and old adults (at the center of the screen) one at a time and paired each picture as quickly as possible with an evaluative word (pleasant-unpleasant). The speed at which this pairing was completed in the congruent association compared to the incongruent one was interpreted as a measure of the strength of an implicit association (attitude). A meta-analysis by Greenwald et al. (2009) found an average r = .274 for predicting behavioural, judgment, and physiological measures by IAT measures. This meta-analysis also revealed that age, ethnicity, and weight were group categories in which the predictive validity of IAT significantly exceeded that of self-report measures.

Attitudes toward own aging (ATOA, subscale of the Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale, Lawton, 1975). This questionnaire was used to measure what participants think about themselves as they age. The Philadelphia Geriatric Center Morale Scale is designed to assess the psychological state of older people using a multidimensional approach (Lawton, 1975). The subscale Attitudes Toward Own Aging includes items related to the older person's experiences of their aging process and their perception of the changes in their life. Respondents are asked to indicate yes or no to 6 statements (e.g., "As you get older, you are less useful," "I am as happy now as when I was younger"). Higher scores mean a better perception of own aging. Internal consistency was found to have an alpha of 0.81 for this subscale.

Measures of self-perception in cognitive or physical performance. This questionnaire was initially designated to measure adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs for mathematic performance (Eccles & Wigfield, 1995). It was adapted here for older adults to assess their competency to perform well at cognitive and physical tests and the degree to which they valued doing well. The questionnaire included 10 questions ranging on a seven-point Likert scale. The total score is the product of the 10 questions mean and relates to the degree of motivation and confidence to perform well at cognitive or physical testing.

Of interest in our study were the subscales of Value and Competence that are extracted by averaging selected items together. Value is the average of five questions: "Is the amount of effort it will take to do well on the most difficult memory and attentional tasks worthwhile to you?" (1 being Not very worthwhile and 7 Very worthwhile), "How is it important to you to get good results on memory and attentional tasks?" (1 being Not at all important and 7 Very Important), "I feel that it is important being good at completing memory and attentional tasks" (1 being Not at all important and 7 Very Important), "In general I find participating in memory and attentional testing... (1 being Very boring and 7 Very interesting) and "How much do you like doing memory and attentional testing?" (1 being Not very much and 7 Very much). Competence is obtained by averaging five questions: ("If you were to order all the participants in this research project from the worst to the best in memory and attentional tasks, where would you put yourself?" (1 being The worst and 7 being The best), "Compared to other participants, how well do you expect to do on memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Much worse than the other participants and 7 being Much better than the other participants), "How good are you at memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Not at all good and 7 Very good)," How have you been doing so far in your life with memory and attentional tasks? (1 being Very poorly and 7 Very well), "How well will you do on the memory and attentional tasks in this research project?" (1 being Very poorly and 7 Very well). The same questions were asked related to physical tasks.

Of note, in questions involving a comparison component, participants were aware that "other participants" were aged 60 and over.

Secondary outcomes. All participants completed these cognitive and fitness tests.

Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA)(Nasreddine et al., 2005). This test measures cognitive function, including orientation, memory, executive function/visuospatial ability, language abilities and naming, abstraction and attention. It also includes a clock-drawing test. This test was designed to assist health professionals in screening for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. The cut-off considered normal is 26, with an adjustment for individuals with 12 years of education and lower (+ 1 point to the final score).

The brief visuospatial memory test-revised (BVMT-R; Benedict et al., 1996). This test measures visual learning and memory using a multiple-trial learning paradigm. Participants are presented with six geometric visual designs in a 2 X 3 matrix, for which they are required to retain their placement in the space and their details. The matrix is shown for 10 seconds for three learning trials, and participants reproduce the matrix following each presentation. The immediate reproduction of these forms assesses for immediate recall, and their reproduction measures delayed recall after a 25-minute delay. This test ends with the adequate recognition of the six forms among six distractors. Gender was not found to influence most aspects of recall and recognition performance (Benedict, 1997). However, age was found to moderately correlate (r =-.44 to -.50) with BVMT-R scores (Benedict et al., 1996) and accounted for about 11% of their variance (Benedict, 1997). Correlations between age and recognition performance were not significant. The impact of education as a predictor has led to mixed results. Benedict et al. (1996) found that correlations were weak (r = .20), and consequently, the standard T-scores generated for the test only corrected for age. However, education was found to be a significant predictor of BVMT-R scores in subsequent studies (Norman et al., 2011; Wit et al., 2017). The reliability coefficient for this test varies from marginal to high, ranging from .60 for Trial one to .84 for Trial three. The reliability coefficient for the total recall score is .80 (Benedict 1997).

Cardiorespiratory fitness (V02Peak). A certified exercise physiologist administered this test. Peak oxygen uptake was used to assess participants' cardiorespiratory fitness (see Berryman et al., 2013, for the detailed protocol). The maximal aerobic power (MAP) was measured, corresponding to the highest mechanical power output during the cardiorespiratory fitness test. All participants completed a maximal graded exercise test on a cycle ergometer (Lode, CORIVAL). They were equipped with an electrocardiogram to monitor heart rate and wore a mask that covered their mouth and nose to measure gas exchanges during the test (analyzed using the Medgraphics CardiO2 Metabolic Cart and Breezesuite software; Medical Graphics Corporation and Medisoft SA, United States of America). After the calibration procedure, participants started at a pre-defined workload (35 W for women and 50 W for men), with a 15 W increase every minute regardless of sex. Participants needed to maintain a pedalling rate of 60 to 80 rpm. Testing was completed when participants could no longer hold the cadence or according to criteria described by the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM, 2001). VO₂Peak was defined as the highest volume of oxygen consumed over a 30 s interval in ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹. Cardiorespiratory fitness was previously associated with good test-retest reliability in older adults with r = 0.67 - 0.90 (Huggett et al., 2005).

Energy cost of walking (ECW). Using the same metabolic cart as during the VO₂Peak test, walked on a treadmill for 6 minutes at a constant speed of 4 km. h⁻¹. The ECW was

calculated as described in Pothier et al. (2021). The oxygen uptake of walking (representing the mean VO₂ from the last 2 minutes of the walking task, in ml. kg ⁻¹.min ⁻¹) was divided by the walking speed (m.min ⁻¹) to obtain the oxygen cost of walking in ml. kg ⁻¹.m ⁻¹. Values in ml. kg ⁻¹.m ⁻¹ were then converted into L. kg ⁻¹.m ⁻¹. The energy equivalent of oxygen (J.L ⁻¹) was used to convert the previously calculated oxygen cost of walking (L.kg ⁻¹.m ⁻¹) into J.kg ⁻¹.m ⁻¹ (Peronnet & Massicotte, 1991) to obtain a suitable ECW. This was done using the respiratory exchange ratio (RER) corresponding to the last 2 minutes of walking. These procedures are coherent with the literature for moderate-intensity exercise, with the advantage of considering substrates metabolized during exercise (Fletcher et al., 1999). Measurements were considered valid if the oxygen steady-state and RER values were less than one during the last two min of walking. Good test-retest reliability for the ECW was observed in a sample of 43 participants (including 20 older adults): Intraclass Correlation Coefficient = 0.86 and Coefficient of Variation = 3.4% (Gaesser et al., 2018).

Procedure

Before the training, all participants had a medical visit performed by a geriatrician to collect clinical data and ensure they could participate safely in a physical training program. Participants completed pre-intervention cognitive measures and questionnaires measuring NAS, SPA, and sense of competency in performing cognitive and physical tasks. They also underwent the IAT-ageism computerized task to measure implicit NAS. All NAS and SPA measures were administered after cognitive tests to prevent the potential activation of stereotypes that could interfere with performance. Participants were randomized into one of three training (COG). A research assistant trained in neuropsychology supervised the cognitive training, while a licensed kinesiologist supervised the aerobic and gross motor abilities training. During the research study, participants were given clear instructions about maintaining the same life habits. After completing the intervention program, participants were assessed for cognition, fitness, and NAS endorsement. In total, participants underwent a 12-week program, including 36 sessions lasting 60 minutes three times weekly.

Interventions

Gross motor abilities intervention. This training was based on a protocol from Pothier et al. (2021) study. The training targeted balance and agility abilities and aimed at improving coordination. Each of the three sessions included a ten-minute low-intensity walking exercise on a treadmill with increasing difficulty up to a speed of 4 km/h with a 1% incline. After the warm-up, each session of the week had its specific focus for 30 minutes: one session prioritized locomotion and lower body coordination, a second session targeted balance, and the last session prioritized hand-eye coordination, such as throwing or aiming. The difficulty level increased as the intervention progressed, combining multiple skills simultaneously (coordination, balance, agility). All sessions concluded with 5 minutes of stretching to increase body flexibility and to let participants cool down.

Aerobic intervention. This training was designed by Pothier et al. (2021) to increase cardiorespiratory fitness by alternating between high-intensity intervals and moderate-intensity continuous sessions. All sessions followed the same warm-up protocol so that participants completed 10 minutes at 50% of their maximal aerobic power (MAP). In high-intensity interval

sessions, participants performed two sets of 5 minutes of high-intensity interval (including a twominute rest in-between sets) alternating between 15 s bouts of cycling (LifeFitness, Kinequip, St-Hubert, Quebec) at intensities corresponding to 100% of participants' MAP, with 15 s recovery at 60%. Moderate-intensity sessions included 20 minutes of continuous cycling at 65 % MAP. Every session concluded with 10 minutes of cool-down at 50% of their MAP. As the intervention progressed, the exercise intensity was increased according to each participant's MAP by 5% each month. Therefore, all participants increased to 75% MAP in the moderate-intensity section by the end of the training protocol and to 110% MAP high-intensity section.

Cognitive intervention. This training took place in a quiet room, with participants seated in front of an individual tablet equipped with a web-based computerized neuropsychological battery. The training included a Dual-task, Stroop, and N-Back, three tasks targeting executive functions. Instructions, difficulty manipulation, and individualized feedback were provided to optimize performance, with difficulty levels increasing throughout the 12-week intervention. Each training session was composed of 20 minutes of each of the following three tasks for which participants were instructed to answer as fast as they could without making mistakes:

The Dual-Task paradigm (Lussier et al., 2020). Involves performing two different tasks alone or concomitantly. This task requires the discrimination of three stimuli by pressing the corresponding button with the left thumb or/and discriminating three others with the right thumb. Stimuli were presented in visual or auditive modalities and included fruits vs. means of transportation, letters vs. numbers, or sound vs. beeps. Following two training sessions, participants were required to prioritize one hand over the other during the dual-task condition to increase the difficulty level and maximize training effects.

The Stroop task. Involves familiarization, reading, counting, inhibiting, and switching, five conditions which were also used at pre- and post-intervention sessions. However, different stimuli (letters and symbols vs. numbers) were presented to prevent a training effect on post-test intervention testing.

The n-back task. Involves the sequenced presentation of either a group of nine consonants or six symbols. Participants were asked to indicate if the current stimuli matched the one from one to three steps before the sequence. Stimuli were presented in visual and auditive modalities concomitantly, and two buttons (a top button for "is the same" and a bottom button for "is different") were displayed on the right side of the tablet so that participants could answer using only their right thumb. During the first month of training, only one and two steps back were administered, the three steps back condition was incorporated at the beginning of the second month, and for the third month, only two and three steps back were administered.

Randomization Process

Participants' confidential information linking their identity to data was kept in a password-protected computerized file, which only the study coordinator had access to. To reach equivalence for age, education level, and gender at baseline, a random sequence was generated using SPSS. Then it alternated each participant until the training groups reached equivalence within a 95% confidence interval. Participants were aware of the three training groups and knew they would not be able to choose their assignment. After completing pre-intervention tests, they were informed of their placement within their group. Evaluators at pre- and post-intervention

testing were blind to the participants' group assignment, and trainers were not involved in the pre-and post-intervention testing sessions.

The Sample of Participants Analyzed

Sixty-one participants were included in the analysis among the 73 participants eligible at baseline. For four participants, drop-outs occurred due to changes in their health or physical condition; two dropped out for personal reasons (e.g., travel time, high frequency of training), one was excluded due to too many absences, two dropped out during pre-intervention testing or after the first training, and three for unknown reasons (see figure 2). To be included in the final analysis, participants needed to have attended at least 75% of the training sessions. All analyses were completed with the entire data set, including 61 participants.

Transparency and Openness

We have disclosed the process by which we determined our sample and described all data exclusions, manipulations, and measures in this study. To the best of our knowledge, our analysis only included participants that met inclusion criteria and were free from any exclusion criteria. Deidentified data and analysis can be made available upon request. Stimulus materials and protocols are copyright protected and cannot be provided.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS 20 for Windows. Kurtosis and skewness were assessed for all variables and normality was investigated by the evaluation of the Q-Q plots and histograms Extreme scores were screened using the outliers labeling rule with a factor of 2.2 (Hoaglin & Iglewicz, 1987). Only one observation was randomly missing at baseline for ECW, which was replaced by the mean of the entire sample (Lachaud & Renaud, 2010).

Split Plot repeated measures ANOVAs were used to explore the effect of the three training groups on NAS and SPA measures (ATOA, FSA, and IAT), with time (pre-post) as the within-subject factor and interventions as the between-subject factor. Eta squared are reported as effect sizes. GDS was close to being statistically significant between groups at baseline and is conceptually associated with SPA, with a correlation of r (58) = -.413, p=.001 between the two measures. GDS was included as a covariate in the model in the form of a standardized score to explore if a change in SPA covaried with a change in GDS. Correlations were used to investigate potential associations between NAS variables, cognitive (BVMT-R, MoCA), fitness measures (VO₂Peak and ECW), and training attendance (number of sessions attended). Linear regressions were used to investigate whether a change in fitness or cognition would predict a change in NAS or SPA. Change scores were calculated by transforming the data into standardized z scores.

Results

Baseline Data

All three groups were equivalent in demographic characteristics, screening measures, and baseline NAS and SPA endorsement (see table 1). No group differences were observed for baseline cognitive abilities, except visuospatial memory, with participants in the Aerobic group performing 2 points lower than the Gross Motor Abilities group.

Table 1

Baselille descriptive	e values (illea	ns of percentag	ge, standard de	viations)		
Characteristic	All sample <i>N=</i> 61	AE n=20	GMA <i>n</i> =22	COG <i>n</i> =19	F or χ^2	р
Age	70.42 (5.03)	69.4 (5.53)	71.08 (3.79)	70.71 (6.02)	.684	.51
Education level (years)	17.02	17.56	17.05	16.53	.32	.73
	(4.00)	(4.37)	(4.27)	(3.64)		
Male (%)	34.43	25.00	27.27	52.63	$\chi^{2}=$ 5.92	.02
Attendance	33,15 (2.02)	33.50 (1.54)	33.00 (2.41)	33.21 (2.15)	.26	.77
MMSE	28.46 (1.21)	28.83 (.92)	28.30 (1.30)	28.21 (1.18)	2.08	.13
MoCA ST	26.38 (2.53)	26.72 (2.47)	26.15 (2.68)	26.16 (2.67)	.40	.67
Visuospatial Memory	6.69 (3.07)	5.94 (2.92)	7.90 (3.06)	6.05 (3.17)	3.15	.05
Processing speed	58 (11.81)	59.61 (11.60)	58.40 (11.75)	54.89 (11.86)	.96	.39
Working memory	17.43 (3.96)	17.72 (3.83)	17.20 (3.69)	17.37 (4.30)	.00	.10
Abstract verbal Reasoning	24.72 (4.71)	25.50 (2.96)	25.50 (5.75)	23.32 (4.96)	1.28	.29
ΑΤΟΑ	4.54 (1.54)	4.72 (1.23)	4.40 (1.73)	4.74 (1.52)	.93	.40
FSA	54.62 (8.75)	55.50 (9.29)	54.10 (9.41)	55.32 (8.12)	.10	.91
IAT (z)	.7572 (.4549)	.7454 (.3894)	.7253 (.4760)	.8343 (.4943)	.45	.64
GDS	4.77	2.3	5.86	6.11	3.14	.051

Baseline descriptive values (means or percentage, standard deviations)

(5.57) (2.45) (5.31) (7.36)

Abbreviations: MMSE=Mini Mental State Examination; MoCA ST= Montreal Cognitive Assessment with the level of education; ATOA= Attitudes Towards Own Aging; FSA= The Fraboni Scale of Ageism; IAT= Implicit-Association Test reported in *z* score; GDS= Geriatric Depression Scale.

Intervention Effects on the NAS Outcomes

Repeated measures analysis of variance. SPA as measured by the ATOA statistically improved with time, $F_{(1,58)} = 4,29$, p=.043, $\eta^2 = .069$, but did not show a group*time interaction, $F_{(1,58)} = 2.69$, p= .077, $\eta^2 = .085$. This could indicate that all three groups improved in SPA after training. However, a closer look at the means showed a tendency for the physical training groups to improve (GMA_{pre}=4.1, GMA_{post}=4.8; AE_{pre}=4.8, AE_{post}=5.3), whereas the cognitive group slightly declined (COG_{pre}=4.7, COG_{post}=4.6). Once GDS was added as a covariate in the model, SPA still significantly improved with time $F_{(1,58)} = 5.69$, p=.020, $\eta^2 = .091$, and did not statistically covary with GDS change $F_{(1,58)} = 3.07$, p=.085, $\eta^2 = .051$. Explicit NAS (FSA) did not improve statistically over time $F_{(1,58)} =$, p=.69, $\eta^2 = .003$, and was equivalent between groups $F_{(2,58)} = 1.534$, p=.22, $\eta^2 = .05$. Similar results were obtained on the implicit measure of NAS (IAT), which did not show a time effect, $F_{(1,53)} = .740$, p= .39, $\eta^2 = .014$, or group difference $F_{(2,53)} = .250$, p=.78, $\eta^2 = .009$.

Visuospatial memory delayed as measured by the BVMT-R statistically improved with time and by group, $F_{1,57}(3.166) p=.05 \eta^2=.100$, just as the MoCA $F_{1,56}(3.162) p=.05 \eta^2=.101$. ECW improved with time and by group, $F_{1,57}(4.872) p=.01 \eta^2=.146$ as well as Vo2Peak, $F_{1,58}(5.378) p=.007 \eta^2=.156$.

Correlations and regressions. Correlations were nonsignificant between SPA and demographic variables, including age (r=.081, p=.535), sex (r=.127, p=.329) and education (r=.64, p=.627). Subsequent analysis showed no significant interaction between baseline SPA and fitness measures (VO₂Peak r= -.059, p=.65; ECW r= -.16, p= 0.22) and between change (pre-post) in SPA and change in fitness (VO₂Peak r= -.010, p=.942; ECW r= -.191, p=.14). Correlations were also nonsignificant between SPA and cognitive measure at baseline (MoCA r= -.109, p=.41; BVMT-R Delayed r= -.150, p=.25) or between change (pre-post) in SPA and change in cognition (MoCA r= -.040, p=.76; BVMT-R Delayed r= -.203, p=.12). Correlations showed no significant interaction between FSA, fitness measures at baseline (VO₂Peak r= .132, p=.31; ECW r=-.012, p=.93) and cognitive measures at baseline (MoCA r=-.115, p=.38; BVMT-R r= -.178, p=.17). Correlations were also not significant between IAT and fitness at baseline (VO₂Peak r=.027, p=.85; ECW r= -.21, p=.88) or cognition at baseline (MoCA r= -.16 p=.25; BVMT-R r= -.087, p=.52). When investigating the motivation, only change in ATOA and change in motivation to perform well at physical tests interacted significantly (r=.32, p=.015). More specifically, a change in value to perform correlated with a change in ATOA (r=.381, p=.003), but no change in perception of competency (r=.085, p=.52).

Simple linear regression showed that change in motivation to perform physical tests explained variance in ATOA change (β =.32, p=.015).



Figure 1. Results from the ANOVA, ATOA pre-post intervention

GMA=Gross Motor Ability training group; AE= Aerobic training group; COGN=Cognition training group

Figure 2. Results from the ANCOVA, ATOA pre-post intervention with GDS as a covariate



ATOA= Attitudes Towards Own Aging scale; GDS= Geriatric Depression Scale; GMA=Gross Motor Ability training group; AE= Aerobic training group; COGN=Cognition training group

Discussion

The first objective of the present study was to investigate the impact of two types of physical training (fitness and gross motor abilities) and cognitive training on NAS endorsement and SPA. The second objective was to study whether the improvements in SPA covaried with improvements in cognition and fitness outcomes. Hypotheses were that 1) SPA would improve and NAS endorsement would decrease among participants, and 2) SPA should improve as a function of better cognition or fitness.

Confirming the first hypothesis, SPA significantly improved from pre- to postintervention in all three groups, with a medium magnitude of time effect. Our results align with the emerging literature supporting physical exercise as an efficient intervention to enhance views of aging. In Klusmann et al. (2012), participants who underwent six months of aerobic endurance, strength, flexibility, balance, and coordination training, reported a decrease in aging dissatisfaction and increased motivation to exercise. The literature has shown the effectiveness of adding a psychological intervention targeting SPA to improve older adults' self-views, yielding to larger treatment effect results (Beyer et al., 2019; Knight et al., 2021). Our results suggest that in the absence of such psychological resources in the community, older adults could fairly see

their SPA improved just by exercising. Moreover, our study explored the relative impact of two different exercise types on SPA. Although this needs replication, our results suggest that cardiovascular-based and gross-motor-based programs could just be as efficient. Developing knowledge about different types of exercise could be relevant when considering older adults' interests and abilities.

Brothers and Diehl (2017) found the effectiveness of changing views of aging to promote increased physical activity. The authors based their intervention (Aging^{plus} program) on the literature supporting those negative views of aging appear modifiable (Kotter-Gruhn, 2015) and associated with physical health and behavioural performance. The literature indeed supports faster walking speed (Hausdorff et al., 1999), improved grip strength (Stephan et al., 2013), and increased exercise behaviour (Sarkisian et al., 2007; Wolff et al., 2014) in older adults holding more positive views of aging. Coherently, Emile et al. (2014) examined the effects of a walking program on stereotypes associated with exercise, quality of life, and health-related function of older sedentary women. They found that two weekly 45-minute supervised walking sessions for three months improved beliefs about the benefits of physical activity in older age, quality of life, and perceived physical value and competence. These findings could be coherent with our results, showing an association between increased intrinsic motivation to perform physical tasks and better SPA without having a link between improved fitness and better SPA. The psychological benefit of exercising may be enlightening to enhance views of aging. These results support an association between improved SPA and exercising behaviours, which suggests that exercise has the potential to overcome subjective ageist bias and promote health in older adults.

Without being statistically significant, we observed that SPA improved in physical exercise groups, while participants in the cognitive training group remained stable over time. This observation motivates the necessity of investigating further the effects of cognitive training on SPA compared to exercising. Cognitive training is increasingly popular as a nonpharmacological intervention for improving cognition in healthy aging (van Balkom et al., 2020), particularly for working memory and reasoning skills (Klimova, 2016). Meta-analyses have also supported the efficacy of this type of training in improving cognitive functions in neurodegenerative diseases (Chandler et al., 2016; Dardiotis et al., 2018; Leung et al., 2015). Interestingly, computer-based cognitive training has been shown to improve one's perception of daily cognitive functioning, suggesting it may enhance cognitive self-efficacy in healthy older adults (Goghari & Lawlor-Savage, 2018). However, since most studies focus on the preservation of cognitive function, psychological implications remain an understudied area, despite an association between improved cognitive functions, healthier lifestyle, and greater well-being (Henry et al., 2015; Llewellyn et al., 2008; WHO, 2011). Well-being and self-perception are distinct constructs often associated together (Pinquart, 1998). Whereas self-perception is mainly linked to a cognitive evaluation of one's self and life, well-being can be defined as a positive evaluation of one's life associated with positive feelings, such as happiness. (Rosenberg, 1979; Kozma et al., 1991). Since older adults appear to benefit cognitively from such activity, developing a program targeting emotional improvement and well-being could be relevant.

Furthermore, even when there was no association between improvement in cognition (MoCA and visuospatial memory), and better SPA, future studies could target more specific cognitive skills hypothesized as contributing to poor self-views and stereotyping. For example, poor executive control was linked to the expression of stereotyping and behavioural discrimination (Payne, 2005). Executive control is the capacity to constrain thought processes

and behaviours to reach goals. It includes abilities with planning, monitoring behaviour, flexibility to coordinate behaviour in complex, new, or ambiguous situations; selecting the relevant information that facilitates one's goal while actively inhibiting information that interferes, and overriding automatic and impulsive responses when they do not match with goals (Baddeley, 1998; Norman & Shallice, 1986). It is possible that cognitive training targeting one or the other of these cognitive abilities could be efficient at reducing NAS and improving SPA.

In the present study, the implicit impact of physical or cognitive training as the only strategy was insufficient to improve NAS. Participants may have changed how they perceived their aging selves, but their views of older adults and aging, in general, appeared stable over time. In other words, participating in such training could potentially change how one perceives oneself, but not how one perceives older adults in the world around them. In this study, we were curious about the impact of experiencing abilities contradictory to NAS (e.g., engaging in physical activity is incoherent with a NAS suggesting frailty in older adults) to change NAS endorsement explicitly and implicitly.

However, in the process of stereotyping, different factors contribute to the adherence to stereotyping despite new experiences. Consistent with Weiner's attribution theory (Weiner, 1980, 1985, 2006), Brandt and Reyna (2011) explored the attributional component of stereotypes influencing attitudes and behaviours, including stability, locus (internal or external), and controllability. Anderson et al. (1996) proposed the stable qualities suggested by stereotypes, which may contribute to older adults viewing the stereotyped behaviours as chronic and difficult to extinguish. Swim and Sanna (1996) provided evidence of stereotypes' underlying stability. They suggested that when targets were successful on tasks consistent with a stereotype, the success was attributed to internal-stable causes, and when they were successful at a stereotype-inconsistent task, success was attributed to an unstable internal cause (Jackson et al., 1993; Swim & Sanna, 1996). It is possible that our participants may have attributed their cognitive or physical progress to the development of their abilities through training (internal-stable). In contrast, they could have interpreted improvement in other participants as dependable on their effort (internal-unstable).

Stereotypes may also involve internal versus external causes for older adults' group outcomes. In most cases, stereotypes imply characteristics internal to a group (e.g., frailty, sickness, decline, wisdom), resulting from a long-lasting learning process about group members, as suggested by the stereotype embodiment theory (Levy, 2009). Finally, stereotypes may convey controllable (e.g., the decline in aging is due to the NAS's lack of openness to new experiences) or uncontrollable causes (e.g., with aging comes decline) (Brandt & Reyna, 2011). Taken together, attributions may contribute to maintaining NAS despite new experiences such as physical or cognitive training. Age stereotype-based interventions involving direct psychoeducation about these attributions while providing reliable information about aging may promote positive perceptions of aging and enhance well-being and quality of life (see for a review Knight et al., 2021)

Conclusion

Persevering in ageist behaviours has been shown for decades to be detrimental at the individual and societal levels. Power imbalances prevent older adults from realizing their full potential and contributing to the great good. In 2016, the World Health Organization received a mandate to fight ageism. One field of research focused on policy and legal interventions to target

institutionalized ageism, and another targeted interventions at the individual level to change the self-perception of aging (SPA). The results of this paper show that older adults may develop better views of their aging process with training despite their NAS stable endorsement.

Developing a positive image of aging is coherent with the actual view of the aging process, which is a developmental one in nature. Interventions supporting this process at the individual level are necessary, and part of the social transformation needed in our societies. From an early age, people face phases where adjustments are required, linked to developmental tasks to undergo, promoting learning, change, and the continuity of life, which allows people the privilege of aging. By making older adults more aware and improving their perception, they could learn to navigate this developmental stage with more psychological empowerment, serenity, and well-being.

Funding

This study was funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR).

Reference

Anderson, C. A., Krull, D. S., & Weiner, B. (1996). Explanations: Processes and consequences.

In A. W. Kruglanksi & E. T. Higgins (Eds.) Social psychology: Handbook of basic

principles (pp. 271-296). New York: Guilford Press.

Ayalon, L., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2018). Contemporary perspectives on ageism. In J.L. Powell & S. Chen (Series Ed.), *International Perspectives on Aging: vol. 19. Introduction to the Section: Ageism-Concept and Origins* (pp. 1-8). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73820-8

Baddeley, A. (1998). The centrial executive: A concept and some misconceptions. *Journal of the international neuropsychological society*, *4* (5), 523-526. Doi:

10,1017/S135561779800513X

- Baltes, M. M., & Wahl, H.-W. (1992). The dependency-support script in institutions:
 Generalization to community settings. *Psychology and Aging*, 7(3), 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.7.3.409
- Barber, S. J., Mather, M., & Gatz, M. (2015). How stereotype threat affects healthy older adults' performance on clinical assessments of cognitive decline: The key role of regulatory fit. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 70, 891–900. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbv009.
- Benedict, R. H. B., Schretlen, D., Groninger, L., Dobraski, M., & Shpritz, B. (1996). Revision of the brief visuospatial memory test: Studies of normal performance, reliability, and validity. *Psychological Assessment*, 8(2), 145–153. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.8.2.145
- Benedict, R.H.B. (1997). Brief visuospatial memory test-revised. Odessa, Fla.: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Bennett, T., & Gaines, J. (2010). Believing what you hear: The impact of aging stereotypes upon the old. *Ductional gerontology*, *36* (5), 435-445. DOI:10.1080/03601270903212336
- Berryman, N., Bherer, L., Nadeau, S., Lauzière, S., Lehr, L., Bobeuf, F., Kergoat, M.J., Minh Vu, T.T., & Bosquet, L. (2013). Executive functions, physical fitness, and mobility in well-functioning older adults. *Experimental Gerontology*, 48(12), 1402–1409. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EXGER.2013.08.017
- Berryman, N., Bherer, L., Nadeau, S., Lauziere, S., Lehr, L., Bobeuf, F., Lussier, M., Kergoat,M.J., Minh Vu, T.T., & Bosquet, L. (2014). Multiple roads lead to Rome: combined high-

intensity aerobic and strength training vs. gross motor activities leads to equivalent improvement in executive functions in a cohort of healthy older adults. *Age, 36* (5). doi: 10.1007/s11357-014-9710-8.

- Beyer, A. K., Wolff, J. K., Freiberger, E., & Wurm, S. (2019). Are self-perceptions of ageing modifiable? Examination of an exercise programme with vs. without a self-perception of ageing-intervention for older adults. *Psychology and Health, 34*(6), 661-676. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2018.1556273
- Brandt, M. J., & Reyna, C. (2011). Stereotypes as attributions. Psychology of stereotypes, 47-80.
- Brothers, A., & Diehl, M. (2017). Feasibility and efficacy of the Aging Plus program: Changing views on ageing to increase physical activity. *Journal of Ageing and Physical Activity*, 25(3), 402-411. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2016-0039
- Bureš, V., Čech, P., Mikulecká, J., Ponce, D., & Kuca, K. (2016). The effect of cognitive training on the subjective perception of well-being in older adults. *PeerJ.* 21 (4): e2785. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2785.
- Chandler, M. J., Parks, A. C., Marsiske, M., Rotblatt, L. J., & Smith, G. E. (2016). Everyday impact of cognitive interventions in mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology Review*, 26(3), 225–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-016-9330-4
- Chalabaev, A., & Sarrazin, P. (2020). Putting individual motivations into societal context: The influence of social stereotypes in the physical activity domain. Ed. Gershon Tenenbaum, Robert C. Eklund chapter 2. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119568124.ch2

- Credé, M., Rupp, D. E., & Vodanovich, S. J. (April 2003). Ageism: Group differences and construct validity. Paper presented at the 18th annual conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Orlando, FL.
- Dardiotis, E., Nousia, A., Siokas, V., Tsouris, Z., Andravizou, A., Mentis, A. F.A., Florou, D., Messinis, L., & Nasios, G. (2018). Efficacy of computer-based cognitive training in neuropsychological performance of patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 20, 58–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2017.12.017
- Dionigi, R.A. (2015). Review article stereotypes of aging: Their effects on the health of older adults. *Journal of geriatrics, 2015*, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/954027
- Edwards, S.D., Ngcobo, H.S.B., Edwards, D.J., & Palavar, K. (2005). Exploring the relationship between physical activity, psychological well-being and physical self- perception in different exercise groups. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation, 27(1): 75-90
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (1995). In the mind of the actor: The structure of adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 21*, 215–225. doi:10.1177/0146167295213003
- Émile, M., Chalabaev, A., Pradier, C., Clément-Guillotin, C., Falzon, C., Colson, S. S., & d'Arripe-Longueville, F. (2014). Effects of supervised and individualized weekly walking on exercise stereotypes and quality of life in older sedentary females. *Science and Sports*, 29(3), 156-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scispo.2013.01.008

Erickson, K.I., Hillman, C., Stillman, C.M., Ballard, R.M., Bloodgood, B., Conroy, D.E., Powell, K.E., & 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. (2019). Physical Activity, Cognition, and Brain Outcomes: A Review of the 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.*, 51 (6), 1242-1251.
doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001936

- Eymar A.S., & Douglas, D.H. (2012). Ageism among health care providers and interventions to improve their attitudes toward older adults: an integrative review. *Journal of* gerontological nursing. 38 (5): 26-35.
- Fletcher, J.R., Esau, S.P., Macintosh, B.R. (2009). Economy of running: beyond the measurement of oxygen uptake. J. Appl. Physiol. 107 (6), 1918–1922. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00307.2009.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, Mchugh PR. (1975) "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res.*, *12*(3):189.
- Forberger, S., Bammann, K., Bauer, J., Boll, S., Bolte, G., Brand, T., Hein, A., Koppelin, F.,
 Lippke, S., Meyer, J., Pischke, C.R., Voelcker-Rehage, C., & Zeeb, H. (2017). How to
 Tackle Key Challenges in the Promotion of Physical Activity among Older Adults (65+):
 The AEQUIPA Network Approach. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 2017, *14*, 379.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14040379
- Fraboni, M., Saltstone, R., & Hughes, S. (1990). The Fraboni Scale of Ageism (FSA): An attempt at a more precise measure of ageism. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, *9*, 56-66.

- Gaesser, G.A., Tucker, W.J., Sawyer, B.J., Bhammar, D.M., Angadi, S.S. (2018). Cycling efficiency and energy cost of walking in young and older adults. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 124
- Goghari, V.M., & Lawlor-Savage, L. (2018). Self-perceived benefits of cognitive training in healthy older adults. *Frontier in Aging Neuroscience*, 10 (112).
 Doi:103389/fnagi.2018.00112
- Greenwald, A.G., Poehlman, T.A., Uhlmann, E.L & Banaji, M.R (2009). Understanding and Using the Implicit Association Test: III. Meta-Analysis of Predictive Validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97 (1), 17–41. DOI: 10.1037/a0015575
- Greenwald, A. G., and Nosek, B. A. (2001). Health of the Implicit Association Test at age 3. Zeitschnji fur Experimentelle Psychologie, 48.
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). Implicit social cognition: Attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*, A–21
- Greenwald, A. G., McGhee, D. E., & Schwartz, J. L. K. (1998). Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: The implicit association test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 1464-1480
- Hallal, P. C., Andersen, L. B., Bull, F. C., Guthold, R., Haskell, W., & Ekelund, U. (2012).
 Global physical activity levels: Surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. *The Lancet*, 380, 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60646-1

- Henry, J.D., Cowan, D.G., Lee, T., Sachdev, P.S. (2015). Recent trends in testing social cognition. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 28(2):133–140 DOI 10.1097/yco.00000000000139.
- Hoaglin, D.C., & Iglewicz, B. (1987). Fine tuning some resistant rules for outliers labeling. Journal of American Statistical Association, 82, 1147-1149.

Harridge, S.D.R., & Lazarus, N.R. (2017). Physical activity, aging, and physiological function. *Physiology*, 32, 152-161. Doi:10.1152/physiol.00029.2016

- Haslam, C., Morton, T. A., Haslam, S. A., Varnes, L., Graham, R., & Gamaz, L. (2012). "When the age is in, the wit is out": Agerelated self-categorization and deficit expectations reduce performance on clinical tests used in dementia assessment. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 778–784. doi:10.1037/a0027754
- Heaton, R.K., Taylor, M.J & Manly, J.J (2003). Demographic effects and use of demographically corrected norms with the WAIS-III and WMS-III. In D. Tulsky, R.K. Saklofske, G. Heaton, G. Chelune, R.A Ivnik, R.A. Bornstein, A. Prifitera, & M. Ledbetter (Eds), *Clinical interpretation of the WAIS-III and WMS-III* (pp. 183-210). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Gobet, F., & Sala, G. (2022). Cognitive Training: A Field in Search of a Phenomenon. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* Aug 8:17456916221091830. doi: 10.1177/17456916221091830.
- Hoppmann, C. A., Gerstorf, D., Smith, J., & Klumb, P. L. (2007). Linking possible selves and behavior: Do domain-specific hopes and fears translate into daily activities in very old

age? The Journals of Gerontology: Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 62(2), P104–P111. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/62.2.P104 (2), 414–420.

- Horton, S., Baker, J., Pearce, G. W., & Deakin, J. M. (2008). On the malleability of performance: Implications for seniors. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *27*, 446–465. doi:10.1177/0733464808315291
- Huggett, D.L., Connelly, D.M., & Overend, T.J. (2005). Maximal aerobic capacity testing of older adults: a critical review. J. Gerontol. Ser. A Biol.Med. Sci. 60 (1), 57-66.
- Hummert, M. L., & Ryan, E. B. (1996). Toward understanding variations in patronizing talk addressed to older adults: Psycholinguistic features of care and control. *International Journal of Psycholinguistics*, 12(2)[34], 149–169.
- Jackson, L. A. Sullivan, L. A., & Hodge, C.N. (1993). Stereotype effects on attributions, predictions, and evaluations: No two social judgments are quite alike. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65, 69-84.
- Joy, S.J., Kaplan, E., & Fein, D. (2003). Digit symbol-Incidental learning in the WAIS-III: Construct validity and clinical significance. *The clinical neuropsychologist*, 17, 182-194.
- Judd, C.M., & Park, B. (1993). Definition and Assessment of Accuracy in Social Stereotypes. *Psychological Review*, *100* (1), 109-128.
- Kim, E. S., Moored, K. D., Giasson, H. L., & Smith, J. (2014). Satisfaction with aging and use of preventive health services. *Preventive Medicine*, 69, 176–180. doi:10.1016/j. ypmed.2014.09.008

- Kleinspehn-Ammerlahn, A., Kotter-Grühn, D., & Smith, J. (2008). Self-perceptions of aging: do subjective age and satisfaction with aging change during old age? *Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 63, 377-385.
- Kornadt, A.E., & Rothermund, K. (2011). Context of aging: assessing evaluative age stereotypes in different life domains. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences* and Social Sciences, 66(5), 547–556.
- Kornadt, A.E., & Rothermund, K. (2012). Internalization of Age Stereotypes Into the Self-Concept via Future Self-Views: A General Model and Domain-Specific Differences. *Psychology and Aging*, 27 (1), 164-172. DOI: 10.1037/a0025110
- Kotter-Grühn, D. (2015). Changing negative views of aging: Implications for interventions and translational research. *Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics*. DOI: 10.1891/01980-8794.35.167
- Kotter-Grühn, D., Kleinspehn-Ammerlahn, A., Gerstorf, D., & Smith, J. (2009). Selfperceptions of aging predict mortality and change with approaching death: 16- year longitudinal results from the Berlin aging study. *Psychology and Aging*, *24*, 654-667. doi:10.1037/a0016510.
- Kozma, A., Stones, M. J., & McNeil, J. K. (1991). Psychological wellbeing in later life. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Butterworth.
- Klimova, B. (2016). Computer-based cognitive training in aging. *Front neurosci.*, 20, https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00313

- Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., & Heuser, I. (2012). Views on ageing and emotional benefits of physical activity: Effects of an exercise intervention in older women. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 13*(2), 236-242.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.11.001
- Knight, R.L., Chalabaev, A., McNarry, M.A., & Mackintosh, K.A. (2021). Do age stereotypebased interventions affect health-related outcomes in older adults? A systematic review and future directions. *British Journal of Health Psychology*. DOI: 10.1111/bjhp.12548
- Kwong See, S. , & Nicoladis, E. (2009). Impact of contact on the development of children's positive stereotyping about aging language competence. *Educational Gerontology*, 36, 52-66. doi:10.1080/0360127 0903018352
- Lachaud, C.M., & Renaud, O. (2010). A tutorial for analysing human reaction times: How to filter data, manage missing values, and choose a statistical model. *Applied psycholinguistics*, 32, 389-416. Doi:10.1017/S0142716410000457
- Lamont, R. A., Swift, H. J., & Abrams, D. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of age-based stereotype threat: Negative stereotypes, not facts, do the damage. *Psychology and Aging*, 30, 180–193. doi:10.1037/a0038586
- Lawton, M. P. (1975). The Philadelphia geriatric center morale scale: a revision. *Journal of Gerontology*, *30*, 85e89. doi:10.1093/geronj/30.1.85.

Le Couteur, D. G., Doust, J., Creasey, H., & Brayne, C. (2013). Political drive to screen for predementia: not evidence based and ignores the harms of diagnosis. *BMJ*, 347, f5125. doi:org/10.1136/bmj.f5125

Leung, I. H., Walton, C. C., Hallock, H., Lewis, S. J., Valenzuela, M., & Lampit, A. (2015).
Cognitive training in parkinson disease: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neurology*, 85(21), 1843-1851.
https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000002145

- Levin, O., Netz., & Ziv, G. (2017). The beneficial effects of different types of exercise interventions on motor and cognitive functions in older age: a systematic review. *Eur Rev Aging Phys Act. 14* (20). Doi: 10.1186/s11556-017-0189-z.
- Levy, B. (2009). Stereotype embodiment: A psychosocial approach to aging. *Current Directions in Psychological Science, 18,* 332–336. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01662.x
- Levy, B. (1996). Improving memory in old age through implicit self-stereotyping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71, 1092-1107
- Levy, B. (2003). Mind matters: Cognitive and physical effects of aging self-stereotypes. *Journal* of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences, 58B, 203-211
- Levy, B. R. & Bavishi, A. (2018). Survival advantage mechanism: Inflammation as a mediator of positive self-perceptions of aging on longevity. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 73, 409–412. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbw035

- Levy, B. R., Ferrucci, L., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., Troncoso, J., & Resnick, S. M. (2016). A culture-brain link: Negative age stereotypes predict Alzheimer's disease biomarkers. *Psychology and Aging*, 31, 82–88. doi:10.1037/pag0000062
- Levy, B. R., & Leifheit-Limson, E. (2009). The stereotype-matching effect: Greater influence on functioning when age stereotypes correspond to outcomes. *Psychology and Aging*, 24(1), 230–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014563
- Levy, B. R., Moffat, S., Resnick, S. M., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2016). Buffer against cumulative stress: Positive age self-stereotypes predict lower cortisol across 30 years. *Journal of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29, 141–146. doi:10.1024/1662–9647/a000149
- Levy, B. R. & Myers, L. M. (2004). Preventive health behaviors influenced by self-perceptions of aging. *Preventive Medicine*, 39, 625–629. Doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.029
- Levy, B. R., & Myers, L. M. (2005). Relationship between respiratory mortality and selfperceptions of aging. *Psychology & Health*, 20, 553–564. Doi:10.1080/14768320500066381
- Levy, B. R., Slade, M. D., & Kasl, S. V. (2002). Longitudinal benefit of positive selfperceptions of aging on functional health. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 57, P409–P417. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ geronb/57.5.
 P409

- Levy, B. R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2012). Memory shaped by age stereotypes over time. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(4), 432–436
- Levy, B. R., Zonderman, A. B., Slade, M. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2009). Age stereotypes held earlier in life predict cardiovascular events in later life. *Psychological Science*, 20, 296–298. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02298.x
- Llewellyn, D.J., Lang, I.A., Langa, K.M., Huppert, F.A. (2008). Cognitive function and psychological well-being: findings from a population-based cohort. *Age and Ageing* 37:685–689 DOI 10.1093/ageing/afn194.
- Lussier, M., Kathia, S., Vrinceanu, T., Hudon, C., Bherer, L. (2020). Normative data for a tabletbased dual-task assessment in healthy older adults. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology* (ACNP-2020-019.R1). Accepted in editing.
- Marchiondo, L. A., Gonzales, E., & Williams, L. J. (2017). Trajectories of perceived workplace age discrimination and long-term associations with mental, self-rated, and occupational health. [Epub ahead of print]. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*. doi:10.1093/geronb/ gbx095
- Marquez, D.X., Aguiñaga, S., Vásquez, P.M., Conroy, D.E., Erickson, K.I., Hillman, C.,
 Stillman, C.M., Ballard, R.M., Bloodgood Sheppard, B., Petruzzello, S.J., King, A.C., &
 Powell, K.E. (2020). A systematic review of physical activity and quality of life and wellbeing. *Transl Behav Med.* 10(5): 1098–1109. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibz198

- Meisner, B. A. (2012). A meta-analysis of positive and negative age stereotype priming effects on behavior among older adults. *Journal of Gerontology B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67, 13–17. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbr062
- Neugarten, B. L., Havighurst, R. J., & Tobin, S. S. (1961). The measurement of life satisfaction. Journal of Gerontology, 16, 134e143. doi:10.1093/geronj/16.2.134.
- Norman, M.A., Moore, D.J., Taylor, M., Franklin Jr. D., Cysique, L., Ake, Lazaretto, D., Vaida, F., Heaton, R.K., & the HNRC Group (2011). Demographically Corrected Norms for African Americans and Caucasians on the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-Revised, Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised, Stroop Color and Word Test, and Wisconsin Card Sorting Test 64-Card Version. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 33*(7): 793–804. doi:10.1080/13803395.2011.559157.
- Norman, D.A., Shallice, T. (1986). Attention to Action. In: Davidson, R.J., Schwartz, G.E., Shapiro, D. (eds) Consciousness and Self-Regulation. Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-0629-1_1
- Payne, B. K. (2005). Conceptualizing Control in Social Cognition: How Executive Functioning Modulates the Expression of Automatic Stereotyping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(4), 488–503. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.4.488
- Peronnet, F., Massicotte, D. (1991). Table of nonprotein respiratory quotient: an update. *Can. J. Sport Sci. 16* (1), 23–29. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1645211.
- Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine, 256,* 183–194. Doi: 101111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x

- Pinquart, M. (1998). Das Selbstkonzept im Seniorenalter [Self-concept in old age]. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz.
- Pothier, K., Vrinceanu, T., Intzandt, B., Bosquet, L., Karelis, A.D., Lussier,...Bherer, L. (2021). A comparison of physical exercise and cognitive training interventions to improve determinants of functional mobility in healthy older adults. *Experimental Gerontology*. *149*:111331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2021.111331
- Purdie-Vaughns, V., Steele, C.M., Davies, P.G., Ditlmann, R., Crosby, J.R. (2008). Social identity contingencies: How diversity cues signal threat or safety for African Americans in mainstream institutions. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 94(4):615–30
- Rahhal, T.A., Hasher, L., & Colcombe, S.J. (2001). Instructional Manipulation and Age Differences in Memory: Now You See Them, Now You Don't. *Psychology and Aging*, *16* (4), 697-706. Doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.16.4.697.
- Robb, C., Chen, H., & Haley, W.E. (2002). Ageism in mental health and health care: a critical review. *Journal of clinical gerontology*. 8, 1-12
- Roscigno, V.J., Mong, S., Byron, R., & Tester, G. (2007). Age discrimination, social closure and employment. *Social forces*. *86* (1): 313-334

Rosenberg, M. (1979). Conceiving the self. New York: Basic Books

Ryan, J.J., Sattler, J.M. & Lopez, S.J. (2000). Age effects on Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III subtests. Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 15, 311-317.

- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2012). The relationship between change in self-perceptions of aging and physical functioning in older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 27, 750–760. doi:10.1037/a0027578
- Sarkisian, C.A., Prohaska, T.R., David, C., & Weiner, B. (2007). Pilot test of an attribution retraining intervention to raise walking levels in sedentary older adults. *Journal of the American geriatrics society*, 55 (11), 1842-1846. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01427.x
- Sattler, J. M., & Ryan, J. J. (2009). Assessment with the WAIS-IV. Jerome M Sattler Publisher.
- Sindi, S., Fiocco, A.J., Juster, R-P., Pruessner, J. & Lupien, S.J. (2013). When we test, do we stress? Impact of the testing environment on cortisol secretion and memory performance in older adults. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38 (8), 1388-1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.004
- Spencer, S.J., Logel, C., & Davies, P.G. (2016). Stereotype Threat. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67, 415-437. Doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235
- Steele, C. M. (2010). Whistling Vivaldi: And other clues to how stereotypes affect us (Issues of our time). New York, NY: Norton.
- Stephan, Y., Chalabaev, A., Kotter-Grühn, D., & Jaconelli, A. (2013). "Feeling Younger, Being Stronger": An Experimental Study of Subjective Age and Physical Functioning Among Older Adults, *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 68 (1), 1–7, https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs037

- Swim, J. K., & Sanna, L. J. (1996). He's skilled, she's lucky: A meta-analysis of observers' attributions for women's and men's successes and failures. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22, 507.
- Tam, J.W., & Schmitter-Edgecombe, M. (2013). The role of processing speed in the brief visuospatial memory-test-revised. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 27 (6), 962-972. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2013.797500
- van Balkom, T.D., van den Heuvel, O.A., Berendse, H.W., van der Werf, Y.D., & Vriend, C.
 (2020). The Effects of Cognitive Training on Brain Network Activity and Connectivity in Aging and Neurodegenerative Diseases: a Systematic Review. *Neuropsychol Rev 30*, 267–286. Doi. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-020-09440-w
- Weiner, B. (1980). A cognitive (attribution)-emotion-action model of motivated behavior: An analysis of judgments of help-giving. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39, 186-200.
- Weiner, B. (1985). An attributional theory of achievement motivation and emotion. *Psychological Review*, 92, 548-573.
- Weiner, B. (2006). Social motivation, justice, and the moral emotions. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- Westerhof, G. J., Miche, M., Brothers, A. F., Barrett, A. E., Diehl, M., Montepare, J. M., Wahl, H-W., & Wurm, S. (2014). The influence of subjective aging on health and longevity: A meta-analysis of longitudinal data. *Psychology and Aging*, 29(4), 793–802. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038016

- Wood, G., Wilkinson, A., & Harcourt, M. (2008). Age discrimination and working life:
 Perspectives and contestations-a review of the contemporary literature. *International journal management reviews*, 10 (4), 425-442. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2008.00236.x
- World Health Organization (2011). Mental health: a state of well-being. http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental health/en/
- Willis, S.L., Tennstedt, S.L., Marsiske, M., Ball, K., Elias, J., Koepke, K.M., Morris, J.N.,
 Rebok, G.W., Unverzagt, F.W., Stoddard, A.M., Wright, E., & ACTIVE Study Group.
 (2006). Long-term effects of cognitive training on everyday functional outcomes in older adults. *JAMA*, 296(23), 2805-14. DOI: 10.1001/jama.296.23.2805.
- Wit, L.D., Kirton, J.W., O'Shea, D.M., Szymkowicz, S.M., McLaren, M.E. & Dotson, V.M
 (2017) Effects of Body Mass Index and Education on Verbal and NonVerbal Memory. *Aging Neuropsychol and Cogn.*, 24 (3): 256–263. Doi: 10.1080/13825585.2016.1194366.
- Wolff, J.K., Warner, L.M., Ziegelmann, J.P., & Wurm, S. (2014). What do targeting positive views on ageing add to a physical activity intervention in older adults? Results from a randomised controlled trial, *Psychology & Health, 29* (8), 915-932, DOI: 10.1080/08870446.2014.896464
- Wout, D., Shih, M.J., Jackson, J.S., Sellers, R.M. (2009). Targets as perceivers: how people determine when they will be negatively stereotyped. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 96(2):349–62

- Wurm, S., & Benyamini, Y. (2014). Optimism buffers the detrimental effect of negative selfperceptions of ageing on physical and mental health. *Psychology & Health, 29*(7), 832–848.
- Wurm, S., Tesch-Römer, C., & Tomasik, M. J. (2007). Longitudinal findings on aging-related cognitions, control beliefs, and health in later life. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(3), P156–P164
- Wurm, S., Tomasik, M. J., & Tesch-Römer, C. (2010). On the importance of a positive view on ageing for physical exercise among middle-aged and older adults: cross-sectional and longitudinal findings. *Psychology & Health, 25*, 25e42.
 doi:10.1080/08870440802311314.
- Xu, F., Rhodes, E.C. (1999). Oxygen uptake kinetics during exercise. *Sports Med.* 27 (5), 313–327. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-199927050-00003.
- Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1983). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 17 (1), 37-49.

Integrated Discussion

This chapter will summarize the two research projects composing this thesis, with results, strengths, and limitations to be discussed within theoretical and empirical literature. This section will also reflect on implications for mental health and neuropsychology, and social strategies for better aging will be addressed. Finally, specific contributions to advancing knowledge in the aging field with recommendations for future research projects are presented.

Summary of the Two Research Projects

Both articles fall within the context of promoting better aging, including access to reliable health sector services and intervention options supporting adjustments and well-being in older years. Therefore, the first set of objectives related to improving older adults' cognitive assessment by 1) exploring the implicit and explicit NAS and SPA on older adults' performance on clinical tests and 2) studying the relationship between NAS and SPA, and visuospatial memory and processing speed. The second set of objectives related to intervention and included 3) investigating the impact of two types of physical training (fitness and gross-motor abilities) and cognitive training on NAS endorsement and SPA, and 4) studying whether any improvements in NAS and SPA would covary with improvement in cognition attributed to physical or cognitive training. The hypotheses were 1) higher implicit/explicit NAS would negatively correlate with cognitive tests scores, whereas better SPA and better self-perceived competency of cognitive performance would correlate positively with cognitive tests scores; 2) Implicit/explicit NAS would predict cognitive tests scores including negative effect sizes whereas SPA would predict cognitive scores with positive effect sizes; 3) Explicit and implicit NAS would explain variance in cognitive scores after controlling for demographic measures (age and education), cognitive abilities known as contributing to the cognitive score and selfrelevance (self-perceived competency and the degree of which the individual values cognitive performance), 4) through training, SPA would improve and NAS endorsement would decrease among participants, and 5) SPA would improve as a function of better cognition or fitness.

Confirming the hypotheses, results from the first study showed that 1) higher explicit NAS negatively correlated with verbal and visuospatial memory and processing speed, 2) explicit NAS predicted processing speed after controlling for age, education, cognitive abilities and perception of competency, 3) explicit NAS predicted delayed visuospatial memory after accounting for age and education, and 4) Implicit NAS predicted verbal memory after accounting for explicit NAS. However, SPA had no relationship with any cognitive scores. Results from the second study aligned with our hypothesis, which suggested that a 3-month regimen of either training type would lead to improvements in SPA. On the other hand, NAS remained stable, contrary to our expectations. Finally, SPA improvements were independent of better fitness and cognition, limiting the interpretation drawn from the link between improved SPA and training.

Investigating the Effects of Negative Aging Stereotypes on Older Adults' Cognitive Performance: Methodology, Results, and Future Directions

Participants were tested in a realistic clinical environment, promoting performance while aligning with professionals' ethics. This included considerations for the physical milieu, therapeutic alliance, and use of standardized clinical measures of cognition. This was important to address limitations in the generalization of research to clinical settings and the underlying assumptions that clinical measures could be protected from NAS effects. Clinicians would avoid

making comments triggering stress in their examinees and use tests rarely included in this field of research.

The results further support and extend findings coming from the literature. Higher levels of NAS did interfere not only with performance on clinical verbal memory measures but also with clinical tests of processing speed and visuospatial memory, even once controlling for age and education. Research has extensively targeted verbal memory performance as an area vulnerable to NAS threat. Furthermore, to our knowledge, exploring how NAS related with clinical measures was rarely done in research. However, our results align with the literature supporting that NAS impedes performance in various cognitive domains. Not only in Memory (Armstrong et al., 2017; Chasteen et al., 2005; Kang & Chasteen, 2009) but also in non-specific cognitive tasks such as math tests (Abrams et al., 2008), crossword tasks (Swift et al., 2013), letter cancellation task (Popham & Hess, 2013) and block design task (Hehman & Bugental, 2013). Furthermore, NAS was shown to interfere with physical tasks, such as walking speed, flexibility (Horton et al., 2010) and grip strength (Lamont, 2011; Swift et al., 2012), or skills acquisition, such as learning to use a new computer-based library cataloging system (Fritzsche et al., 2009), driving skills (Joanisse et al., 2013) and screening measures (Mazerolle et al., 2016). Findings on Working memory are relatively mixed (Armstrong et al., 2017), although here again, this domain was understudied compared to memory. However, many studies did find that NAS activation reduced working memory performance in older adults (Fernandez-Ballesteros et al., 2015; Hess & Hinson, 2006), whereas other studies did not show such impediment (Hess et al., 2009; Popham & Hess, 2015). In the case of our research, NAS endorsement did not show to be related to participants' working memory performance.

According to Forbes's model of stereotype threat processes, stereotype activation during the performance could affect controlled processing due to elevated physiological response, increased task monitoring, and attempts to suppress negative emotion. Consequently, cognition is depleted, and working memory capacity and the ability to perform tasks requiring controlled processing are thought to be reduced (Lamont et al., 2015). According to this model, when a stereotype is activated, a cascade of events co-occurs, reducing cognitive resources for the task at hand.

Unfortunately, preventing all stereotype threats from happening in social interaction and a social milieu may not be realistic. Our results suggest that a threat can occur in older adults despite examiners' good intentions and professional behaviours in session. Here, there was no need to intentionally trigger a stereotype in older adults to see their performance impeded. People's endorsement of long-lasting negative beliefs about aging was enough. However, an unintended threat may have been present since they are hypothesized to arise from any situational cue indicative of one's risk of being judged based on negative stereotypes about their social identity. Even when a target of the threat is unaware of the source of the threat (Steele, 1997), when one's group identity, a social context in which the stigma is present, self-relevant, and could be confirmed, is enough to interfere with the individual's performance (Steele & Aronson, 1995). As Steele (1997) suggested, stereotypes are "in the air," invisible, but always present. It is reasonable to hypothesize that being evaluated on cognitive abilities and competencies constitutes a setting favourable to triggering a threat for older adults. As Lamont et al. (2015) suggested, since ageism toward older people is widely accepted and endemic in subtle forms (Nelson, 2002), it may be challenging to distinguish intentions behind actions toward older people. Even at the hands of well-intentioned people, older adults may be at risk of being cued

with NAS. Research has already reported the impeding effect of using patronizing voices on older adults' well-being (Draper, 2005) and how NAS activation could increase help-seeking behaviours, thus creating more dependency in social interactions (Coudin & Alexopoulos, 2010).

Although more research is needed, it appears that in its various forms, a combination of older adults' internalized NAS, subtle cues coming from the clinical setting, and professionals' own NAS endorsement combined are at risk of negatively impacting older individuals' performance during a cognitive assessment. It is, therefore, crucial in future studies to extend on types of interventions that have shown promising results in reducing threats during a performance.

Stereotype threat interventions. Most laboratory interventions have worked to reduce the effect of stereotype threat with reconstrual intervention, coping interventions, or creating identity-safe environments (Spencer et al., 2016).

The reconstrual intervention. This intervention reduces stereotype threat by leading the individual to perceive a lower threat level. Altering the description of a test is a way that has shown a reduced threat reflected in performance. For example, when students participating in a mathematics class were told that the test did not show gender differences, women's performance improved significantly (Good et al., 2008).

In aging, presenting a memory task as an orientation task or an age-fair task also improved memory performance (Bouazzaoui et al., 2015; Desrichard & Köpetz, 2005; Mazerolle et al., 2012). However, providing a false test description may not always be practical in the real world (Spencer et al., 2016). Another way to change individuals' perception of a threat is the reconstrual of their experience. This can be reached by helping people to reappraise their anxiety (Johns et al., 2008), by linking stereotype traits with positive abilities (Kray et al., 2002), or by reminding characteristics shared with the nonthreatened group (Rosenthal & Crisp, 2006; Rosenthal et al., 2007). However, this type of intervention assumes individuals' good insight and stereotype awareness, and it is suggested that threats can occur without awareness and perceived stress in examinees (Schmader et al., 2008). Despite these limitations, reconstrual manipulation showed promising results for reducing underperformance in women (Good et al., 2008), black students (Aronson et al., 2002; Walton & Cohen, 2007), and older adults (Bouazzaoui et al., 2015; Desrichard & Köpetz, 2005; Mazerolle et al., 2012).

Coping interventions. This type of intervention can provide examinees with tools to address stress during the performance. For instance, educating people about stereotype threats and the illegitimacy of stereotypes could restore performance (Johns et al., 2005). Self-affirmation reached by stating values or self-attributes before a stressful task could help restore self-integrity (Steele, 1988) and improve performance (Sherman et al., 2013). Self-affirmation training among older adults was shown to be effective in reducing negative emotions and enhancing self-integrity (Dang et al., 2021).

Similarly, Follenfant and Atzeni (2020) have provided promising results of individuation intervention to alleviate stereotype threat in the clinical assessment of memory. Before a memory task, the participants completed a questionnaire about themselves (e.g., leisure activities, values, and personality traits). This individuation intervention allowed participants to disconnect the self from their aging identity and memory performance, promoting their results.

The creation of identity-safe environments. This means the modification of a physical and relational milieu to alleviate threats. This was done by facilitating positive contact with members of the majority group (Walton et al., 2014) and by providing role models of successful group members (Drury et al., 2011; Shaffer et al., 2013), or by having group members administer the test (McGlone et al., 2006). Although for decades, psychosocial researchers have identified novelty, unpredictability, low sense of control, and threat to one's ego as four situational determinants eliciting physiological stress in an environment (Dickerson & Kemeny, 2004; Mason, 1968; Sindi et al., 2013). In cognitive aging, these situational determinants may be experienced differently by younger and older individuals (Lupien et al., 2007). Familiarity with testing location, same-age examiners, morning schedule for testing, and adapting task instructions showed decreased stress levels and better memory performance in older adults (Sindi et al., 2013). In our study, results suggest that NAS was negatively related with performance despite creating a safe environment for identity. However, the examiners were indeed younger adults who could have threatened the participants' egos. Future intervention studies could target this aspect, as age is not a manipulable variable, thus not generalizable to clinical settings.

Recommendations. Neuropsychologists can provide an in-depth understanding of the interplay between brain and behaviour relationships, social skills, and personality functioning. Measures of anxiety and mood states are routinely part of the neuropsychological battery in which qualitative information is also noted, such as level of motivation, alertness, and collaboration in sessions. This information is essential to provide a psychological context and to prevent misdiagnosing cognitive impairments due to an undetected temporary state of depression, mild psychiatric conditions, lack of motivation, or acute stress during testing (Sachdev et al., 2013). Given the extensive findings on the impact of NAS on cognitive performance and considering our results, we argue that NAS should be added to the battery when testing older adults. This questionnaire should be included at the very end of the assessment to prevent triggering NAS before a performance. Finally, stereotype threats should be assumed to occur in the testing room, despite all means deployed to offer a safe environment. Mental health professionals working with older adults would benefit from developing intervention skills to address these NAS.

Exercising your Perception of Aging: Methodology, Results, and Futures Directions

In this project, improved SPA did not mean making participants feel, look or be younger but was defined as developing a more realistic view of one's life at this given stage of aging (Kotter-Grühn, 2015). A perception that would distance from social views of aging, which are most stereotyped and handicapping. Aging is a developmental phase that includes various trajectories. Socially shared beliefs about aging lead people to narrow their perceptions of aging, with expected decrementing, limiting, and declining courses. The objective was to provide older adults with an experience of health-related behaviours and empowerment through interventions, not *despite* their age but *with* their age and their life courses. Of course, physical or cognitive intervention programs aiming at challenging NAS and improving SPA need to be replicable, accessible, and practicable if they were to be offered in the community. Our interventions were built to be engaging to older adults and represent a space in which they could experience empowerment, health, and well-being. The format also included frequency, intensity, and length of training, as well as measures of improvement over time, based on methodologies developed in exercise science and psychology of cognition. If SPA did not interfere with cognitive performance, it was the measure improved by the training, despite unchanged NAS endorsement. SPA tended to improve in physical exercise groups and to remain stable in the cognitive training group without a statistically significant group effect. Our results align with the emerging literature supporting an association between improved SPA and exercising behaviours (Brothers & Diehl, 2017; Hausdorff et al., 1999; Klusmann et al., 2012; Stephan et al., 2013; Wolff et al., 2014), which suggests that exercise has the potential to overcome subjective ageist bias and promote health in older adults. Furthermore, our study explored the relative impact of two different exercise types on SPA. Although this needs replication, our results suggest that cardiovascular-based and gross-motor-based programs could be as efficient. Developing knowledge about different types of exercise could be relevant when considering older adults' interests and abilities.

Without being statistically significant, we observed a tendency in which SPA improved in physical exercise groups while it remained stable over time in the cognitive training group. The idea that cognitive training may extend the targeted improved cognitive domain in non-trained domains remains highly contested. Still, cognitive training is a progressively popular non-pharmacological intervention for improving cognition in neurodegenerative diseases (Chandler et al., 2016; Dardiotis et al., 2018; Leung et al., 2015) and healthy aging (van Balkom et al., 2020), particularly for working memory and reasoning skills (Klimova, 2016). Interestingly, cognitive training has been shown to improve one's perception of daily cognitive functioning, suggesting it may enhance the psychological component of cognitive self-efficacy in healthy older adults (Goghari & Lawlor-Savage, 2018). However, since most of the studies focus on the preservation of cognitive function, psychological implications remain an understudied area, despite an association existing between improved cognitive functions and healthier lifestyle, and greater well-being (Henry et al., 2015; Llewellyn et al., 2008; World Health Organization, 2011).

Psychological intervention in older age. Many intervention studies with older people in clinics, communities, and nursing homes have reported meaningful improvements in older adults' subjective happiness (Greenawalt et al., 2019; Ho et al., 2014), life satisfaction (Mayordomo et al., 2016; Sutipan et al., 2017), and psychological well-being (Friedman et al., 2017; Ramirez et al., 2014). However, very few studies aimed at making people feel more positive about their age or aging process (Kotter-Grühn, 2015).

Self-perception is distinct from well-being, although they are often associated together (Diehl & Wahl, 2010; Pinquart, 1998). Self-perception is more related to a cognitive evaluation of one's self and life rather than a positive evaluation of one's life associated with positive feelings (Rosenberg, 1979). Promoting positive SPA was shown to be important for psychological and physical health. From about 65 years old, people tend to show age-related increases in perceptions of physical and social losses. From 55, people increasingly report fewer perceptions of ongoing development (Diehl et al., 2021). Negative self-perception was linked to poor physical health and functioning outcomes in late life, even when controlling for age, gender, partner status, residential care, number of medical conditions, self-rated health, and psychological well-being (Sargent-Cox et al., 2012). Our results suggest that SPA, a psychological construct indicator of adjustment in late life, is amenable to intervention.

Interventions for improving SPA. Favourable social comparison and psychoeducation have provided promising results in enhancing SPA. For instance, in a study by Stephan et al. (2013), older adults received feedback about their handgrip strength performance. Participants

who were told they had performed better than most of their same-aged peers reported more positive SPA afterward. Similar results were obtained in a cognitive task in which older adults received social comparison feedback (Miche & Wahl, 2013). Participants reported younger subjective age when they were told that accuracy increases with age, and they made fewer mistakes than younger adults. Thus, it appears that making people aware of positive age-related changes and providing favourable social comparison feedback could be a successful strategy to change older adults' SPA.

Providing information about successful aging could also be an avenue to improve people's views of aging. For example, Wolff et al. (2014) assigned older adults to a physical activity intervention, an active control condition (volunteering), or a physical activity intervention supplemented by a psychoeducation component. This teaching part included providing information about positive aging, correcting misconceptions about aging, and the benefit of having more positive views of aging. Participants also learned how to identify automatic thoughts on aging and replace them with neutral or positive ones. Participants from this group reported improved SPA, including satisfaction with aging and confidence. It appears that the psychoeducation piece made a difference in making SPA more positive.

Our interventions worked at changing SPA implicitly through training contradicting with typical NAS. These training were meant to have older adults transform their opinion about how they can still grow physically and cognitively. The benefit of psychoeducation suggests that changing long-lasting beliefs about aging may require more concrete interventions and valid information about this developmental stage, including specific knowledge, skills, and attitudes (Songer & Breitkreuz, 2014). Once combined with an experiential intervention, such as exercise, this intervention could address cognitive and emotional barriers to better aging. There is a saying that "Experience is better than a ton of theory because it is only in experience that any theory has vital and verifiable experience" (Dewey, 1916-1995, in Bringle & Hatcher, 1999). Older adults need opportunities to be informed and experience the inaccuracy of NAS. The opportunity to directly observe and feel one's knowledge probably contributes to the benefits of intergenerational contact interventions, in addition to offering the experience of relating and connecting meaningfully between intergroup. Such context allows individuals to be seen and understood beyond this compartimentalized box called age that we all seem to flip into overnight.

Limitation. Participants were healthy and independent individuals committed to travelling to the laboratory and exercising physically and cognitively. This population does not reflect the specific population referred for cognitive assessment in the mental health sector. NAS endorsement and SPA may likely differ individually with health state and daily functioning abilities. Some individuals may perceive their symptoms as confirming NAS and their expectations of decrement in older age. Consequently, future studies in the field could be interested in studying the impact of NAS and SPA on various individuals. Normal aging does not mean the absence of all symptoms or conditions. Since it is recognized that aging can differ individually, it is essential to know if people engaged in these various trajectories can improve their SPA and change their NAS, nevertheless. Another limitation relates to state anxiety in session. There was no measure included in the battery. Anxiety is known to interfere with cognitive performance. The interpretation of the relationship between performance and NAS could have been more robust by including this measure at the end of the assessment. Finally,
adding a control group in the intervention design could have helped to evaluate the benefit of engaging in a cognitive training program.

Conclusion

Aging positively was shown to be related to healthy aging, physical fitness, and cognition (Bar-Tur, 2021). At any age, even in the very old years, people are, to some extent, responsible for their quality of life (Hill, 2005). Older adults can maintain and optimize their aging experience by implementing preventive health behaviours and engaging in resources available to them to adjust to age-related changes (Bar-Tur & Malkinson, 2014). Unfortunately, socially shared beliefs about aging interfere with older adults' willingness and capacity to take on that responsibility. Until cultural or societal values such as political regulations recognize systemic ageism, and until organizations' and other social entities' policies are proven fair for all, there will be no authentic right to aging in our societies. And yet, like any stage of human development, individuals face phases of adjustments linked to developmental tasks to complete, promoting growth and the continuity of life. The field of psychology detains an opportunity to develop interventions supporting this developmental process, despite this current social context.

Reference

Abrams, D., Crisp, R. J., Marques, S., Fagg, E., Bedford, L., & Provias, D. (2008). Threat

inoculation: Experienced and imagined intergenerational contact prevents stereotype

threat effects on older people's math performance. Psychology and Aging, 23, 934-939.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0014293

- Armstrong, B., Gallant, S.N., Li, L., Patel, K., & Wong, B.I. (2017). Stereotype threat effects on older adult's episodic and working memory: A meta-analysis. *The Gerontologist*. 57 (suppl_2), S193-S205. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx170
- Aronson, J., Fried, C.B., & Good, C. (2002). Reducing the effects of stereotype threat on African
 American college students by shaping theories of intelligence. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.
 38(2), 113–25
- Bar-Tur, L. (2021). Fostering well-being in the elderly: Translating theories on positive aging to practical approaches. *Frontiers in medicine*, *8*, 517226. DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2021.517226

- Bar-Tur, L., & Malkinson, R. (2014). Positive aging: from negative to positive models on aging.
 In: Pachana NA, Laidlaw DK, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Clinical
 Geropsychology. London: Oxford Press p. 927–48.
- Barber, S. J., & Mather, M. (2014). Stereotype threat in older adults: When and why does it occur, and who is most affected? In P. Verhaeghen & C. Hertzog (Eds.), The Oxford Handbook of emotion, social cognition, and problem-solving during adulthood (pp. 302–320). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Bouazzaoui, B., Follenfant, A., Ric, F., Fay, S., Croizet, J., Atzeni, T., & Taconnat, L. (2015).
 Ageing related stereotypes in memory: When the beliefs come true. *Memory*, 24, 659–668. doi:10.1080/09658211.2015.1040802
- Brothers, A., & Diehl, M. (2017). Feasibility and efficacy of the Aging Plus program: Changing views on ageing to increase physical activity. *Journal of Ageing and Physical Activity*, 25(3), 402-411. https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2016-0039
- Bringle, R. G., & Hatcher, J.A. (1999). Reflection in service learning: Making meaning of experience. *Evaluation/reflection*, 23. https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/slceeval/23
- Chandler, M. J., Parks, A. C., Marsiske, M., Rotblatt, L. J., & Smith, G. E. (2016). Everyday impact of cognitive interventions in mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology Review*, 26(3), 225–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-016-9330-4

- Chasteen, A. L., Bhattacharyya, S., Horhota, M., Tam, R., & Hasher, L. (2005). How feelings of stereotype threat influence older adults' memory performance. *Experimental Aging Research*, 31, 235–260. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03610730590948177
- Coudin, G., & Alexopoulos, T. (2010). "Help me! I'm old! » How negative aging stereotypes create dependency among older adults. *Aging mental health*, *14* (5), 516-523. DOI: 10.1080/13607861003713182.
- Dang, Q., Wu, J., Bai, R., & Zhang, B. (2021). Self-affirming training can relieve negative emotions by improving self-integrity among older adults. *Current psychology*. https//doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02201-9
- Dardiotis, E., Nousia, A., Siokas, V., Tsouris, Z., Andravizou, A., Mentis, A. F.A., Florou, D., Messinis, L., & Nasios, G. (2018). Efficacy of computer-based cognitive training in neuropsychological performance of patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 20, 58–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2017.12.017
- Desrichard, O., & Köpetz, C. (2005). A threat in the elder: The impact of task-instructions, selfefficacy and performance expectations on memory performance in the elderly. *European Journal of Social Psychology, 35*, 537–552. doi:10.1002/ejsp.249
- Dickerson, S.S., & Kemeny, M.E. (2004). Acute stressors and cortisol responses: a theoretical integration and synthesis of laboratory research. *Psychol. Bull. 130*, 355-391.

- Diehl, M., & Wahl, H.-W. (2010). Awareness of age-related change: Examination of a (mostly) unexplored concept. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 65B*, 340-350. http://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbp110
- Diehl, M., Wettstein, M., Spuling, S.M., & Wurm, S. (2021). Age-related change in selfperception of aging: Longitudinal trajectories and predictors of change. *Psychology and Aging*, 36(3), 344–359. https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000585
- Draper, P. (2005). Patronizing speech to older patients: A literature review. *Reviews in clinical gerontology*, *15* (3-4), 273-279. Doi: 1017/S0959259806001869
- Drury, B.J., Siy, J.O., & Cheryan, S. (2011). When do female role models benefit women? The importance of differentiating recruitment from retention in STEM. *Psychol. Inq.* 22(4):265–69
- Fernández-Ballesteros, R., Bustillos, A., & Huici, C. (2015). Positive perception of aging and performance in a memory task: compensating for stereotype threat? *Experimental Aging Research*, 41(4), 410–425. doi:10.1080/0361073X.2015.1053757
- Follenfant, A., & Atzeni, T. (2020). True performance: reducing stereotype threat effect in older adults' clinical assessment of memory. *Aging, Neuropsychology and Cognition, 27* (6), 935 948. DOI: 10.1080/13825585.2019.1703893.

- Friedman, E.M., Ruini, C., Foy, R., Jaros, L., Sampson, H., & Ryff, C.D. (2017). Lighten UP! A community-based group intervention to promote psychological well-being in older adults. *Aging Ment Health, 2*, 199–205. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2015.1093605
- Fritzsche, B. A., DeRouin, R. E., & Salas, E. (2009). The effects of stereotype threat and pacing on older adults' learning outcomes. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 39, 2737– 2755. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2009.00546.x
- Goghari, V.M., & Lawlor-Savage, L. (2018). Self-perceived benefits of cognitive training in healthy older adults. *Frontier in Aging Neuroscience*, 10 (112). Doi:103389/fnagi.2018.00112
- Good, C., Aronson, J., & Harder, J. A. (2008). Problems in the pipeline: stereotype threat and women's achievement in high-level math courses. *J. Appl. Dev. Psychol.* 29(1):17–28
- Greenawalt, K.E., Orsega-Smith, K., Turner, J.L., Goodwin, S., & Rathie, E.R. (2019). The impact of "The Art of Happiness" class on community dwelling older adults: a positive psychology intervention. *Act Adapt Aging*, 43, 118–32. DOI: 10.1080/01924788.2018.1493898
- Hausdorff, J.M., Levy, B.R., & Wei, J.Y. (1999). The power of ageism on physical function of older persons: Reversibility of age-related gait changes. *Journal of the American geriatrics society*, 47 (11), 1346-1349. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1999.tb07437.x

- Hehman, J. A., & Bugental, D. B. (2013). "Life stage-specific" variations in performance in response to age stereotypes. *Developmental Psychology*, 49, 1396–1406. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0029559
- Henry, J.D., Cowan, D.G., Lee, T., & Sachdev, P.S. (2015). Recent trends in testing social cognition. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry 28*(2):133–140 DOI 10.1097/yco.00000000000139.
- Hess, T. M., & Hinson, J. T. (2006). Age-related variation in the influences of aging stereotypes on memory in adulthood. *Psychology and Aging*, *21*(3), 621–625. doi:10.1037/0882 7974.21.3.621
- Hess, T. M., Hinson, J. T., & Hodges, E. A. (2009). Moderators of and mechanisms underlying stereotype threat effects on older adults' memory performance. *Experimental Aging Research*, 35(2), 153–177. doi:10.1080/03610730802716413
- Hill, R.D. (2005). Positive Aging: A Guide for Mental Health Professionals Consumers. New York, NY: W.W. Norton.
- Ho, H.C.Y., Yeung, D.Y., & Kwok, S.Y.C.L. (2014). Development and evaluation of the positive psychology intervention for older adults. *J Pos Psychol.*, *9*, 187–97. DOI:10.1080/17439760.2014.888577
- Horton, S., Baker, J., Pearce, W., & Deakin, J. M. (2008). On the malleability of performance: Implications for seniors. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 27, 446–465. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0733464808315291

- Horton, S., Baker, J., Pearce, W., & Deakin, J. M. (2010). Immunity to Popular Stereotypes of Aging? Seniors and Stereotype Threat, *Educational Gerontology*, *36* (5), 353-371. DOI: 10.1080/03601270903323976
- Joanisse, M., Gagnon, S., & Voloaca, M. (2013). The impact of stereotype threat on the simulated driving performance of older drivers. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 50, 530–538. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap .2012.05.032
- Johns, M., Schmader, T., & Martens, A. (2005). Knowing is half the battle: Teaching stereotype threat as a means of improving women's math performance. *Psychol. Sci.* 16(3), 175–79
- Johns, M., Inzlicht, M., & Schmader, T. (2008). Stereotype threat and executive resource depletion: examining the influence of emotion regulation. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 137(4), 691–705
- Kang, S. K., & Chasteen, A. L. (2009). The moderating role of age-group identification and perceived threat on stereotype threat among older adults. *The International Journal of Aging & Human Development, 69*, 201–220. http://dx.doi.org/10.2190/AG.69.3.c
- Klimova, B. (2016). Computer-based cognitive training in aging. *Front neurosci.*, 20, https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00313
- Klusmann, V., Evers, A., Schwarzer, R., & Heuser, I. (2012). Views on ageing and emotional benefits of physical activity: Effects of an exercise intervention in older women.

Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 13(2), 236-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.11.001

- Kotter-Grühn, D. (2015). Changing negative views of aging: Implications for interventions and translational research. *Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics*. DOI: 10.1891/01980-8794.35.167
- Kray, L.J., Galinsky, A.D., & Thompson, L. (2002). Reversing the gender gap in negotiations: an exploration of stereotype regeneration. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 87(2), 386–409
- Lamont, R. A. (2011). Stereotype threat and physical performance among the elderly: Exploration of mechanisms and after-effects. Unpublished master's dissertation.
- Lamont, R. A., Swift, H. J., & Abrams, D. (2015). A review and meta-analysis of age-based stereotype threat: Negative stereotypes, not facts, do the damage. *Psychology and Aging*, 30, 180–193. doi:10.1037/a0038586

Leung, I. H., Walton, C. C., Hallock, H., Lewis, S. J., Valenzuela, M., & Lampit, A. (2015).
Cognitive training in parkinson disease: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neurology*, 85(21), 1843–1851.
https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000002145

- Llewellyn, D.J., Lang, I.A., Langa, K.M., & Huppert, F.A. (2008). Cognitive function and psychological well-being: findings from a population-based cohort. *Age and Ageing* 37:685–689 DOI 10.1093/ageing/afn194.
- Lupien, S.J., Maheu, F., Tu, M., Fiocco, A., & Schramek, T.E. (2007). The effects of stress and stress hormones on human cognition: implications for the field of brain and cognition. *Brain Cogn.* 65, 209–237.
- Mason, J.W. (1968). A review of psychoendocrine research on the pituitary-adrenal cortical system. *Psychosom. Med. 30 (Suppl.)*, 576-607.
- Mazerolle, M., Régner, I., Barber, S.J., Paccalin, M., Miazola, A., & Huguet, P., & Rigalleau, F. (2016). Negative aging stereotypes impair performance on brief cognitive tests used to screen for predementia. *The journal of gerontology, series B, 72* (6), 932-936. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw083
- Mayordomo, T., Viguer, P., Sales, A., Satorres, E., & Meléndez, J.C. (2016). Resilience and coping as predictors of well-being in adults. *J Psychol.*, 150, 809–21. DOI: 10.1080/00223980.2016.1203276
- McGlone, M.S., Aronson, J., & Kobrynowicz, D. (2006). Stereotype threat and the gender gap in political knowledge. *Psychol. Women Q. 30*(4):392–8
- Miche, M., & Wahl, H. W. (2013). "It's because of my age": The influence of experimentally increased salience of age-related changes in cognitive functioning on self-perceptions of

aging. Poster presented at the 66th Annual Scientific Meeting of the Gerontological Society of America, New Orleans, LA.

- Nelson, T. D. (2002). Ageism: Stereotyping and prejudice against older persons. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Pennington, C. R., Heim, D., Levy, A. R., & Larkin, D. T. (2016). Twenty years of stereotype threat research: A review of psychological mediators. *PLoS One, 11*, e0146487. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0146487
- Pinquart, M. (1998). Das Selbstkonzept im Seniorenalter [Self-concept in old age]. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz.
- Popham, L. E., & Hess, T. M. (2013). Age differences in the underlying mechanisms of stereotype threat effects. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B Psychological Sciences* and Social Sciences, Advance online publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbt093
- Popham, L. E., & Hess, T. M. (2015). Age differences in the underlying mechanisms of stereotype threat effects. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences* and Social Sciences, 70(2), 225–234. doi:10.1093/geronb/gbt093
- Ramírez, E., Ortega, A.R., Chamorro, A., & Colmenero, J.M. (2014). A program of positive intervention in the elderly: memories, gratitude and forgiveness. *Aging Ment Health*, 18, 463–70. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2013.856858

Rosenberg, M. (1979). Conceiving the self. New York: Basic Books

- Rosenthal, H.E.S., & Crisp, RJ. (2006). Reducing stereotype threat by blurring intergroup boundaries. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 32(4), 501–11
- Rosenthal, H.E.S., & Crisp, R.J., & Suen, M.W. (2007). Improving performance expectancies in stereotypic domains: task relevance and the reduction of stereotype threat. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 37(3), 586–97
- Sachdev P.S., Lipnicki D.M., Crawford J., Reppermund S., Kochan N.A., Trollor, J.N., Wen,
 W., Draper, B., Slavin, M.J., Kang, K., Lux, O., Mather, K.A., Brodaty, H & Sydney
 Memory, Ageing Study Team. (2013). Factors predicting reversion from mild cognitive
 impairment to normal cognitive functioning: a population-based study. *PloS One, 8*,
 e59649. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0059649
- Sargent-Cox, K. A., Anstey, K. J., & Luszcz, M. A. (2012). The relationship between change in self-perceptions of aging and physical functioning in older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 27(3), 750–760. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027578
- Shaffer, E.S., Marx, D.M., & Prislin, R. (2013). Mind the gap: Framing of women's success and representation in STEM affects women's math performance under threat. *Sex Roles* 68(7– 8):454–63
- Sherman, D.K., Hartson, K.A., Binning, K.R., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Garcia, J., Taborsky-Barba...Cohen, G.L. (2013). Deflecting the trajectory and changing the narrative: how self-affirmation affects academic performance and motivation under identity threat. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 104(4):591–618

- Schmader, T., Johns, M., & Forbes, C. (2008). An integrated process model of stereotype threat effects on performance. *Psychol Rev. 115* (2), 336-356. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.115.2.336
- Sindi, S., Fiocco, A.J., Juster, R-P., Pruessner, J. & Lupien, S.J. (2013). When we test, do we stress? Impact of the testing environment on cortisol secretion and memory performance in older adults. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38 (8), 1388-1396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.004
- Songer, A. D., & Breitkreuz, K. R. (2014). Interdisciplinary, collaborative international service learning: Developing engineering students as global citizens. *International Journal for Service Learning in Engineering, Humanitarian Engineering and Social Entrepreneurship, 9*(2), 157–170.
- Spencer, S.J., Logel, C., & Davies, P.G. (2016). Stereotype threat. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 67, 415-437. 10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235
- Steele, C.M. (1988). The psychology of self-affirmation: sustaining the integrity of the self. *Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 21*, 261–302
- Steele, C.M. (1997). A threat in the air: how stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *Am. Psychol.* 52(6):613–29
- Steele, C.M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 69(5):797–811

- Stephan, Y., Chalabaev, A., Kotter-Grühn, D., & Jaconelli, A. (2013). "Feeling Younger, Being Stronger": An Experimental Study of Subjective Age and Physical Functioning Among Older Adults, *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 68 (1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs037
- Sutipan, P., Intarakamhang, U., & Macaskil, I A. (2017). The impact of positive psychological interventions on well-being in healthy elderly people. *J Happiness Stud.* 18, 269–91.
 DOI: 10.1007/s10902-015-9711-z
- Swift, H. J., Abrams, D., & Marques, S. (2013). Threat or boost? Social comparison affects older people's performance differently depending on task domain. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 68,* 23–30. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs044
- Swift, H. J., Lamont, R. A., & Abrams, D. (2012). Are they half as strong as they used to be? An experiment testing whether age-related social comparisons impair older people's hand grip strength and persistence. *British Medical Journal Open, 2,* 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001064
- van Balkom, T.D., van den Heuvel, O.A., Berendse, H.W., van der Werf, Y.D., & Vriend, C.
 (2020). The Effects of Cognitive Training on Brain Network Activity and Connectivity in Aging and Neurodegenerative Diseases: a Systematic Review. *Neuropsychol Rev 30*, 267–286. Doi. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-020-09440-w

- Walton, G.M., & Cohen, G.L. (2007). A question of belonging: race, social fit, and achievement. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 92(1), 82–96
- Walton, G.M., Logel, C., Peach, J.M., Spencer, S.J., & Zanna, M.P. (2014). Two brief interventions to mitigate a "chilly climate" transform women's experience, relationships, and achievement in engineering. J. Educ. Psychol. 107(2):468–85
- Wolff, J.K., Warner, L.M., Ziegelmann, J.P., & Wurm, S. (2014) What do targeting positive views on ageing add to a physical activity intervention in older adults? Results from a randomised controlled trial, *Psychology & Health, 29* (8), 915-932, DOI: 10.1080/08870446.2014.896464
- World Health Organization (2011). *Mental health: a state of well-being*. http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental_health/en/

Table 1. Baseline correlations for paper 1: Investigating the effects of negative age stereotypes on older adults' cognitive performance

							CUITORN	6110								
			number of	Sum all	Score of the test - into the electronic folder from the computer, "expressiond"		-	Sum all	MoCA with	MoCA Memory	BVMT Total 3 trials score;	BVMT	MMSE Total	W4 Similarities	W4 DS Total score (forward +	W4 DSST Total score
		Age in years; en années	years for education	nems; nigner, do agism	; rrom -1 to 1, 0 neutral	Average items 1+2+4+6+7	Average items 3+5+8+9+10	rtems; nigner, better	education (max : 30)	subscore (max:5)	add TrialS 1+2+3	Delayed recall score	score (max = 30)	total score (max: 36)	packward) (max : 32)	supstitution (max:135)
Age in years; en années	Corrélation de Pearson	-	103 203	.136	-107	.050	.132	-113	.042	.073 125	229	244	209	157	-:012	226
	olg. (bilaterale) N	117	117	117	86	117	oci. 117	117	100.	117	117	117	117	117	.300	117
number of years for	Corrélation de Pearson	.037	-	.008	037	-001	.036	600	820	.144	H.	208	.165	.524	.157	.125
education	Sig. (bilatérale)	.692		.933	.716	385	669	924	.405	.122	233	.025	370.	000	060.	179
	Z	11/	11/	. 117	86	11/	11/	11/	11/	11/	11/	111	11/	11/	11/	11/
Sum all items; higher, do agism	Corrélation de Pearson Sin /hilatérale/	.136 145	.008	~	036	015	154	094	130	187	190	219	045	133	790	280
	N	117	117	117	86	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
Score of the test - into the	Corrélation de Pearson	-107	037	.036	-	-:063	047	048	209	231	166	-:076	-114	-:053	064	055
electronic folder from the computer, "expressiond";	Sig. (bilatérale)	.296	.716	.724		.536	.648	.639	039	.022	.103	.455	.265	.602	.528	.593
from -1 to 1, 0 neutral	z	98	86	86	98	86	98	98	86	98	86	86	86	86	86	86
Average items	Corrélation de Pearson	.050	-:001	-:015	063	-	.339	-110	120.	.012	.115	.056	.038	-:005	080	.072
1=2=4=0=1	Sig. (bilatérale) M	.595	.995	.873	.536	117	.000	.239	.444	.902	218	.550	.681	.957	.389	438
Average items	Corrélation de Pearson	137	036	- 154	- 047	339	-	051	122	172	116	028	016	- 036	068	213
3+5+8+9+10	Sig. (bilatérale)	.156	669	260.	.648	000		.585	.189	.063	.214	.766	867	669	.465	.021
	z	117	117	117	96	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
Sum all items; higher,	Corrélation de Pearson	113	600:	094	048	110	.051	-	138	025	160	116	-075	-:035	138	148
nellel	Sig. (bilatérale)	.226	924	.311	.639	239	585		.139	790	980.	.212	422	207.	137	110
	z	117	117	117	88	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
MoCA with education (max: 30)	Corrélation de Pearson	.042	910	130	209	120.	.122	-138	-	.701	.393 000	357	196	.255	326	222
	oly. (vilaterate) N	100.	117	117	86 86	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	+cu: 117	CUU. 711	117	117
MoCA Memory subscore	Corrélation de Pearson	.073	.144	187	-231	.012	.172	025		+	.258	.237	.035	250.	.051	.224
(max : 5)	Sig. (bilatérale)	.435	.122	.044	.022	.902	.063	790	000		300.	.010	.710	.545	.583	.015
	z	117	117	117	96	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
BVMT Total 3 trials score; add trials 1+2+3	Corrélation de Pearson	- 229	E a	-190	166	.115	.116	160	393	.258	-	008	.423	301	.126	.236
	olg. (bilaterale) N	117	117	.u4u 117	50 I. 86	117	-214	COU. 211		cuu. 711	117	117	117	117	711	117
BVMT Delayed recall	Corrélation de Pearson	244	.208	219	-076	.056	.028	-116	.357	.237		~	.349	.299	260.	.313
score	Sig. (bilatérale)	008	.025	.017	.455	.550	.766	212	000	.010	000		000	100.	.296	001
	Z	117	117	117	98	117	117	117	117	117	117	111	117	117	117	117
MMSE otal score (max = 30)	Corrélation de Pearson	209	.165	045	-114	.038	.016	-075	.196	.035	.423	.349	-	.333	.225	171.
	oly. (vilaterate) N	117	117	117	86	117	.00/ 117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	510: 711	117
W4 Similarities total	Corrélation de Pearson	-157	.524	060:-	-:053	-:005	-:036	035	.255	.057	.301	.299	.333	-	.378	.166
score (max: 36)	Sig. (bilatérale)	060.	000	.333	.602	196.	669	707.	500.	.545	.001	.001	000		000	.073
	z	117	117	117	98	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
W4 DS Total score	Corrélation de Pearson	012	.157	260:-	064	080	.068	138	.326	.051	.126	260	225	.378	-	.221
(max: 32)	Sig. (bilaterale) N	.900 117	117	.298 117	.528 98	.389	.465 117	13/	117	.583 117	117	117	.015	.000	117	117
W4 DSST Total score	Corrélation de Pearson	-226	.125	280	055	.072	.213	148	222	224	.236	.313	177	.166	.221	-
substitution (max : 135)	Sig. (bilatérale)	.014	179	.002	.593	.438	.021	.110	.016	.015	.010	.001	.057	.073	.017	
	N	117	117	117	98	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117	117
*. La corrélation est signit ** La corrélation est signi	ficative au niveau 0.05 (bila ficative au niveau 0.01 (bils	téral). Hárali														

Supplementary Material

Sum all items;higher,better=Attitudes towards own aging scale; Sum all items; higher ageism= Fraboni scale of ageism; Score of the test expression d=Implicit association test; MoCA= Montreal cognitive assessment; MMSE= Mini-mental state examination; BVMTR= Brief visuospatial memory test revised; DS total score= Digit span; DSST= Coding Table 2. Baseline correlations for paper 2: Exercising your perception of aging: Effects of physical and cognitive training on older adults' perception of their own aging

										Corrélations					-						
		AnthropoAge_	Education_Pr e	GDS Pre	FraboniTotal_ Pre	ATATotal Pre	OwnAgingTot 1 al Pre	lotivPhysValu es Pre	MotivPhysCo mpetency_Pr e	MotivPhysTota I Pre	MoCAStd Pre	AoCAMemory E	MTTotal3_ E	MMTDelayed	SVMTRHITS_	MSE Pre	4Similaritie V s Pre	N4DigitSpan Total Pre V	N4DSST Pre	/o2max_ml. min. kgRel Pre	ECWnet2. 5kJ Pre
AnthropoAge_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	÷	083	6201-	.106	.014	.081	.073	.032	.062	300.	860.	349	-339	092	384	165	860'-	248	325	.205
	Sig. (bilatérale)	54	.524	579 54	.417	.916	.535	.576	.806	.636	026	.454	.006	700. Fa	.483	.002 64	.208	.456	.056	110.	.113
Education Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	083	-	018	.085	-138	064	.116	.152	.150	.120	264	.151	307	029	.126	496	.129	140	238	.127
1	Sig. (bilatérale)	524		.892	513	303	.627	373	244	.250	.361	040	246	.016	.825	332	000	.326	287	.064	.328
GDS Pre	N Corrélation de Pearson	- 073	- 018	10	104	- 017	-429	19	-151 -	520-	ng 083	L9 -	19	19	19	- 088	130	09 019	014	61	192
	Sig. (bilatérale)	579	.892		.423	006	001	.840	247	.565	481	944	.619	.662	.872	499	321	549	917	.691	.139
Postson/Total Day	N Condition do Booneou	61	61 00F	61	6	58	61	69	19	61	99	10	61 460	19 12	5	61	99	60	9	61	61
Frabonil otal_Pre	Correlation de Pearson Sin (hilatérale)	417	.085	473	_	789	061	495	7161	575	380	701	-,168	171	-,114 380	-00/-	C60.	-116	-,182	311	-012
	N	61	. 19	19	61	28	.040 19	61	19		60	61	. 19 61	- 19		-91 61	09	09	to 09	19	
IATATotal_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	.014	138	017	036	-	142	020-	860	-076	-:156	239	-:159	087	.053	049	-:093	061	198	.027	021
	olg. (pitaterale) N	289	585	- ann	./89	58	-182 58	2002	.404 58	8g	- 40		583	61c. 85	58	-/10	-98	- CO.	-13/	58	
OwnAgingTotal_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	081	064	429	061	-:142	-	020	.263	.167	-109	200.	-212	150	072	-100	-:057	-111-	-272	-:059	-159
	Sig. (bilaterale) N	61	.62/ 61	1001	.640	58/	61	. 590 61	.041	198	60 4.08	606. 61	.102	248	.580 61	61	699. 699	.400	650. 60	19 19	-221 61
MotivPhysValues_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	.073	.116	026	-089	020'-	020	-	.699.	.006	.109	.222	.029	.082	.061	059	-211	260'-	.218	.094	080
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.576 61	.373	.840	.495	.602 F0	.590	8	000	000	408	-980 580	.823 61	.532	.640 61	.649 61	.106	.461 60	.095 60	.469	.539
MotivPhysCompetency_Pr	Corrélation de Pearson	.032	.152	-151	.161	of 860:-	.263	699	5 -	916	oo 600:-	.166	690:-	073	-:043	030	-131	002	190	.264	-272
Ð	Sig. (bilatérale)	.806	.244	.247	.216	464	.041	000		000	770	.201	665.	.576	.741	.821	.320	786.	.146	.040	.034
6 	2 2 2	61	61	61	61	58	61	61	61	61	09	61	61	61	61	61	99	09	60	61	61
MotivPhysTotal_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson sin (hilatérala)	.062 636	.150	-075	575	-076	167	006	.916	~	013	.193	-031	013	.022 966	050	-181	063	.215	197	195
	N	61	61	19	610	28	- 19	61	61	61	09	19	61	19	61	61	09	09	09	19	61
MoCAStd_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	900	.120	660.	115	156	-109	.109	-039	.013	-	.723	389	.336	200	.045	349	.285	.139	.061	-095
	Sig. (bilaterale) N	0/6	.361	.481	.380	246	.408	408	0//7	628	90	000	002	600 [.]	/ G.F.	./33	100.	.028	293	640	.4/1
MoCAMemory_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	860.	.264	600'-	157	239	200.	.222	.166	.193	.723	-	.339	.302	.056	083	.176	910.	.293	068	213
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.454	.040	.944	.228	070.	.955	.085	.201	.135	000	2	800:	.018	.666	.525	.178	.554	.023	.602	660.
BVMTTotal3 Pre	N Corrélation de Pearson	-349	.151	1065	-168	-159	212	1029	10	-031	- 68E	339	-	.762	.312	.384	.402	131	.140	029	-063
)	Sig. (bilatérale)	900	.246	.619	.196	233	.102	823	599	810	.002	800.		000	.014	.002	.001	317	.287	.651	629
	z	61	61	61	61	28	61	61	61	61	99	61	61	61	61	61	99	99	99	61	61
BVM I Delayed Recall_Pre	Correlation de Pearson Sig. (bilatérale)	- 339	.30/	105/	1/1/-	-08/	-150	532	- 0/3	-013	9600	.302	.000	-	293	301	.383	.090	1231	.062	400
	z	61	61	61	61	58	61	61	61	61	60	61	61	61	61	61	60	60	60	61	61
BVMTRHITS_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	092	.029	.021	114	.053	072	.061	043	.022	200.	.056	.312	.293	-	.269	660.	023	.030	295	319
	olg. (pitaterale) N	61	19	19	- ³⁶⁰	-080 58	19 19	.04U 61	. 61	.800 19	09 /GR	.000 61	- 114 61	-270. 61	61	- UJO 61	10 9	608. 60	09 778	1707	.012 61
MMSE_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	384	.126	880'-	-007	049	-100	-059	030	-:050	.045	083	.384	.301	269	-	.253	.174	.170	.139	103
	olg. (bildterale) N	19	797 19	19 19		58	61	640	170	.033 61	60	67C	-700 19	61 19	- 19 61	61	109	+01. 60	+ 09	19	174-
W4Similarities_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	-165	.496	.130	960	600'-	-057	-211	-131	-,181	.349	176	402	.383	660	.253	-	.310	060	.073	660.
	Sig. (bilaterale) N	802.	000. 90	60	.4/1	488	699. UB	.106 60	.320	16/	200	8/1/	001	.003	.451 60	160.	60	.016 60	.493	080	.4/8
W4DigitSpanTotal_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	098	.129	620.	-,116	061	-111	260'-	002	063	.285	820.	.131	060	023	.174	.310	-	:221	.157	020
	Sig. (bilatérale) M	.456	.326	.549 60	.377 60	.651 6.0	.400	.461 60	789. 780	.630	.028 69	.554 60	.317 60	.496 60	.864 60	.184 60	.016 60	Ug	080 [.]	.232 60	.882
W4DSST_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	248	.140	.014	-182	-198	-272	218	.190	.215	.139	.293	.140	.231	030	.170	060:	.221	; -	.195	-173
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.056	.287	.917	.164	.137	.035	.095 20	.146	860.	.293	.023	.287	.076	.822	194	.493	680.	0	.136	.185
Vo2max mLmin.	Corrélation de Pearson	- 325	238	00	132	260	00 -	760	264	197	50 F90	- 068	020	00	- 796	139	00	157	195	0	- 070
kgRel_Pre	Sig. (bilatérale)	011	.064	1691	311	842	.654	469	.040	129	645	602	.651	.636	021	287	280	232	.136		283
PONICIAL PLATER	Z	61	61	61	61	28	61	61	61	61	60 201	61	61	61 00r	61	61	09	09	99	61	61
ECWNet2.5KJ_Pre	Correlation de Pearson Sig. (bilatérale)	113	.328	.139	012	778.	-159	080	272	-195 131	c60:-	-213	063	c00.	319	103	.478	020	-11/3	-10/0	-
	z	61	61	61	61	58	61	61	61	61	60	61	61	61	61	61	60	60	60	61	61

*. La corrélation est significative au niveau 0.01 (bilatéral).
*. La corrélation est significative au niveau 0.05 (bilatéral).

GDS= Geriatric depression scale; Own aging total=Attitudes towards own aging scale; Fraboni= Fraboni scale of ageism; IATAT=Implicit association test; MoCA= Montreal cognitive assessment; MMSE= Mini-mental state examination; BVMTR= Brief visuospatial memory test revised; DSST= Coding; ECW= Energy cost of walking; Vo2max_ml.min.kgRel.Pre=Vo2Peak

						Corrélations						l	
		AnthropoAge_ Pre	Education_Pr e	Change_FSA	OA_change	Change_IAT	Change_Valu e_Phys	Change_Com petency_Phys	Change_Motiv ation_Phys	MoCA_chang e	BVMTR_chan ge	ECW_change	Vo2peak_resi duals
AnthropoAge_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	-	083	.317	.115	.061	.104	.081	.049	093	064	.116	102
	Sig. (bilatérale)		.524	.013	.376	.658	.434	.542	.710	.484	.629	.378	.433
	z	61	61	61	61	56	59	59	59	59	60	60	61
Education_Pre	Corrélation de Pearson	083	-	176	.131	214	.105	.239	177.	.249	.140	.289	.035
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.524		.174	.315	.112	.426	.068	.180	.057	.286	.025	.789
	z	61	61	61	61	56	59	59	59	59	60	60	61
Change_FSA	Corrélation de Pearson	.317	176	-	013	.126	082	038	080	036	163	148	203
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.013	.174		.920	.357	.538	.775	.545	.785	.215	.261	.117
	z	61	61	61	61	56	59	59	59	59	60	60	61
DA_change	Corrélation de Pearson	.115	.131	013	-	036	.381	980.	.316	.040	.203	191	010
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.376	.315	.920		.791	.003	.523	.015	.763	.121	.143	.942
	z	61	61	61	61	56	59	59	59	59	60	60	61
Change_IAT	Corrélation de Pearson	.061	214	.126	036	1	.032	194	127	086	.047	.059	.054
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.658	.112	.357	791		.816	.161	.362	.531	.728	.665	.695
	z	56	56	56	56	56	54	54	54	55	56	56	56
Change_Value_Phys	Corrélation de Pearson	.104	.105	082	.381	.032	-	.222		015	.066	600.	.011
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.434	.426	.538	.003	.816		000	000	.912	.621	.948	.934
	z	59	59	59	59	54	59	59	59	57	58	58	59
Change_Competency_Ph	Corrélation de Pearson	.081	.239	038	.085	194	.557**	-	.838	.113	089	.044	.027
/s	Sig. (bilatérale)	.542	.068	.775	.523	.161	000		000	.402	.507	.745	.840
	z	59	59	59	59	54	59	59	59	57	58	58	59
Change_Motivation_Phys	Corrélation de Pearson	.049	.177	080	.316	127		.838	-	.033	.020	.059	.062
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.710	.180	.545	.015	.362	000	000		807	.881	.662	.640
	z	59	59	59	59	54	59	59	59	57	58	58	59
MoCA_change	Corrélation de Pearson	-:093	.249	036	.040	086	015	.113	.033	-	.206	.010	128
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.484	.057	.785	.763	.531	.912	.402	807.		.117	.940	.336
	z	59	59	59	59	55	57	57	57	59	59	59	59
3VMTR_change	Corrélation de Pearson	064	.140	163	.203	.047	.066	680'-	.020	.206	L .	060	.206
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.629	.286	.215	.121	.728	.621	.507	.881	.117		496	.115
	Z	60	60	60	60	56	58	58	58	59	60	60	60
ECW_change	Corrélation de Pearson	.116	.289	148	191	.059	600	.044	.059	.010	060'	1	.229
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.378	.025	.261	.143	.665	.948	.745	.662	.940	.496		.078
	Z	60	60	60	60	56	58	58	58	59	60	60	60
vo2peak_residuals	Corrélation de Pearson	102	350.	203	010	.054	.011	.027	.062	128	.206	.229	-
	Sig. (bilatérale)	.433	.789	.117	.942	.695	.934	.840	.640	.336	.115	.078	
	N	61	61	61	61	56	59	59	59	59	60	60	61
*. La corrélation est sign **. La corrélation est sign	hificative au niveau 0.05 (bila nificative au niveau 0.01 (bil	atéral). latéral).											

Table 3. Change scores correlations for paper 2: Exercising your perception of aging: Effects

of physical and cognitive training on older adults' perception of their own aging

OA=Attitudes towards own aging scale; FSA= Fraboni scale of ageism; IAT=Implicit association test; MoCA= Montreal cognitive assessment; BVMTR= Brief visuospatial memory test revised; ECW= Energy cost of walking

116

Figure 1. Scatterplots with main predictors

Fraboni Scale of Ageism (Y) & Attitudes Towards Own Aging (X)



ZFSA (Y) & Implicit Association Test (X)



Score of the test - into the electronic folder from the computer, "expressiond"; from -1 to 1, 0 neutral









ZATOA (Y) & IAT (X)



Score of the test - into the electronic folder from the computer, "expressiond"; from -1 to 1, 0 neutral







ATOA (Y) & Competency Cognition (X)

IAT (Y) & Zvalue Cognition (X)







Value Cognition (Y) & Competency Cognition (X)



Figure 2. Scatterplots for Regressions



Model 1 FSA (Y) predicts Coding (X)







IAT (Y) predicts Zmemory MoCA (X)



123

Paper 2 Exercising your Perception of Aging: Effects of Physical and Cognitive Training on Older Adults' Perception of their Own Aging

Figure 1 Scatterplots baseline measures





Score of the test - into the electronic folder from the computer, "expressiond"; from -1 to 1, 0 neutral

ATOA (Y) & Value Physical (X)



IAT (Y) & Competency Physical (X)



IAT (Y) & Value Physical (X)



Value Physical (Y) & Competency Physical (X)



FSA (Y) & ATOA (X)



FSA (Y) & Value Physical (X)





FSA (Y) & Competency Physical (X)

FSA (Y) & Motivation Physical Total (X)



ATOA (Y) & Competency Physical (X)



ATOA (Y) & Motivation Physical Total (X)



IAT (Y) & Motivation Physical Total (X)



Value Physical (Y) & Motivation Physical Total (X)





Competency Physical (Y) & Motivation Physical Totalm(X)



Figure 2. Scatterplots for Change scores (pre-post intervention)














Figure 3. ANOVAs











